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Objects of the Foundation

The Foundation is established as a non-profit organization to promote sound public financial
management, fiscal responsibility, transparency, and accountability in Nigeria. In furtherance of its

mission, the Foundation shall engage in the following specific objectives:

1. Legal and Policy Advocacy
(a) Advocate for the implementation, enforcement, and review of fiscal laws and financial
governance legislation at all tiers of government in Nigeria, including:

e The Fiscal Responsibility Act and equivalent laws at the Federal, State, and Local
Government levels.

e The Public Finance (Control and Management) Act and corresponding State laws.

¢ The Audit Act, 2009 Financial Regulations, Financial Instructions, Financial Memoranda and
associated regulations at the Federal, State, and Local Government levels.

e The Procurement Act 2007 and corresponding State laws.
¢ Financial Reporting Council Amendment Act 2023

(b) Engage, collaborate, and liaise with key legal and regulatory stakeholders, including:

¢ The Fiscal Responsibility Commission for the enforcement of relevant fiscal laws.

e The Attorney General of the Federation and State Attorneys General to strengthen legal
frameworks for the enforcement of fiscal responsibility, procurement and audit
compliance.

¢ Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria for the enforcement and implementation of financial
reporting standards.
2. Standards and Framework Promotion
(a) Promote the adoption, adaptation, and implementation of internationally recognized and

nationally approved public financial management standards and reporting frameworks, including:

e The National Chart of Accounts (COA) in accordance with International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSAS), Cash and Accrual Basis (2012 and subsequent editions), as
approved by the Federation Accounts Allocation Committee (FAAC).

e The prescribed formats for General-Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS), both on Cash
and Accrual Basis (2012 and subsequent editions).
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e Approved templates for IPSAS-compliant budgeting (Cash Basis, 2013 and subsequent
editions).

e The National Treasury Circular dated 13th May 2013, mandating the adoption of IPSAS by
public entities in Nigeria.

3. Training, Advisory, and Capacity Building
(a) Design and deliver structured training and capacity-building programs to enhance the
competencies of public and private sector stakeholders in the areas of:

e Fiscal transparency, accountability, and discipline.
¢ Implementation and compliance with IPSAS and other financial reporting frameworks.
¢ Implementation of the Fiscal Responsibility Act and Laws by all levels of governments.

(b) Provide advisory and technical assistance services to key public sector institutions, including
but not limited to:

¢ The Accountant General of the Federation and States on the development of Annual Cash
Plans, utilization of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System
(GIFMIS), preparation of Audited Financial Statements and Budget Implementation Reports.

e The Honorable Minister of Finance and State Commissioners for Finance on
Ministry/Department/Agency (MDA) Work Plans, Disbursement Schedules, and preparation
of Consolidated Budget Implementation Reports.

¢ The National Assembly and State Houses of Assembly on matters related to Medium-Term
Budgets, Fiscal Strategy Papers, and analysis of Audited Accounts.

e Federal and State Ministry of Budget and National Planning on matters related to National
and State Development Plans, Programmes and Projects Monitoring and Evaluation
4. Fiscal Research and Performance Monitoring
(a) Undertake evidence-based research and analysis on:

e Public sector governance, budget implementation, fiscal strategy, monitoring and
evaluation system (M & E) and performance evaluation across all levels of government.

(b) Monitor and evaluate the quality and timeliness of:

e Preparation and execution of Medium-Term Expenditure Frameworks (MTEFs), Annual and
Supplementary Budgets, Virements and Appropriation Laws.

¢ Development and dissemination of Annual Cash Plans, Disbursement Schedules, and
Quarterly Budget Implementation Reports as prescribed in Fiscal Responsibility Act/laws

¢ Monitor and report on the 21 Programmes, Related Projects and Objectives of the National
Chart of Accounts (NCOA) implemented by all government Ministries, Department and
Agencies (MDAs) of the Federal, States and Local Governments to improve accountability
and impact tracking in collaboration with the relevant agencies.
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5. Public Financial Management Systems

(a) Provide support and technical advisory on the implementation and enhancement of public

financial management systems, including:

The Treasury Single Account (TSA) system, in collaboration with the Central Bank of Nigeria
and other relevant authorities, to improve government revenue management, disbursement
processes, and electronic payment systems.

Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) that fully
integrates with the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) Real Time Gross Settlement System (RTGS)
and Automated Clearing House System (ACH) in collaboration with the Office of the
Accountant General of the Federation and States.

Reviewing of the detailed general and subsidiary ledger accounts in the Government
Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS), supporting revenue receipts,
payments (including electronic transactions), accounts receivable, accounts payable and
bank reconciliations, which facilitates the preparation, publication, and audit of multi-year
budgets, audited financial statements, and quarterly budget implementation reports for
Federal, State, and Local Governments.

6. Resource Mobilization

(a) Source and receive grants, donations, and other forms of financial support from:

International development partners such as the World Bank, International Monetary Fund
(IMF), African Development Fund, and European Union (EU).

The Federal, State, and Local Governments of Nigeria.

Local and international non-governmental organizations, foundations, and donor agencies,
for the purpose of supporting the Foundation’s training, research, capacity-building, and
technical assistance programs aligned with its objectives.

(b) Network, collaborate with organizations and entities sharing similar ideals, aims and objectives

for the promotion and attainment of fiscal responsibility across all levels of governance in Nigeria.
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Definition of
Terms

Accumulated Debt: The total outstanding debt obligations of a state, covering all liabilities to
pensioners, contractors, and lenders, including both domestic and external borrowings.

Activity: An Activity refers to a specific plan of action that is designed to achieve a target or stated
objective. For example, the vaccination activity within a disease prevention program, which in turn
may encompass a series of related initiatives and projects.

Capital Expenditure: Expenditure incurred by the government to acquire, construct, or upgrade
fixed capital assets, land, or intangible assets. This includes investments in infrastructure and
development projects such as schools, hospitals, roads, and the procurement of security
equipment.

General Purpose Financial Statements: Financial statements that are issued for users who are
not in a position to demand financial information to meet their specific information needs are
referred to as general purpose financial statements. Examples of such users of financial
statements are citizens, voters, their political representatives and other members of the general
public. The term "financial statements" used here and in the standards covers all disclosures and
notes that have been identified as components of the general-purpose financial statement.

Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS): is a
computerized system used by government entities to plan, execute, and monitor their budgets and
financial operations in a more efficient, transparent, and accountable manner. As a database
driven application, GIFMIS is an ambitious project that will enable all treasury transactions to be
tracked in detail on an on-line real-time basis.

Inflation: is the rate at which the general level of prices for goods and services rises over a period
of time, resulting in a decrease in the purchasing power of money. In simpler terms, when inflation
occurs, each unit of currency buys fewer goods and services than before.

Loan Repayments: Payments made by a state to service debt obligations, covering both principal
and interest, to domestic and foreign creditors according to agreed schedules.

National Chart of Accounts (NCOA): is an integrated budget and accounting classification system
which has been prepared primarily for the implementation of the Government Integrated Financial
Management Information System (GIFMIS). The COA is multi-dimensional in the sense that budget
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and accounting data can be analyzed in different ways depending on need. The details of each
transaction willinclude not only the exact particulars of a given receipt or payment but also the unit
or section of the Ministry, Department or Agency (MDA) responsible for the transaction.

Objective: An objective may be defined as a specific statement of what a given policy, Programme
or sub-Programme is intended to achieve within a given period. Objectives represent the specific
results desired within a fixed period of time. They should specify what is to be accomplished, for
whom, and by what date.

Overhead Costs: Operational expenses not directly linked to the production of goods or services.
These include rent, logistics and shipping costs, office supplies, advertising, consultancy fees,
training, travel, legal services, and the maintenance and repair of facilities and equipment.

Personnel Costs: Expenditure related to employee compensation, including salaries, pensions,
allowances, and social security contributions.

Policy: A policy is typically described as a deliberate plan of action to guide decisions and achieve
rational outcomes. Policy differs from rules or law. While law can compel or prohibit behaviors (e.g.
a law requiring the payment of taxes on income), policy merely guides actions toward those that
are most likely to achieve a desired outcome. Examples are Energy Policy, Economic Policy, Health
Policy, Education Policy, etc.

Programme: A Programme may be defined as a long-term outline of a project or government
function that is designed to achieve a stated objective. A Programme may also be defined as a set
of activities that meets specific policy objectives of the government (e.g., pre-primary education or
the development of crop production). In contrast to a functional classification, a classification by
program takes into account the government’s policy objectives and how these policies will be
implemented. Programs are further broken down into Projects. Budgeting and accounting are
carried out along project lines.

Recurrent Expenditure: Ongoing operational expenses, typically comprising personnel and
overhead costs, and in some cases including loan servicing, social benefits, and public debt
charges.

Statutory Transfers: Monthly allocations from the Federal Account Allocation Committee (FAAC)
to state governments.

Total Expenditure: The aggregate of actual spending on recurrent costs, loan repayments, and
capital projects.

Total Revenue: The sum of a state’s Internally Generated Revenue (IGR), statutory transfers from
the federal government, and external funding such as aid and grants.

© 2025 F=7Y 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 11



Data Sources

\ 4 ™\ o)
1 Total Revenue Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
2 Internally Generated Revenue Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
3 Capital Expenditure Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
4 Overhead Cost Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
5 Personnel Cost Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
6 Accumulated Debt Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
7 Loan Repayment Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
8 Acquisition of New Loans Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
9 Recurrent Expenditure Audited Financial Statements for The Years 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
10 Inflation Data Nigerian Bureau of Statistics
Federation Account Allocation Committee (FAAC) Sub - Committee on The Roadmap For Adoption of International
Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) In Nigeria - Training Manual For The National Training Workshop For
11 Compliance Check Officers Involved In Public Financial Management In The Three Tiers of Government issued in 2013.
12  Compliance Check National Chart of Account (COA) - IPSAS Cash & Accrual Issued by FAAC in 2012.
Format of General-Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS) - Statutory Financial Statements, Performance Reports,
13 Compliance Check Statistical Reports And Accounting Policies - IPSAS Cash - 2012 Issued by FAAC
Format of General-Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS) - Statutory Financial Statements, Performance Reports,
14  Compliance Check Statistical Reports And Accounting Policies - IPSAS Accrual - 2012 Issued by FAAC
15 Compliance Check Templates of IPSAS Complaint Budget (IPSAS Cash Budget) - 2013 Issued by FAAC

Report on Standardization of Federal States And Local Governments Account In Nigeria - Volume 1 Issued by FAAC in
16 Compliance Check 2002.

17 Compliance Check National Treasury Circular Dated 13th May 2013

Revised Chart of Account with Explanatory Notes Issued by the Office of the Accountant General of the Federation
18 Compliance Check October 2010

19 Compliance Check IMF Transparency Code Consultation Paper July 1st, 2013
Section 125 (5) of 1999 Constitution as amended, Section 24 Finance and Control Management Act 2004, Appropriation
20 Compliance Check and Budget Laws, Audit Laws, Fiscal Responsibility Act and Laws of Federal and State Governments.
21 Compliance Check Fiscal Responsibility Act 2007
22 Compliance Check Guidelines for the Operation of Treasury Single Account (TSA) by State Governments Issued by the CBN February 2016
23 Compliance Check Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (Amendment) Act 2023, Sections 57, 59(1), (h), (i), (i), 64(1), (2), & 77
24 Compliance Check Finance Act 2021, Sections 38 & 39
25 Compliance Check Accrual Accounting Manual 2021
26 Reference IMF/World Bank Treasury Reference Model
World Bank Publication on Financial Management Information Systems - 25 Years of World Bank Experience on What
27 Reference Works and What Doesn’t
International Development Association Program Document for a Proposed Financial Sector and Public Financial
28 Reference Management Development Policy Credit in the Amount of US $500 Million to The Federal Republic of Nigeria.
29 Reference IPSAS Explained: A Summary of International Public Sector Accounting Standards Second Edition.
30 Reference G.l. Daniel - Public Sector Accounting and Administrative Practices in Nigeria Volume One & Two
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Section 1: Summary of Findings and State of
Non-Compliance with the Financial Reporting
Council of Nigeria Act & National Accounting

Standards
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Executive Summary

From the Petroleum Technology Development Fund (PTDF) in 1973 to Subsidy Reinvestment and
Empowerment Program (SURE-P) in 2012. Nigeria’s subsidy reforms have gradually shifted from
central interventions to fiscal decentralization, culminating in the 2023 fuel subsidy removal under
President Bola Ahmed Tinubu to empower state governments with greater developmental
resources. This policy shift led to an unprecedented surge in statutory allocations to Nigeria’s 36
state governments. In 2024 alone, states received approximately #12.1 trillion equivalent to 78.2%
of the total allocations disbursed over the previous four years combined (¥15.5 trillion), as shown
in Tables 1-3. This unprecedented single-year increase provided state governments with a level of
fiscal capacity previously unimaginable.

This report examines how states responded to this fiscal windfall by analyzing financial data from
2024 compared to the preceding four years (2020-2023). The Report focuses on how this revenue
windfall was used to improve Internally Generated Revenue (IGR), capital and recurrent
expenditure, loan management, and debt profiles. A key trend was the substantial rise in capital
expenditure across nearly all states. Many doubled their capital investments, signaling an intent to
channel the increased revenue into infrastructure and development.

However, while state allocations rose by 123.5%, salary and welfare spending increased by 45.4%.
With 2024 inflation averaging 33.24%, these nominal wage gains were largely eroded. As a result,
civil servants saw a modest real wage increase of 12.16% on average, masking deeper losses in the
real purchasing power of civil servants in many states, as detailed in Table 12. The management of
recurrent expenditure and debt varied significantly. Some states demonstrated fiscal discipline,
controlling operational costs and repaying loans. Others, despite higher revenues, accumulated
more debt and rising personnel costs, reflecting a ‘paradox of plenty’ where income growth drives
unsustainable spending without strengthening long-term fiscal health.

The report also highlights a critical transparency gap in capital expenditure reporting, as no state
disclosed the strategic objectives of its investments and only a few disaggregated CAPEX by
programme. Between 2020 and 2024, states generated #37.1 trillion in revenue and spent §19.4
trillion on capital projects, which accounted for 52.3 percent of total revenue. Of this amount, 87.6
trillion was spent in 2024 alone. The failure to report capital expenditure by programme objectives
throughout this period constitutes a material omission under IPSAS 3. Without linking spending to
tangible outcomes, large figures mean little to citizens, who measure progress by functioning
schools, health facilities, and essential services rather than financial report figures.

To enhance transparency and ensure more effective use of public resources, the report
recommends the adoption of Programme and Objective-Based Budgeting and Reporting across
all states. This approach helps link capital spending to specific outcomes and priorities. The use of
GIFMIS can support this framework by aligning budget execution with program objectives, enable
online payments in compliance with CBN Treasury Single Account guidelines and ensure real-time
tracking of capital expenditures.
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Three Page Summary of Key Findings

1. The Unprecedented Revenue Surge: A Historic Opportunity

The 2023 removal of Nigeria's long-standing fuel subsidy precipitated a historic fiscal transfer to the
federation's 36 states in 2024. This policy shift resulted in a single-year revenue surge that provided an
unparalleled level of fiscal capacity, creating a critical juncture for state governments. This event has served as
a real-world stress test of sub-national public financial management, presenting a rare opportunity to either
accelerate development and correct long-standing fiscal imbalances or to entrench existing weaknesses in
governance and expenditure control. The scale of this fiscal windfall cannot be overstated. In 2024 alone,
states received total statutory allocations of approximately 312.1 trillion. To place this figure in context, it is
equivalent to 78.2% of the cumulative 315.5 trillion disbursed over the entire preceding four-year period from
2020 to 2023. This massive injection of capital was the primary driver behind the increase in states' total
revenue, which collectively reached 314.7 trillion in 2024.This event represents more than a simple budgetary
increase; it is a fundamental realignhment of Nigeria's fiscal federalism, moving significant resources from a
centralized subsidy regime to decentralized state-level control. Such a structural shock forces state
governments to make explicit and consequential choices about their priorities. The decisions made in response
whether to invest in long-term capital projects, pay down accumulated debt, increase public sector wages, or
expand recurrent overheads will have lasting effects on their development trajectories. Consequently, the 2024
windfall is not merely a fiscal event but a critical determinant of future regional inequality, with the potential
to significantly widen the development gap between states with prudent financial management and those
without.

2. A Tale of Two Priorities: Capital Investment vs. Workforce Welfare

In response to the 2024 revenue windfall, states overwhelmingly prioritized capital expenditure, which totaled
N7.6 trillion, with many states doubling their capital expenditure from previous years. This infrastructure
push, however, stands in sharp contrast to the treatment of the public sector workforce. Spending on
personnel welfare and salaries lagged behind as analysis reveals a great divergence in growth rates. While
average statutory allocations to states grew by 123.5%, spending on personnel welfare and salaries increased
by a comparatively modest 45.4%. This gap was compounded by a severe macroeconomic crisis. With the
average national inflation rate for 2024 reaching a staggering 33.24%, the nominal wage gains were largely
erased. The result was a meager 12.16% average increase in real wages across the federation, a figure that
masks the deep cuts in purchasing power experienced by civil servants in many states. A demotivated and
underpaid civil service is demonstrably less productive and more susceptible to corruption as individuals seek
to supplement their declining real incomes. Therefore, the decision to prioritize physical capital over human
capital could paradoxically undermine the state's ability to effectively manage and maintain those new assets
and deliver public services, creating a significant long-term governance risk.

3. The Spectrum of Fiscal Discipline: Prudence vs. The Paradox of Plenty

The 2024 revenue windfall served as a powerful diagnostic tool, exposing deep variations in fiscal governance
and discipline among the states. The influx of revenue created a clear divide: while some states demonstrated
prudence by controlling costs, repaying loans, and strengthening their balance sheets, others fell into a
"paradox of plenty." In these latter cases, the income surge fueled unsustainable spending and higher debt
accumulation, ultimately weakening their long-term fiscal health. Evidence of fiscal prudence was notable in
several states. For instance, States such as Delta, Akwa Ibom, and Bayelsa, used the opportunity to avoid
taking on new loans and reduce debt. Conversely, other states exemplified the paradox of plenty. Notably,
Lagos added ¥216 billion in new loans, raising its debt by 27.5%, while Niger’s debt rose by 46% after
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borrowing 3104 billion. These divergent outcomes underscore that fiscal health depends less on revenue size
than on financial discipline and sound management. This divergence demonstrates that the volume of revenue
inflow is not the sole determinant of fiscal health. The critical factor is the quality of public financial
management and the political will to enforce discipline.

4. The Governance Gap: A Systemic Crisis of Transparency

The most critical governance failure identified across all 36 states is the widespread and systemic lack of
transparency in capital expenditure reporting. The analysis reveals that most states fail to specify the strategic
purpose, intended impact, or expected outcomes of their investments. This fundamental omission makes it
nearly impossible for citizens, civil society, and oversight bodies to assess value for money, track progress, or
hold governments accountable for results, creating a profound accountability deficit at the heart of public
spending. The Fiscal Transparency Index (Index A) paints a stark picture of this reality. Out of a maximum
possible score of 7, the vast majority of states (24 out of 36) scored a mere 2, indicating very low levels of
transparency. Only four states, designated as "Star" performers, achieved a higher score of 5: Abia, Anambra,
Enugu, and Gombe. These states demonstrated a greater commitment to transparency by reporting capital
expenditure by Programme, Function, and Geolocation, in line with the National Chart of Accounts.
However, the most critical finding is a universal failure on two critical parameters. Zero out of 36 states
reported on Parameters 2 and 7 which is the inclusion of bank reconciliation statements and reporting CAPEX
by Programme Objectives. This means that no state in the federation confirmed the accuracy of its year-end
cash balances and publicly tied its capital spending to specific, measurable, and time-bound outcomes. This
fosters a system where success is defined by the amount of money spent or contracts awarded, not by the
problems solved. It is the foundational enabler of inefficient spending and "white elephant" projects,
representing the single most significant impediment to translating Nigeria's wealth into citizen welfare.

5. Adherence to Standards: A Box-Ticking Approach to Compliance

While Nigerian states generally comply with the procedural aspects of producing financial statements in line
with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), the analysis reveals a systemic failure to
adhere to higher-level national laws governing financial reporting. This suggests a culture of superficial, "box-
ticking" compliance, where the letter of basic accounting practice is met, but the spirit of genuine transparency
and legal accountability is ignored. On the surface, compliance appears adequate. Most states successfully
produce the required set of financial statements, including Statements of Financial Position, Financial
Performance, and Cash Flow. They also include basic components like a Table of Contents and a summary
of Accounting Policies. This indicates a widespread capacity to follow the standardized templates provided
for financial reporting. However, a deeper look reveals a glaring legal breach. The analysis shows 100% non-
compliance across all 36 states with key provisions of the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCoN)
Act (Sections 7(2) (f), 57, 59(1) (h), (1), (), 64(1), (2) and 77. This universal failure to adhere to a binding
national law designed to enforce higher standards of corporate and public governance is a significant finding.
Furthermore, adherence to including Performance and Statistical Reports is inconsistent across states,
indicating that while the core financial numbers are produced, the narrative and statistical context required for
proper analysis and public understanding is often missing.

Recommendations for Sustainable Fiscal Health

To ensure the 2024 fiscal windfall translates into lasting public value and avoids exacerbating long-term fiscal
risks, states must undertake fundamental reforms. These recommendations are focused on linking spending
to results, leveraging technology for discipline, protecting the public workforce, and strengthening oversight
mechanisms.
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1. Mandatory Implementation of Programme & Objective-Based Reporting

0 Action: All states must transition to a reporting framework where every capital expenditure
is explicitly linked to a specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time-bound (SMART)
objectives as prescribed in the National Chart of Accounts and Format of General-Purpose
Financial Statements.

o Rationale: This is the only way to shift the focus from inputs (money spent) to outcomes
(problems solved). It creates a performance contract with the public and establishes a true
basis for accountability, addressing the core transparency crisis identified in the analysis.

2. Mandatory Inclusion of Bank Reconciliation Statements

0 Action: All states must include summary bank reconciliation statements as an auditable
schedule in their annual financial statements.

o Rationale: The inclusion of bank reconciliation statements is essential for minimizing the
risk of errors and financial mismanagement, as they verify the accuracy of year-end cash
balances, strengthen the credibility of balance sheet figures, and demonstrate that proper
accounting records are being maintained.

3. Mandatory Adoption of GIFMIS for Implementing the National Chart of Accounts and CBN
TSA Guidelines in the Preparation of Published Audited Annual Accounts

o Action: In line with the 2013 National Treasury Circular, which mandated the
implementation of the National Chart of Accounts through the use of Government Integrated
Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS), states must fully adopt GIFMIS for
budget execution and account preparation. Furthermore, all payments must be executed online
in real time through GIFMIS, using CBN-approved licensed payment gateways, in full
compliance with Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines, to ensure credibility and
consistency in the preparation of published audited annual accounts.

o Rationale: Technology is a powerful tool for enforcing fiscal discipline. This approach
prevents leakages, provides real-time tracking of public funds, and mitigates the risk of the
"paradox of plenty" by institutionalizing prudent financial controls.

4. Adhere to Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCoN) Act (Sections 7(2) (f), 57, 59(1)
& 77).

0o Action: State Governments should ensure that they not only adhere to International Public
Accounting Standards but also public sector laws, rules and regulations to ensure full
compliance and avoid producing illegal accounts.

o Rationale: A strong national framework and the sharing of best practices are essential to
elevate the standard of public financial management across the entire federation, prevent
systemic non-compliance with key national laws and ensure the objectives and policies of
government are communicated with the citizens.

5. Address Public Sector Wage Erosion

0 Action: State governments must develop and implement a sustainable wage policy that
protects the real purchasing power of civil servants, particularly during periods of high
inflation.

o Rationale: A motivated and fairly compensated public workforce is essential for effective
service delivery and is a critical defense against systemic corruption. Ignoring the welfare of
the state's human capital undermines the very capacity needed to manage new infrastructure
and govern effectively.
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Urgent Findings on Systemic Non-Compliance with the FRCoN Act and National

Accounting Standards in States’ 2024 Audited Financial Statements

Introduction

Following the 2023 removal of fuel subsidy, Nigerian states received an unprecedented fiscal windfall in 2024,
providing a unique opportunity to assess the robustness of sub-national public financial management systems.
Comprehensive analysis of the 2024 audited financial statements for all 36 states has revealed critical and
systemic failures in regulatory compliance and fiscal transparency. This memorandum presents key findings
that require the immediate attention and intervention of the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCoN)

to uphold the integrity of public sector accounting and corporate governance in the nation.

Key Findings

Our analysis identified three primary areas of concern that directly fall under the purview of the FRCON:

A. Universal Non-Compliance with the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria Act

The most alarming finding is the 100% non-compliance across all 36 states with key provisions of the Financial
Reporting Council of Nigeria Act 2011 and subsequent (Amendment) Act 2023, specifically Sections 7(2)
(f), 57, 59(1), and 77. This universal failure to adhere to a binding national law designed to enforce higher
standards of financial reporting and governance represents a significant challenge to the authority of the
FRCoN and the rule of law. It suggests a widespread disregard for the national legislative framework governing
financial reporting, which has been superseded by a culture of selective, superficial compliance with basic
accounting formats. While most states produce the required set of financial statements in line with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), this procedural adherence appears to be a "box-
ticking" exercise rather than a commitment to the spirit of transparency and legal accountability enshrined in

the FRCON Act.

B. A Systemic Crisis of Transparency in Capital Expenditure Reporting

A profound governance failure was identified in the reporting of capital expenditure. While a few states
demonstrated commendable practice by reporting capital spending by Programme, Function, and
Geolocation, a critical deficiency was universal: Zero out of 36 states reported on Capital Expenditure by
Programme Objectives. This omission is not a minor technical oversight; it is a fundamental flaw that severs
the link between financial inputs and developmental outcomes. By failing to tie expenditure to specific,
measurable, and time-bound objectives, states have created a "black box" around public spending. This makes
it impossible for citizens, oversight bodies, and the FRCoN to assess value for money, track performance, or
hold public officials accountable for results. The vast majority of states (24 out of 36) scored a mere 2 out of

a possible 7 on our Fiscal Transparency Index, reflecting this deep-seated issue.

© 2025 [FE7Y 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 18



C. A Critical Gap in Governance: The Absence of Bank Reconciliation Statements.

A systemic lapse was observed across all 36 Nigerian states, as none included bank reconciliation statements
in their published reports. This omission constitutes a serious lapse in governance, given that bank
reconciliation is a critical internal control for confirming the accuracy of year-end cash balances and the
government’s liquidity position. The absence of this process undermines the credibility of balance sheet
figures, raises doubts about the maintenance of proper accounting records, and exposes states to heightened
risks of error and financial mismanagement. Such neglect constitutes a clear violation of the Financial
Reporting Council Act, Section 7(2)(f), and contravenes international standards of fiscal transparency.
Ultimately, this widespread failure weakens public trust, discourages investment, and compromises the

integrity of public financial management across the federation.

Recommendations for the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria
The 2024 fiscal windfall has exposed foundational weaknesses in the public financial management ecosystem

that require decisive regulatory action. We urge the FRCoN to:

1. Enforce the FRCoN Amended Act 2023: Immediately engage with the Accountants-General of
all 36 states to address the universal non-compliance with the FRCoN Act 2023, National Treasury
Circular dated May 2013, National Chart of Accounts dated 2012 and the Format of General-Purpose
Financial Statements for IPSAS Cash and IPSAS Accrual. The Council should utilize its statutory
powers to investigate this widespread breach of extant laws and regulations and consider implementing
sanctions or other corrective measures to re-establish the primacy of national law in public sector
reporting,.

2. Enforce Programme Objective-Based Reporting: In line with IPSAS 3, Retrospectively enforce
the reporting of Capital Expenditure by Programme Objectives as a mandatory and non-negotiable
component of the 2020 — 2024 Published Audited General-Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS) of
all the 36 State Governments in Nigeria.

3. Enforce the Inclusion of Bank Reconciliation Statements: In line with IPSAS 3, Retrospectively
enforce the Inclusion of Bank Reconciliation Statements as a mandatory and non-negotiable
component of the 2020 — 2024 Published Audited General-Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS) of
all the 36 State Governments.

4. Enforce End to End Straight Through Payments: Enforce end-to-end straight-through
electronic payments via GIFMIS into TSA accounts held at the CBN, in line with the World Bank’s
recommendations in the Proposed Financial Sector and Public Financial Management Development
Policy Credit (US$500 million) and the Financial Management Information Systems guidelines.

The integrity of Nigeria's public financial management system depends on the diligent enforcement of its
governing laws and standards. The FRCoN's role in correcting these systemic failures is more critical than

cver.

© 2025 [FE7Y 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 19



Table 1 - Sum of 2020 - 2023 Revenue and Expenditure Profile of The 36 States In Nigeria

Closing

Total Statutory Capital Total Recurrent Cash/Bank
IState |Year Allocation Direct Taxes  |Non-Tax Revenue Total IGR Total Revenue Expenditure Expenditure  [A Debt New Loans Deficit/Surplus Balance
|Abia 2020 - 2023| 307,593,640,163 35,813.464.271 33,622,971,103 69.436,435,374 | 377,030,075,537 | 186,643,237,938 | 400,729,313912 | 684,999,396,297 | 108,461,114,291 | 162,943,999.563 | 41,200,490,073
Adamawa 2020 - 2023| 269,178,100,408 36,628,729,314 14,400,529,856 | 51,029,259,170 [ 320,207,359,578 | 134,717,314,630 | 306,404,414,389 | 671,401,400,117 [ 97,455,092,334 | 148,520,259,819 | 66,857,311,755
Akwa Ibom 2020 - 2023| 1,045,681,661,838 | 116,873,410,531 | 24,933.454,718 | 141,806,865,249 |1,187,488,527,088 | 641,382,084,728 | 810,701,043,051 |1,016,068,412,605| 106,000,613,000 |1,018,169,568,765 224,638,083
Anambra 2020 - 2023| 335,276,599,246 78,927,519,729 39,088,949,336 | 118,016,469,065 | 453,293,068,311 | 281,639,585,209 | 246,560,710,862 | 519,478,441,699 | 35,378,500,877 | 488,371,942,658 | 51,007,743,769
IBauchi 2020 - 2023| 362,832,714,428 66,336,682,204 20,114,432,202 86.451,114,406 | 449,283,828,835 | 254,007,384,045 | 388,979,400,706 | 868,073,962,866 | 153,712,024,276 | 314,311,812,174 | 42,370,217,067
[Bayelsa 2020 - 2023| 1,078,631,239,093 | 58,685,161,961 17,986,643,745 76,671,805,705 | 1,155,303,044,798 | 426,657,616,313 | 768,287,467,612 | 549,775,606,608 | 92.991.051,599 | 813,673,193.499 | 116,106,338,632
IBenue 2020 - 2023| 318,796,704,798 | 41,785,829,592 15,300,885,697 57,086,715,290 | 375,883,420,088 | 58,349,713,580 | 352,187,700,809 | 674,027.451,515 | 32.472,510,383 82,045,432,859 42,605,363,664
[Borno 2020 - 2023| 374,067,983,597 57,209,030,937 19,484,637,349 76,693,668,286 | 450,761,651,883 | 254,210,961,330 | 367,415,060,141 | 348,956,125,363 | 58,566,832,743 | 337,557,553,072 | 119,490,967,955
(Cross River [2020 - 2023| 333,337,141,551 50,652,145,561 43,147,939,157 93,800,084,718 | 427,137,226,269 | 258,269,618,726 | 350,046,334,891 |1,115,761,740,890 | 119,072,913,921 | 335,360,510,104 6,685,944,055
Delta 2020 - 2023 | 1,489,692,099,312 | 287,437,061,528 | 81,111,257,843 | 368,548,319,371 [1,858,240,418,683 | 518,514,973,920 [1,117,154,946,717 | 1,258,096,653,413 [ 267,985,853,319 |1,259,600,445,886 [ 159,745,720,393
[Ebonyi 2020 - 2023| 239,505,224,808 38,439,696,350 | 47,713,933,359 86,153,629,709 | 325,658,854,516 | 285,866,765,656 | 182,015,373,419 | 397,330,649,701 | 48.004,551,784 | 429,510,246,754 | 40,622,493,743
IEdo 2020 - 2023| 454,804,865.809 | 110,567,599,223 | 61,975,578,465 | 172,543,177,687 | 627,348,043,497 | 338,827,002,563 | 425,710,145,383 |1,079,775,226,626 [ 106,258,058,985 | 540,464,900,677 | 63,898,465,749
[EKiti 2020 - 2023| 277.453,691,849 39,054,764,405 32,754,159.886 | 71,808,924,291 | 349,262,616,140 | 121,156,638,178 | 312,324,294,804 | 602.462,698.465 | 53,399,114,997 | 158,094,959.514 | 73,915,338,017
[Enugu 2020 - 2023 309,995,015,557 | 47,435,520,777 67,229,454,479 | 114,664,975,256 | 424,659,990,814 | 177,648,385,342 | 377,040,425,567 | 624,845,425,686 | 78,269,908,538 | 225,267,950,588 | 77,599,663,980
iGombe 2020 - 2023| 278,168,004,128 17,765,058,221 29,285,680,764 | 47,050,738,985 | 325,218,743,113 | 211,104,487,515 | 343,861,108,647 | 856,969,874,410 | 155,676,100,376 | 192,462,121,981 | 112,046,561,721
Imo 2020 - 2023| 391,127,898,450 | 44,598,849,131 20,160,722,800 | 64,759,571,931 | 455,887,470,381 | 230,646,298,251 | 350,129,838,828 | 868,147,937,381 | 180,033,715,297 | 336,403,929,804 | 115,205,596,099
WJigawa 2020 - 2023| 346,889,307.331 20,318,880,030 76.893,965,498 97.212,845,528 | 444,102,152,859 | 282,812,908,966 | 380,666,452,985 | 654,718,630,772 | 101,161,732,506 | 346,248,608,840 | 75,524,051,177
IKaduna 2020 - 2023| 334,135,764,648 | 154,876,492,000 | 75,156,813,000 | 230,033,305,000 | 564,169,069,648 | 574,808,258,000 | 545,492,761,000 |1,957,370,378,000 [ 172,108,442,000 | 593,484,566,648 | 47.669.277,000
IKano 2020 - 2023 507,050,537,271 78,723,624,000 77,913,844,021 | 156,637.468,021 | 663,688,005,292 | 307,898,912,000 | 471,128,317,000 | 689,237.266,000 | 52,373,392,000 | 500,458,600,292 | 107,938,538,000
[Katsina 2020 - 2023| 386,948,349,459 39,771,297,629 15,009,548,863 54,780,846,491 | 441,729,195,950 | 219,186,002,194 | 390,960,778,922 | 344,994,119,084 | 51,851,910,868 | 269,954,419,222 | 84,499,933,137
IKebbi 2020 - 2023| 260,075,694,467 31,234,194,167 6,765,162,605 37,999,356,772 | 298,075,051,239 | 160,392,691,099 | 189,965,566,239 | 295,568,211,052 | 16,445,809,956 | 268,502,176,099 | 99,042,115.816
Kogi 2020 - 2023 311,985,007,755 57,688,304,904 21,322,080,047 79,010,384,951 | 390,995,392,706 | 139,138,663,219 | 374,602,740,533 | 473,579,191,033 | 68,163,347,408 | 155,531,315,392 | 110,922,781,156
IKwara 2020 - 2023| 275,108,784,068 | 46,245,320,349 88,575,956,041 | 134,821,276,390 | 409,930,060.458 | 208,531,160,262 | 268,402,355,868 | 488,981.941.430 | 47,214,126,602 | 350,058.864.852 | 91,320,962,777
ILagos 2020 - 2023 939,946,940,002 | 1,971,685,783,000 | 532,710,951,000 |2,504,396,734,000 |3.444,343,674,002 | 1,977,352,643,000 [2.649,037,765,001 | 6,186,989,888,000 | 1,213,100,618,000 | 2,772,658,552,001 | 419,334,429,000
INasarawa 2020 - 2023| 300,064,797.749 | 45,648,399,172 40,681.,456,767 86,329.855,939 | 386,394,653,688 | 153,162,157,350 | 297,317,294,351 | 281,250,950,460 | 67.438,007,101 | 242,239,516,686 | 42,692,312,829
INiger 2020 - 2023| 364,208,729,097 | 45,795,314,623 20,226,991,061 66,022,305,684 | 430,231,034,781 | 278,847,517,246 | 437,251,773,587 | 527,524,234,832 | 96,954,632,579 | 271,826,778,440 | 33,703,846,365
(Ogun 2020 - 2023| 295,381,263,478 | 184,530,787,424 | 227,722,840,636 | 412,253,628,060 | 707,634,891,538 | 320,809,887,909 | 782,719,460,135 |1,383,328,929,668 [ 234,173,143,379 | 245,725,319,312 | 104,278,136,893
(Ondo 2020 - 2023| 339,259,483,614 98,749,066,108 57,306,833,356 | 156,055,899.464 | 495,315,383,078 | 198,333,803.374 | 471,035,287,953 | 607,248,785,762 | 113,559,802,925 | 222,613,898.499 | 126,351,003,199
(Osun 2020 - 2023 302,259,271,017 | 49.405,111,252 49,373,376,454 | 98,778.487,706 | 401,037,758,723 | 146,306,617,902 | 344,202,765,220 | 396,511,320,845 | 30,293.466,274 | 203,141,611,406 | 81,066,046,942
Oyo 2020 - 2023| 362,377,082,698 | 132,793,025,329 | 59,066,439.878 | 191,859,465,207 | 554,236,547,905 | 252,340,029,290 | 578,856,390,041 | 747,560,647,608 | 30,675,713,940 | 227,720,187,154 | 79.908.699.351
IPlateau 2020 - 2023| 224,896,212,510 62,725,437,920 19,989,353,559 82,714,791,479 | 307.611,003,989 | 86.,590.991.172 | 341,455,373,574 | 696,233.994,730 | 74,738,343.495 52,746,621,587 79.319,736,665
IRivers 2020 - 2023| 932,501,424,673 | 585,149,096,013 | 76,887,787,115 | 662,036,883,128 [1,594,538,307,801 | 1,484,181,432,342 [ 672,724,573,945 | 671,505,599,767 | 547,915,157,886 |2,405,995,166,198 [ 35,071,785,207
Sokoto 2020 - 2023| 333,891,885,302 58,282,942,799 26,015,919,111 84,298,861,910 | 418,190,747,212 | 219,023,649,728 | 331,923,372,518 | 388,527,593,596 | 146,177,237,938 | 305,291,024,421 | 69,567,419,878
[Taraba 2020 - 2023( 274,134,280.435 24,577,510,289 13,335,914,981 37,913,425,270 | 312,047,705,705 | 105,351,465.913 | 274,988,591,723 | 437,966,351,153 | 65.788.567.256 | 142,410,579,896 | 72,326,733,956
[Yobe 2020 - 2023| 286,541,516,129 25,832,740,424 10,192,877,349 36,025,617,773 | 322,567,133,902 | 157,953,407,384 | 472,662,361,770 | 379,239,495,823 | 117,169,525,382 7.858,179,516 38,451,895,879
[Zamfara 2020 - 2023| 239,179,816,334 35,034,612,850 13,839,338,036 | 48.873,950.886 | 288,053,767.221 [ 129,569,500,826 | 330,229,122,341 | 462,421,763,294 | 131,729,036,903 [ 87,394,145,706 30,676,788,690
[Total 2020 - 2023 15,482,978,733,074 | 4,877,278,464,017 | 2,077,298,680,138 | 6,954,577,144,154 [22,437,555,877,228]11,782,233,767,098|17,705,170,684,442[30,206,930,296,552| 5,072,769,971,119 16,514,618,959,884| 2,799,431,949,968
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Table 2 - 2024 Revenue and Expenditure Profile of The 36 States In Nigeria

Closing
Total Statutory Capital Total Recurrent Cash/Bank
State Year All i Direct Taxes |Non-Tax Revenue Total IGR Total Revenue Expenditure _ [Expenditure A Debt | New Loans Deficit/Surplus |Balance
Abia 2024 | 285,519,182,204 18,187,696.823 23,067,983,057 | 41,255,679,881 326.774,862,085 | 215.455,507.968 | 102,445,553,044 | 177,258,928.483 2,317,806,042 8,873,801,073 | 69.457,709,596
A 2024 | 135,724,201,938 15,141,014,210 5,157,236,606 20,298,250,816 156,022,452,754 | 119,602,272,479 | 128,897,361,992 | 231,571,169,900 | 32,000,000,000 | 92,477.181,717 | 58,262,346,561
[Akwa Ibom | 2024 | 1,006,858,196,000 | 49,108,957,000 27,148,817,000 | 76,257,774,000 | 1,083,115,970,000 | 524,779,850,000 | 380,799,185,000 | 213,058,342,000 - 177,536,935,000 375,692,441
Anambra 2024 | 308,955,682,444 | 28,199,899,033 14,774,634,632 | 42,974,533,665 351,930,216,108 | 218,255,397,194 | 74,154,853,502 187,877,940,949 4,937,420,202 | 59,519,965,412 | 81,517,468,846
Bauchi 2024 | 222,970,692,478 | 29,660,791,927 2,778,240,134 32,439,032,061 255,409,724,539 | 98,524,011,557 | 176,319,200,221 | 430,766,109,826 24,482,035,985 | 19,433,487,239 | 47,032,242,144
|Bayclsa 2024 | 840,184,381,280 | 63,666,506.834 10,771,596.538 74,438,103,372 914,622,484,652 | 394,297,058,548 | 273,589,168,295 | 168,856,044,226 - 246.736,257,809 | 209.329,876,168
|Bcnue 2024 | 257,143,873,586 13,730,884,451 7.235,195.434 20,966,079.,885 278,109,953.471 97,985,247,217 | 174,328,014,601 | 161,839,521,686 - 5,796,691,653 | 85,180,877.410
Borno 2024 | 338,250,159,605 | 24,804,118,557 29,787,746,296 | 54,591,864.853 392,842,024,458 | 181,791,314,977 | 236,187,464,152 | 94,447,089,123 - 25,136.754,671 | 74,714,564,035
Cross River | 2024 | 265,825,209,000 | 20,040,012,000 26,203,028,000 | 46,243,040,000 312,068,249,000 | 95.486,333,000 | 337,346,482,000 | 529,280,431,000 | 48,260,533,000 |120.764.,566.000 148,964,555
Delta 2024 | 1,191,962,366,606 | 129,409,514,266 | 36,948,281,879 | 166,357,796,146 | 1,358,320,162,751 | 190,187,064,341 | 397,031,714,783 | 250,452,100,239 - 771,101,383,627| 751,721,603,224
Ebonyi 2024 | 110,139,970,469 9,569,378,094 446,592,965 10,015,971,059 120,155,941,528 | 160,833,510,801 | 66,160,904,399 | 219,998,523,482 8,871,026,449 |106,838,473,673| 36,589,798,912
Edo 2024 | 358,510,472,878 | 57,298,021,701 30,914,815,568 88,212,837,269 | 446,723,310,147 | 262,748,102,512 | 200,333,277,451 | 768,727,693,641 35,558,171,789 | 16,358,069,816 | 48,713,617,350
Ekiti 2024 | 287,226,899,256 16,165,928,100 24,920,389,363 | 41,086,317,463 328,313,216,718 | 117,435,167,292 | 254,702,384,249 | 260,161,784,955 18,921,305,088 | 43,824,334,823 | 70,003,536,831
Enugu 2024 | 255,669,452,570 | 26,682,148,071 153,817,993,527 | 180,500,141,598 | 436,169,594,169 | 331,505,346,504 | 144,995,167,104 | 256,414,138,581 7,305,912,537 | 40.330,919.439 | 22,339,126,692
Gombe 2024 | 286,218,653,644 7,417,797,101 13,391,726,196 | 20,809,523,297 307,028,176,941 | 206,377,479.767 | 94,758,144,311 204,125,094,846 31,649,781,870 | 5.892,552,863 | 116,145,828,183
Imo 2024 | 355,657.491.210 14,357,493,762 5.866,287.214 20,223,780,976 375.,881,272,185 | 240,374,928.407 | 90,444,333,542 | 247.495,759.617 20,000,000,000 | 45,062,010,236 | 85,780,963,910
Jigawa 2024 | 263,978,913,009 9.177,463,932 58,188,546,479 | 67,366,010,411 331,344,923,420 | 256.412,634,836 | 143,138,725,610 | 573,740,472.894 24,332,515 68,206.,437,027 | 42,461,176,741
Kaduna 2024 | 340.448,865,000 | 57.423,168,000 12,651,485,000 | 70,074,653,000 | 410,523,518,000 | 209,943,797,000 | 254,272,832,000 | 652,983,593,000 82,905,836,000 | 53,693.111,000 | 137,283,807,000
Kano 2024 | 381,743,245,000 | 40,867,739,000 24,228,432,000 | 65,096,171,000 | 446,839,416,000 | 215,980,422,000 | 192,288,589,000 | 249,046,721,000 | 29,860,095,000 | 38,570,405,000 | 110,900,668,000
Katsina 2024 | 332,008,931,887 16,298,250,783 14,156,660,879 | 30,454,911,663 362,463,843,550 | 304,755,412,982 | 131,604,476,779 | 231,705,704,987 - 73,896,046,210 | 84,952,389,660
Kebbi 2024 | 119,311,255,668 7,952,096,025 3,415,231,014 11,367,327,039 130,678,582,707 82,201,488,688 67,383,341,127 94,067,696,129 22,552,375,993 | 18,906,247,108 | 13,114,528,552
Kogi 2024 | 273,371,194,139 | 22,304,968,494 5,346,622.826 27,651,591,320 301,022,785,459 | 75.230,515,582 | 265,619,122,091 | 123,355,796.497 3,589,045,693 | 39.826,852.214 | 101,314,530,112
Kwara 2024 | 208,663,017,870 17,600,000,000 | 48,536,642,553 66,136,642,553 274,799,660.423 | 212,088,497,229 | 105,892,106,369 | 156,686,300,862 - 43,180,943.175 | 35,954,516,005
Lagos 2024 | 727,992,263,000 |1,036,652,527,000 | 225,781,726,000 | 1,262,434,253,000 | 1,990,426,516,000 | 1,057,546,527,000 | 1,240,481,145,000  2,917,863.,675,000 | 216,103,201,000 [307.601,156.000| 425.370,209.000
Nasarawa 2024 | 194,857,272,232 | 25,486,891,292 17,788,116,868 | 43,275,008,160 | 238,132,280,392 | 154,325,918,649 | 160.409,160,117 81,351,409,872 60,654,690,302 | 76,602.798,374 | 57,228,636,563
Niger 2024 | 374,280,841,660 | 24,376,363,325 10,496,370,780 | 34.872,734,105 409,153,575,765 | 348,841,553,443 | 185,157,043,233 | 293,669.558,334 | 104,036,988,452 [124.845,020.911| 54,603,342,532
Ogun 2024 | 317,905,473,523 74,902,980,979 [ 120,205,754,984 | 195,108,735,962 | 513,014,209,485 | 150,001,972,782 | 544,463,723,189 | 575,103,324,406 60,360,212,178 | 181,451.486,486 | 87,107,615,427
Ondo 2024 | 287,825,940,706 | 21,849,725,233 22,736,085,733 | 44,585,810,966 332,411,751,672 | 45,872,159,832 | 255,626,262,660 | 144,995,063,539 26,791,973,035 | 30,913,329,180 | 163,512,645,608
Osun 2024 | 226,625,622,241 17,098,619,797 37,346,379,145 54,444,998,942 281,070,621,183 | 118,424,177,954 | 166,736,097,938 | 75,606,127,678 11,650,712,473 | 4,089,654,709 | 60,205,607,472
Oyo 2024 | 131,892,100,294 | 42,247,025,637 23,040,012,632 65,287,038,268 197,179,138,563 | 205,100,043,120 | 242,330,667,797 | 285,059,912,447 11,219,625,749 |250,251,572,354| 112,091,318,932
Plateau 2024 | 197,427,287,649 17,785,658,445 13,354,168,235 31,139,826,680 | 228,567,114,330 | 71,168,408,733 | 235,444.479,508 | 148,800,000,000 [ 51,631,604,331 | 78,045.773.912 | 53,614,198,057
Sokoto 2024 | 259,612,553,185 17,547,905,609 4,499,092,016 22,046,997,625 281,659,550,810 | 133,682,880,657 | 185,831,269,981 | 133,714,138,443 44,042,058,862 | 37.854,599.828 | 29,741,147.878
Taraba 2024 | 220,577,548,097 11,384,070,443 4,675,691,627 16,059,762,070 | 236,637,310,167 | 224,734,919,236 | 100,232,113,828 | 127,827,740,751 64,607,356,118 | 88,329.722.897 | 4,860,965.438
Yobe 2024 | 216,447,258,443 7,753,313,909 3,331,053,330 11,084,367,239 | 227,531,625,682 | 151,789,828,793 | 139,899,942,769 88,910,164,809 10,172,244,388 | 64,158,145,880 | 6,378,664,196
Zamfara 2024 | 81,157,498,177 12,541,473,267 12,906,849,105 25,448,322,372 106,605,820,549 | 159,776,440,202 | 100,282,433,710 | 107,400,000,000 4,605,952,800 | 153,453,053,363 | 98,748,482,495
Total 2024 | 12,111,059,331,159| 2,004,690,403,102 | 1,075,915,485,613 | 3,080,605,888,715 | 14,743,549,855,663 | 7,633,516,191,284 | 7,849,586,741,353 | 11,464,218,073,201 | 1,039,112,297,850 | 739,553,076,974 | 3,436,758,666,525
LEGEND
Key Meaning
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Table 3 - Windfall Revenue Effect of State Subsidy Disbursement in 2024

Proportion of 2024 to Cumulative 2020-

2024 2020 - 2023 2023 Revenue & Expenditure
Total Statutory Total Statutory Total Statutory Total Capital

State Allocation Total Revenue Capital Expenditure Allocation Total Revenue Capital Expenditure Allocation Revenue | Expenditure
Abia 285,519,182,204 326,774,862,085 215,455,507,968 307,593,640,163 377,030,075,537 186,643,237,938 92.82% 86.67% 115.44%
Adamawa 135,724,201,938 156,022,452,754 119,602,272,479 269,178,100,408 320,207,359,578 134,717,314,630 50.42% 48.73% 88.78%
Akwa lbom 1,006,858,196,000 1,083,115,970,000 524,779,850,000 1,045,681,661,838 1,187,488,527,088 641,382,084,728 96.29% 91.21% 81.82%
Anambra 308,955,682,444 351,930,216,108 218,255,397,194 335,276,599,246 453,293,068,311 281,639,585,209 92.15% 77.64% 77.49%
Bauchi 222,970,692,478 255,409,724,539 98,524,011,557 362,832,714,428 449,283,828,835 254,007,384,045 61.45% 56.85% 38.79%
Bayelsa 840,184,381,280 914,622,484,652 394,297,058,548 1,078,631,239,093 1,155,303,044,798 426,657,616,313 77.89% 79.17% 92.42%
Benue 257,143,873,586 278,109,953,471 97,985,247,217 318,796,704,798 375,883,420,088 58,349,713,580 80.66% 73.99% 167.93%
Borno 338,250,159,605 392,842,024,458 181,791,314,977 374,067,983,597 450,761,651,883 254,210,961,330 90.42% 87.15% 71.51%
Cross River 265,825,209,000 312,068,249,000 95,486,333,000 333,337,141,551 427,137,226,269 258,269,618,726 79.75% 73.06% 36.97%
Delta 1,191,962,366,606 1,358,320,162,751 190,187,064,341 1,489,692,099,312 1,858,240,418,683 518,514,973,920 80.01% 73.10% 36.68%
Ebonyi 110,139,970,469 120,155,941,528 160,833,510,801 239,505,224,808 325,658,854,516 285,866,765,656 45.99% 36.90% 56.26%
Edo 358,510,472,878 446,723,310,147 262,748,102,512 454,804,865,809 627,348,043,497 338,827,002,563 78.83% 71.21% 77.55%
Ekiti 287,226,899,256 328,313,216,718 117,435,167,292 277,453,691,849 349,262,616,140 121,156,638,178 103.52% 94.00% 96.93%
Enugu 255,669,452,570 436,169,594,169 331,505,346,504 309,995,015,557 424,659,990,814 177,648,385,342 82.48% 102.71% 186.61%
Gombe 286,218,653,644 307,028,176,941 206,377,479,767 278,168,004,128 325,218,743,113 211,104,487,515 102.89% 94.41% 97.76%
Imo 355,657,491,210 375,881,272,185 240,374,928,407 391,127,898,450 455,887,470,381 230,646,298,251 90.93% 82.45% 104.22%
Jigawa 263,978,913,009 331,344,923,420 256,412,634,836 346,889,307,331 444,102,152,859 282,812,908,966 76.10% 74.61% 90.67%
Kaduna 340,448,865,000 410,523,518,000 209,943,797,000 334,135,764,648 564,169,069,648 574,808,258,000 101.89% 72.77% 36.52%
Kano 381,743,245,000 446,839,416,000 215,980,422,000 507,050,537,271 663,688,005,292 307,898,912,000 75.29% 67.33% 70.15%
Katsina 332,008,931,887 362,463,843,550 304,755,412,982 386,948,349,459 441,729,195,950 219,186,002,194 85.80% 82.06% 139.04%
Kebbi 119,311,255,668 130,678,582,707 82,201,488,688 260,075,694,467 298,075,051,239 160,392,691,099 45.88% 43.84% 51.25%
Kogi 273,371,194,139 301,022,785,459 75,230,515,582 311,985,007,755 390,995,392,706 139,138,663,219 87.62% 76.99% 54.07%
Kwara 208,663,017,870 274,799,660,423 212,088,497,229 275,108,784,068 409,930,060,458 208,531,160,262 75.85% 67.04% 101.71%
Lagos 727,992,263,000 1,990,426,516,000 1,057,546,527,000 939,946,940,002 3,444,343,674,002 1,977,352,643,000 77.45% 57.79% 53.48%
Nasarawa 194,857,272,232 238,132,280,392 154,325,918,649 300,064,797,749 386,394,653,688 153,162,157,350 64.94% 61.63% 100.76%
Niger 374,280,841,660 409,153,575,765 348,841,553,443 364,208,729,097 430,231,034,781 278,847,517,246 102.77% 95.10% 125.10%
Ogun 317,905,473,523 513,014,209,485 150,001,972,782 295,381,263,478 707,634,891,538 320,809,887,909 107.63% 72.50% 46.76%
Ondo 287,825,940,706 332,411,751,672 45,872,159,832 339,259,483,614 495,315,383,078 198,333,803,374 84.84% 67.11% 23.13%
Osun 226,625,622,241 281,070,621,183 118,424,177,954 302,259,271,017 401,037,758,723 146,306,617,902 74.98% 70.09% 80.94%
Oyo 131,892,100,294 197,179,138,563 205,100,043,120 362,377,082,698 554,236,547,905 252,340,029,290 36.40% 35.58% 81.28%
Plateau 197,427,287,649 228,567,114,330 71,168,408,733 224,896,212,510 307,611,003,989 86,590,991,172 87.79% 74.30% 82.19%
Rivers 448,115,364,210 - - 932,501,424,673 1,594,538,307,801 1,484,181,432,342 48.06% - -
Sokoto 259,612,553,185 281,659,550,810 133,682,880,657 333,891,885,302 418,190,747,212 219,023,649,728 77.75% 67.35% 61.04%
Taraba 220,577,548,097 236,637,310,167 224,734,919,236 274,134,280,435 312,047,705,705 105,351,465,913 80.46% 75.83% 213.32%
Yobe 216,447,258,443 227,531,625,682 151,789,828,793 286,541,516,129 322,567,133,902 157,953,407,384 75.54% 70.54% 96.10%
Zamfara 81,157,498,177 106,605,820,549 159,776,440,202 239,179,816,334 288,053,767,221 129,569,500,826 33.93% 37.01% 123.31%
Total 12,111,059,331,159| 14,743,549,855,663| 7,633,516,191,284| 15,482,978,733,074| 22,437,555,877,228| 11,782,233,767,098 78.22% 65.63% 64.41%

Between 2020 and 2023, total revenue across all states exhibited modest, incremental growth.

However, in 2024, this trend shifted dramatically with a significant surge in statutory allocations.

The total allocation available to states reached approximately #12.1 trillion, equivalent to 78.2% of

the cumulative statutory allocations received over the preceding four years. This unprecedented

single-year increase provided state governments with a level of fiscal capacity previously

unimaginable. More than a mere quantitative boost, this windfall marked a qualitative

transformation in the fiscal landscape. It presented a rare opportunity to break longstanding cycles

of underfunding, address critical infrastructure gaps, and reshape long-term development

trajectories. Importantly, it gave states the opportunity to articulate clear capital development

policies where the objectives of Programme based expenditures could be established.
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Section 2: Indices of State Fiscal

Responsibility and Performance in Nigeria
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Methodological
Framework

Index A: assesses compliance by reviewing the published audited accounts of states to determine
whether they adhere to the Cash or Accrual format of General-Purpose Financial Statements. This
index uses the Revised Chart of Accounts 2010, National Chart of Accounts IPSAS Cash & Accrual
(NCOA) 2012, Format of General-Purpose Financial Statements IPSAS Cash and Accrual 2012,
National Treasury Circular 2013, Guidelines for the Operation of Treasury Single Account (TSA) by
State Governments Issued by the CBN in 2016 and the IMF Fiscal Transparency Code 2013 as a

guide in assessing compliance and transparency.

Index B: evaluates the capacity of states to finance their Operating Expenses (Recurrent
Expenditure) solely from Internally Generated Revenue (IGR). It is calculated by dividing Operating

Expenses by IGR.

Index C: tracks how much a state’s Internally Generated Revenue increases each year, expressed

as a percentage growth rate.

Index D: evaluates the capacity of states to finance all recurrent expenditures - including operating
costs, non-operating expenses, and loan repayment obligations using their total revenue, which
comprises Internally Generated Revenue, statutory allocations, and capital receipts, without

reliance on borrowing. The index is derived by dividing recurrent expenditure by total revenue.

Index E: evaluates the debt sustainability of states using four key indicators: (a) total accumulated
debt (domestic and foreign) as a percentage of revenue, (b) personnel costs as a percentage of
revenue, (c) loan repayments as a percentage of revenue, and (d) new loans taken as a percentage

of revenue. The index is calculated by taking the average 4 indicators.

Index F: measures the extent to which each state prioritizes capital expenditure relative to
operating (recurrent) expenses. It is derived by calculating the ratio of operating expenses to capital

expenditure.
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Fiscal Transparency Guidelines

1. Structure of the National COA
Below is the structure of the National Chart of Accounts at a glance

Digis

S/No Segment R
Revenue Centro) ©.9. Min of
FISCAL TRANSPARENCY CODE : : Ww: 1‘3 Health
. yoctol -
(Consultation Draft of July 1, 2013) 5 Brsinizaion 5
13 Sub-Organization 3
A. FISCAL TRANSPARENCY PRINCIPLES 14 Sub-Sub Org 3
2

1.5 Sub-Sub-Sub Or,

L FISCAL REPORTING:

Fiscal reports should provide a comprehensive, relevant, timely, and reliable f 1 » Account Tv;;c 2| ; 1
overview of the government’s financial position and performance 5 2 Sub-Account Types 1

23 Account Class 2

24 Sub-Class % 2

25 2

B. DESCRIPTION OF BASIC, GOOD, AND ADVANCED PRACTICES BY PRINCIPLE

PRINCIPLE [ PRACTICES
I BASIC | Goon I

I E | DIMENSION ADVANCED

Information in fiscal reports should be relevant, internationally comparable, and internally and historically consistens
Fiscal repoets mclads an

13 Quaiiy

Fiseal reports include s Fiscal reports include an

e admisssirative, ccomomic, | adeministrtive, occnoemic.
Fiscal reparts classify 3 B and functional chissification | functional, and peogram
consistent with I |
information s ways that et wd o consisient with international | classification conssstent with
131 Classfiation make clear the use of public g standands as well as. interaational standards, where

well as imfoemation on

resources and facilitales information on receipts from  applicable, ss well as informmtson

receipes from all major

international comparisons. P, all majee revenue sources, an receiprs froen all major revenue
hmm”“{ el lated | E€ludme resource relted | sources, including resource reluted
activities. activities,

ACTVIICS,

Fiscal roports are intermally

Fiscal reports inclede ol
Jeast oae of the following

Fiscal reports include o Jeast
two of the following

Fiscal repoets inchude all three of the
following reconciliations: (ijbalance

comsistent and include (i)balance (iyhalince A P
132 | Damc o bew and fnancing, (idetx | and fnsacing, (idebtssued | e Aeaneng. (ot ssued and
altemative measures of issued and debt holdings, | and debt holdings, or (iii) i ﬁm:':‘: :m‘ \he change in the
summary fiscal aggrogates. oc (itiMinancing and the financing and the change m debasingk.
change in the debe stock. | the debt stock, )
Material revissons to Material rovisions to historical fscal
Hi Mutenal revisions 0 Material revisions to hastorical statstics are statistics are repored with o
133 rm"“""‘"my hissorical fiscal statistics are | historical fiscal statistics | reposted with a bridging table | bridging table between the old and
disclosed and explamed. are repanted. between the ofd and new tine | new time sesies and an explanaticn

serics, for cach major revision.

1.

Introduction to National Standardised Chartof Accounts

The Federal Executive Council (FEC) at its meeting on 28" July, 2010 approved
that Nigeria should adopt the provisions of the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS) for Private and Public Sectors respectively. Consequently,

the Federation A Allocation Ce (FAAC) at its meeting held on
13" June, 2011 set up a Sub-Committee to provide a Roadmap for the
implementation of IPSAS in the three tiers of government in Nigeria. The Sub-
Committee in its desire that the three tiers of Government in Nigeria, ic.
Federal, States and Local Government Councils (LGC) adopts the provisions of
IPSAS has commenced the process to ize the financial op
These operations include the use of Standardized National Chart of Account
(COA) that 15 IPSAS compliant. The Roadmap to the adoption of IPSAS s
phase as follows:
% FullAdoption of [PSAS Cash 2013102014
7 Adoption of IPSAS Accrual effect from 2015.

In the light of the above, the FAAC Sub-Ci has devel a hi

Standardised National COA 10 be used by the three tiers of government,

.

2. Features of the National COA
The National COA is based on the following key features:

TO BE USED BY

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT ' L The COA s designod frons the COA 1sed by thé Faleral Govermment
36 STATES GOVERNMENT  prosenly; ;
FEDERAL CAPITAL TERRITORY ADMINISTRATION (FCTA) i Al s o ol o S s Lo o

774 lOCAl GQVEBNMENT COIINGIIS il | The COA s designed to be an line with the provisions of Government
N Financial SES) of the I tHonal M. y Fund (IMF),;
iv.  The COA s 1o be used for IPSAS Cash Basis and also IPSAS Acerual

Basis; ’
¥.  Itis Expandable and Flexible; amh/
vi  Itisiobe used in badgeting and accounting.

B-COMMITTEE ON THE ROAD MAP FOR THE ADOPTION

© 2025 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 25



New Chart of Accounts Showing the

21 Programs of Government

[1’& — e

E—J

NEW CHARTS OF ACCOUNT (PROGRAMME SEGMENT)- 14 DIGITS

FEDERAL REPUBLIC ur NIGERIA

Program Code Program Description

Content

Remarks

Policies

1. To be determine by tiers
of Government

Policy 1

2. Code not assigned to
Policies because Policy has
not been determined

Policy 2

Policy 3

Policy 4

Policy §

Policy 6

Policy 7

Policy 8

Policy 9

Policy 10

Policy 11

Policy 12

Policy 13

Policy 14

Policy 15

HEHHEHEHEEHEEEEEEEEE

Policy 16

Programe Code |Programe Description Not limited to underlisted
01 Economic Empowerment Through Agriculture (General)
02 Socictal Re-orientation (General)

03 Poverty Alleviation
04 Improvement to Human Health (General)
05 Enhancing Skills and Knowledge (General)

06 Housing and Urban Development (General)

07 Gender (General)

08 Youth (General)

09 Environmental Tmprovement (General)

10 ‘Water Resources and Rural Development

11 Information Communication and Technology (General)
12 Growing the Private Sector

13 Reform of Government and Governance (General)
14 Power (General)

15 Rail (General)

16 Water Ways (General)

17 Road (General)

18 Airways (General)

19 Sea Ports (General)

20 Shipping (General)

2] Qil and Gas Infrastructure (General)
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Table 4 - Index A: Fiscal Transparency

STATUTORY REPORTS PERFORMANCE REPORTS STATISCAL REPORTS
INCLUSION OF BANK INCLUSION OF CAPEX BY
RECONCILIATION | VARIANCE&PRIOR | CAPEXBY | CAPEXBY CAPEXBY | PROGRAMME | 1oTAL SCORE IN
CASH OR ACCURAL STATEMENT YEAR ACTUAL FUNCTION | GEOLOCATION | PROGRAMME | OBJECTIVES | ryy FILLMENT OF

Year [State Parameter 1 Parameter 2 Parameter 3 Parameter4 | Parameter5 Parameter 6 | Parameter7 | PARAMETERS 1-7
2024 |Abia 5

2024 |Anambra
2024 |Enugu
2024 |Gombe
2024 |Benue
2024 |Adamawa
2024 |Imo

2024 |Delta
2024 |Bayelsa
2024 |Plateau
2024 |Kwara
2024 |Bauchi
2024 |Borno
2024 |Cross River
2024 |Ebonyi
2024 |Edo

2024 |Ekiti

2024 |Kaduna
2024 |Kano
2024 |Katsina
2024 |Kebbi
2024 |Kogi

2024 |Lagos
2024 |Nasarawa
2024 |Niger
2024 |Ogun
2024 |Ondo
2024 |Osun
2024 |Oyo

2024 |Sokoto
2024 |Taraba
2024 |Yobe
2024 |Zamfara
2024 |Akwa lbom
2024 |ligawa
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SCORE | MEANING

1 A SCORE OF 11S AWARDED TO STATES WHO'S PUBLISHED ACCOUNT FULLY COMPLIED WITH A PARAMTER

0.5 A SCORE OF 0.5 IS AWARDED TO STATES WHO'S PUBLISHED ACCOUNT DID NOT FULLY COMPLY WITH A PARAMTER

0 A SCORE OF 0 IS AWARDED TO STATES WHO'S PUBLISHED ACCOUNT DID NOT MAKE ANY ATTEMPTS TO COMPLY WITH A PARAMETER

FRAN Insight: States such as Abia, Anambra, Enugu, and Gombe can be recognized as “Star”
states for their exemplary practice in publishing audited financial statements that provide a
detailed breakdown of capital expenditure by Programme, Geolocation, Functional segments, in
accordance with the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA). These disclosures enhance fiscal
transparency, reinforce the integrity of State Financial Management Information Systems (SIFMIS),
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facilitate effective monitoring of public resources, and set a
benchmark for best practices in public financial management.
However, the most critical finding is a universal failure across two key
parameters. None of the 36 states reported on Parameters 2 and 7,
which require the inclusion of bank reconciliation statements and the
reporting of capital expenditure by programme objectives. This shows
that no state in the federation confirmed the accuracy of its year-end
cash balances or publicly linked its capital spending to clear,
measurable, and time-bound outcomes.

Table 5 - Index B: Fiscal Independence

Year | State Rank Index Score

2024 | Enugu 1 0.68
2024 | Lagos 2 0.78
2024 | Abia 3 1.56
2024 | Kwara 4 1.60
2024 | Anambra 5 1.66
2024 | Edo 6 1.85
2024 | Jigawa 7 2.07
2024 | Delta 8 2.18
2024 | Bayelsa 9 2.19
2024 | Ogun 10 2.30
2024 | Nasarawa 11 2.53
2024 | Osun 12 2.58
2024 | Kano 13 2.75
2024 | Kaduna 14 2.90
2024 | Oyo 15 3.02
2024 | Borno 16 3.06
2024 | Imo 17 3.17
2024 | Zamfara 18 3.49
2024 | Ondo 19 3.58
2024 | Gombe 20 3.68
2024 | Katsina 21 3.73
2024 | Akwa lbom 22 4.02
2024 | Ekiti 23 4.71
2024 | Bauchi 24 4.72
2024 | Adamawa 25 4.80
2024 | Niger 26 4.86
2024 | Cross River 27 5.06
2024 | Sokoto 28 5.22
2024 | Taraba 29 5.43
2024 | Kebbi 30 5.51
2024 | Benue 31 5.55
2024 | Ebonyi 32 5.72
2024

2024

2024

SUMMARY OF SCORES

No. of States with a Total Score of 7

No. of States with a Total Score of 6

No. of States with a Total Score of 5

No. of States with a Total Score of 4

No. of States with a Total Score of 3

No. of States with a Total Score of 3

NIN = O M O

No. of States with a Total Score of 2

24

No. of States with a Total Score of 1

N

No. of States with a Total Score of 0

Total

36
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Index B: States that rank higher on Index B demonstrate relatively low reliance on federally

distributed revenues, indicating stronger fiscal independence and a higher potential for viability if

considered as self-sustaining entities. Conversely, states with lower rankings on Index B face the

dual challenge of either expanding their Internally Generated Revenue (IGR) in line with their

expenditure demands or reducing operating costs to achieve greater efficiency. Furthermore, these

lower-ranking states need to intensify efforts to strengthen their business environment and

enhance domestic resource mobilization capacity

Table 6 - Index C: Fiscal Growth

Year | State Rank Index Score

2024 | Enugu 1 3.81
2024 | Katsina 2 2.16
2024 | Bayelsa 3 1.74
2024 | Borno 4 1.42
2024 | Abia 5 1.29
2024 | Osun 6 0.96
2024 | Akwalbom 7 0.76
2024 | Kano 8 0.62
2024 | Niger 9 0.55
2024 | Nasarawa 10 0.54
2024 | Taraba 10 0.54
2024 | Lagos 12 0.48
2024 | Edo 13 0.46
2024 | Cross River 14 0.42
2024 | Gombe 15 0.37
2024 | Kwara 16 0.36
2024 | Kaduna 17 0.35
2024 | Ogun 18 0.34
2024 | Ekiti 19 0.29
2024 | Oyo 20 0.27
2024 | Delta 21 0.24
2024 | Sokoto 22 0.21
2024 | Jigawa 22 0.21
2024 | Plateau 24 0.20
2024 | Anambra 25 0.19
2024 | Adamawa 25 0.19
2024 | Kogi 27 0.16
2024 | Zamfara 28 0.15
2024 | Imo 29 0.11
2024 | Ondo 30 0.10
2024 | Benue 31 0.09
2024 | Bauchi 32 0.07
2024

2024

2024

Index C: States with higher rankings on Index C have demonstrated consistent year-on-year growth

in internally generated revenue, thereby gradually reducing their dependence on federal transfers.

In contrast, states with lower rankings on this index have experienced weak or negative growth in
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internally generated revenue and continue to rely heavily on federally allocated funds to finance
their budgets.

Table 7 - Index D: Financial Solvency

Year | State Rank Index Score

2024 | Anambra 1 0.21
2024 | Imo 2 0.24
2024 | Delta 3 0.29
2024 | Bayelsa 4 0.30
2024 | Gombe 5 0.31
2024 | Abia 5 0.31
2024 | Enugu 7 0.33
2024 | Akwa lbom 8 0.35
2024 | Katsina 9 0.36
2024 | Kwara 10 0.39
2024 | Taraba 11 0.42
2024 | Kano 12 0.43
2024 | Jigawa 12 0.43
2024 | Edo 14 0.45
2024 | Niger 14 0.45
2024 | Kebbi 16 0.52
2024 | Ebonyi 17 0.55
2024 | Osun 18 0.59
2024 | Borno 19 0.60
2024 | Yobe 20 0.61
2024 | Kaduna 21 0.62
2024 | Lagos 21 0.62
2024 | Benue 23 0.63
2024 | Sokoto 24 0.66
2024 | Nasarawa 25 0.67
2024 | Bauchi 26 0.69
2024 | Ondo 27 0.77
2024 | Ekiti 28 0.78
2024 | Adamawa 29 0.83
2024 | Kogi 30 0.88
2024 | Zamfara 31 0.94
2024 | Plateau 32 1.03
2024

2024

2024

Index D: States that achieve higher rankings on Index D demonstrate comparatively greater fiscal
capacity, as they retain a larger proportion of public revenue for the implementation of capital
expenditure after meeting debt servicing obligations and recurrent operating costs. Conversely,
states with lower Index D rankings possess relatively limited fiscal space for capital investment,
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thereby heightening the likelihood of either under-implementation of capital projects or increased
dependence on borrowing.

Table 8 - Index E: Fiscal Indebtedness

Year | State Rank Index Score

2024 | Delta 1 0.08
2024 | Akwa Ibom 2 0.09
2024 | Bayelsa 3 0.10
2024 | Borno 4 0.13
2024 | Osun 5 0.15
2024 | Anambra 6 0.16
2024 | Yobe 7 0.17
2024 | Abia 8 0.19
2024 | Kwara 8 0.19
2024 | Enugu 8 0.19
2024 | Katsina 11 0.21
2024 | Kano 11 0.21
2024 | Imo 13 0.23
2024 | Kogi 13 0.23
2024 | Gombe 15 0.24
2024 | Benue 16 0.26
2024 | Nasarawa 16 0.26
2024 | Sokoto 16 0.26
2024 | Taraba 16 0.26
2024 | Ondo 20 0.27
2024 | Kebbi 21 0.29
2024 | Ekiti 21 0.29
2024 | Niger 23 0.30
2024 | Plateau 24 0.33
2024 | Zamfara 25 0.38
2024 | Ogun 26 0.40
2024 | Lagos 27 0.46
2024 | Jigawa 28 0.49
2024 | Edo 29 0.50
2024 | Bauchi 29 0.50
2024 | Oyo 31 0.51
2024 | Kaduna 32 0.52
2024

2024

2024

Index E: States with higher rankings on Index E demonstrate greater fiscal capacity to borrow,
supported by more sustainable debt profiles. This sustainability is largely influenced by key
indicators such as the total debt-to-revenue ratio, loan repayment to-revenue ratio, personnel
cost-to-revenue ratio and new loans taken to-revenue ratio. Conversely, states that rank lower on
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Index E must exercise caution in contracting additional debt, as their fiscal indicators suggest they
are already at or approaching critical solvency thresholds across these same parameters.

Table 9 - Index F: Fiscal Investment

Year State Rank Index Score

2024 Imo 1 0.27
2024 Abia 2 0.30
2024 Anambra 3 0.33
2024 Ebonyi 4 0.36
2024 Enugu 5 0.37
2024 Gombe 5 0.37
2024 Katsina 5 0.37
2024 Taraba 8 0.39
2024 Bayelsa 9 0.41
2024 Niger 10 0.49
2024 Kwara 11 0.50
2024 Jigawa 12 0.54
2024 Zamfara 13 0.56
2024 Akwa Ibom 14 0.58
2024 Edo 15 0.62
2024 Nasarawa 16 0.71
2024 Kebbi 17 0.76
2024 Yobe 18 0.80
2024 Adamawa 19 0.81
2024 Kano 20 0.83
2024 Sokoto 21 0.86
2024 Borno 22 0.92
2024 Lagos 23 0.93
2024 Oyo 24 0.96
2024 Kaduna 25 0.97
2024 Benue 26 1.19
2024 Osun 26 1.19
2024 Bauchi 28 1.56
2024 Ekiti 29 1.65
2024 Delta 30 1.91
2024 Kogi 31 2.33
2024 Cross River 32 2.45
2024

2024

2024

Index F: States with higher rankings on Index F demonstrate a stronger commitment to capital
expenditure relative to operating costs. Conversely, states with lower rankings on the index adopt
financial strategies that prioritize operating expenses over capital investments. Such states are

therefore underinvesting in initiatives that enhance their human capital development profile

© 2025 [T

2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 32



Table 10 - Fiscal Performance Index (FPI)

Year State Index B Rank|Index C Rank|Index D Rank|Index E Rank|Index F Rank| Score | Rank
2024 |[Enugu 1 1 7 8 5 4.4 1
2024 Abia 3 5 5 8 2 4.6 2
2024 Bayelsa 9 3 4 3 9 5.6 3
2024 |/Anambra 5 25 1 6 3 8 4
2024 [Katsina 21 2 9 11 5 9.6 5
2024 Kwara 4 16 10 8 11 9.8 6
2024 |[Akwa Ibom 22 7 8 2 14 10.6 7
2024 Gombe 20 15 5 15 5 12 8
2024 imo 17 29 2 13 1 12.4 9
2024 Delta 8 21 3 1 30 12.6 10
2024 [Kano 13 8 12 11 20 12.8 11
2024 Borno 16 4 19 4 22 13 12
2024 Osun 12 6 18 5 26 13.4 13
2024 Taraba 29 10 11 16 8 14.8 14
2024 Edo 6 13 14 29 15 15.4 15
2024 |Nasarawa 11 10 25 16 16 15.6 16
2024 Jigawa 7 22 12 28 12 16.2 17
2024 |Niger 26 9 14 23 10 16.4 18
2024 |Lagos 2 12 21 27 23 17 19
2024 Kaduna 14 17 21 32 25 21.8 20
2024 Sokoto 28 22 24 16 21 22.2 21
2024 Yobe 35 33 20 7 18 22.6 22
2024 Zamfara 18 28 31 25 13 23 23
2024 [Kebbi 30 35 16 21 17 23.8 24
2024 [EKkiti 23 19 28 21 29 24 25
2024 |0gun 10 18 33 26 34 24.2 26
2024 [Ebonyi 32 36 17 34 4 24.6 27
2024 Oyo 15 20 35 31 24 25 28
2024 Benue 31 31 23 16 26 25.4 29
2024 Adamawa 25 25 29 33 19 26.2 30
2024 Ondo 19 30 27 20 35 26.2 30
2024 [Kogi 34 27 30 13 31 27 32
2024 Bauchi 24 32 26 29 28 27.8 33
2024 (Cross River 27 14 34 35 32 28.4 34
2024 Plateau 33 24 32 24 33 29.2 35

This index provides a comparative assessment of states’ fiscal performance by averaging their
ranking scores across Indexes B to F. A higher position on the index reflects stronger capacity in
resource mobilization, allocation, and utilization, indicating that such states demonstrate greater
efficiency, accountability, and discipline in public financial management. Conversely, states with
lower rankings are comparatively less effective in managing their fiscal resources, which may
highlight weaknesses in budget execution, expenditure prioritization, or overall financial
governance.
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Section 3: Zonal Fiscal Dynamics of Nigerian
States in 2024
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A Tale of Six Zones: Comparative Geopolitical Fiscal Analysis in 2024

15T 3T 8T 1) "t 2T

Total Revenue in 2024 Total IGR in 2024 Capital Expenditure in 2024 Recurrent Expenditure in 2024

Accumulated Debt in 2024 Loan Repayment

New Loans Taken Each Year by Geo Location
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Personnel Costs in 2024 by GEO Location Accumulated Debt
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GEO Location 4.17T, GEO Location
@ South West

® South South
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GEO Location — 7.62T @ North West

® North Central @ North Central
@ North East @ South East

/
@ South East 4.67T @ North East

Disaggregating the national data into Nigeria's six geopolitical zones provides a more nuanced
understanding of regional fiscal trends and priorities. This zonal analysis reveals that while the
revenue windfall was a nationwide phenomenon, the strategic response in terms of expenditure
choices and debt management varied significantly, likely reflecting underlying differences in

economic structures, governance capacity, and political priorities.
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Revenue Distribution and Growth Across Zones

The impact of the subsidy removal was felt across all six zones, but not uniformly. The South-South
zone, being the primary oil-producing region, naturally saw the largest absolute increase in
revenue. However, when viewed through the lens of percentage growth, a different picture
emerges. The North West and North East zones, which traditionally have lower revenue bases,
experienced some of the most dramatic percentage increases in total revenue in 2024 compared
to 2023. This highlights the equalizing potential of the increased federation account distributions.

For instance, the North East saw its average state revenue jump by approximately 157%, while the
North West experienced a 129% increase. The South West, which includes the economic
powerhouse of Lagos, saw a comparatively smaller but still massive average increase of 98%. The
South-South's average revenue grew by 126%. This distribution pattern suggests that the new
revenue formula provided a significant fiscal lift to all regions, with a particularly transformative
effect on the finances of states in the northern zones. The growth in Internally Generated Revenue
(IGR) also showed zonal variations. The South West continued to lead in absolute IGR, but zones
like the South East demonstrated remarkable IGR growth, suggesting a concerted effort to improve

local revenue collection in tandem with the statutory allocation windfall.

Zonal Expenditure Priorities: Capital vs. Recurrent Expenditure

The most telling aspect of the zonal analysis is the divergence in expenditure priorities. By
examining the ratio of capital expenditure to total revenue, we can construct a clear picture of
which regions collectively prioritized long-term investment over immediate consumption. The data
reveals a striking North-South divide in this regard. The three northern zones which include North
West, North East, and North Central demonstrated a stronger collective propensity for capital
investment in 2024. The North West, for example, allocated an average of 59% of its total revenue
to capital expenditure. The North East and North Central followed with 53% and 51%, respectively.
In contrast, the southern zones, despite having larger absolute revenues, allocated a smaller
proportion to capital projects. The South West allocated an average of 41%, the South East 50%,
and the South South 39%. This does not imply that southern states invested less in absolute terms,
but rather that a larger share of their significantly increased revenue was absorbed by recurrent

expenditures.
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Fiscal Sustainability at the Zonal Level

The management of public debt in the face of a revenue boom is a critical test of fiscal discipline.
A prudent government would use such an opportunity to reduce its debt burden, thereby lowering
future debt service costs and enhancing long-term fiscal space. The zonal data presents a mixed
picture of debt management. The North West and South East zones showed the most discipline,
with average accumulated debt growing by a relatively modest 19% and 15%, respectively, despite
some states taking on new loans for specific projects. The South South also managed its debt
profile relatively well, with an average increase of just 4%. However, the North Central and South
West zones exhibited more concerning trends, with average accumulated debt increasing by 31%
and 34%, respectively. This suggests that in these zones, the surge in revenue was not consistently
used to consolidate fiscal positions; instead, many states continued to borrow, potentially for
consumption rather than investment, a practice that undermines the long-term benefits of the

revenue windfall.

The following table provides a consolidated view of these key fiscal metrics, allowing for a direct
comparison of the performance of the six geopolitical zones in navigating the new fiscal landscape

of 2024.

Table 11 - Comparative Fiscal Performance by Geopolitical Zone

Avg. Total Revenue % |Avg. IGR % Change |Avg. Capex as % of Avg. RecEx as % of Avg. Accumulated Debt %
Geopolitical Zone |[Change (2023-2024) (2023-2024) Total Revenue (2024) |Total Revenue (2024) |Change (2023-2024)
North Central 122.9% 51.5% 51.3% 71.9% 31.4%
North East 157.0% 61.1% 52.8% 60.1% 27.5%
North West 129.2% 46.8% 58.7% 58.9% 19.1%
South East 129.0% 148.9% 50.1% 40.5% 14.5%
South South* 126.1% 94.7% 38.6% 51.3% 4.4%
South West 98.4% 47.9% 41.3% 78.5% 34.0%

Note: Data for Rivers State was unavailable for 2024 and is excluded from the South South zonal averages for that year.
RecEx - Recurrent Expenditure

The above table serves as a powerful diagnostic tool. It clearly illustrates the regional disparities in
fiscal governance. The northern zones' pivot towards higher capital investment ratios in 2024 is
evident, as is the remarkable IGR performance in the South East. Conversely, the rising debt levels
and high recurrent expenditure ratios in the South West and North Central zones raise important
questions about fiscal sustainability and the efficiency of public spending in those regions. These
zonal trends provide the essential context for a more granular examination of the individual states

that constitute them.
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States in the North Central geopolitical zone (Benue, Kogi, Kwara, Nasarawa, Niger & Plateau)
showed a mixed but generally positive trend in total revenue growth in 2024, ranging from 55.02%
(Plateau) to 173.63% (Kogi). While states like Niger and Kwara channeled the funds into massive
capital projects, others like Benue saw more moderate increases. Debt management was a key
theme, with several states like Kogi and Plateau dedicating substantial portions of their increased
revenue to loan repayments, though often while still accumulating new debt.

¢ Total Revenue Growth: Kogi (102.47%) and Niger (135.14%) experienced substantial
revenue increases. Plateau, however, reported a modest 22% change, indicating potential
stagnation in statutory allocation.

¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel costs generally increased across the zone, notably in Kogi
(8110.19 billion) likely as a result of the significant increase in revenue, and Niger (N65.97
billion).

¢ Loan Repayment & New Loans: Benue and Kwara reported no new loans, with Benue
significantly increasing loan repayment (8#58.05 billion). Conversely, Niger and Nasarawa
took on substantial new loans (8104.04 billion and 860.65 billion respectively), contributing
to higher accumulated debt in Niger.

¢ Accumulated Debt: Niger saw a significantincrease in accumulated debt (8293.67 billion),
while Benue managed a decrease.

e« Capital Expenditure: Niger led the zone with very high capital expenditure (8¥348.84 billion),
largely supported by new loans. Kwara also showed strong capital investment (8212.09
billion).

Overall, the North Central zone presents a varied picture, with some states leveraging revenue
growth for significant capital investment and debt management, while others face challenges with
stagnant revenue and rising personnel costs or new borrowings.
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North East
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States in the North East geopolitical zone (Adamawa, Bauchi, Borno, Gombe, Taraba, Yobe), a
region grappling with security challenges, directed the 2024 revenue surge primarily toward
massive increases in capital expenditure. Borno and Adamawa, in particular, more than doubled
their capital expenditures. However, debt accumulation remains a persistent issue, with most

states in the zone continuing to take on significant new loans despite the improved revenue profile.

¢ Total Revenue Growth: Gombe (172.72%), Borno (138.44%), Taraba (126.11%), and Yobe
(116.07%) recorded impressive revenue surges.

¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel costs generally increased, but not disproportionately to
revenue growth in most states. Gombe's personnel costs increased by 65.00% to ¥37.79
billion.

¢ LoanRepayment & New Loans: Borno and Yobe managed to avoid new loans in 2024, while
significantly increasing loan repayments. Gombe and Taraba, however, took on very high
new loans (8204.13 billion and &#64.61 billion respectively).

e Accumulated Debt: Borno and Yobe saw decreases in accumulated debt. Gombe's
accumulated debt increased by 13.20% despite its high new loans.

e« Capital Expenditure: All states in this zone showed substantial capital expenditure, with
Taraba (8224.73 billion) and Gombe (#206.38 billion) leading.

The Northeast geopolitical zone generally utilized its revenue growth for significant capital
investment, with some states demonstrating fiscal prudence in debt management, while others

continued to rely heavily on new borrowings.
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North West
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The North West geopolitical zone (Jigawa, Kaduna, Kano, Katsina, Kebbi, Sokoto & Zamfara)
exhibited a wide range of revenue growth in 2024, from modest (Zamfara at 21.99%) to very high
(Katsina at 141.25%). The North West states showed a strong inclination to translate the 2024
revenue boom into capital development. States like Jigawa and Katsina carried out exceptionally
large capital expenditures. However, debt remains a major challenge, with states like Kaduna and

Jigawa now carrying very high debt burdens, often exacerbated by continued borrowing in 2024.

¢ Total Revenue Growth: Kaduna (149.09%), Katsina (141.25%), Sokoto (134.08%), and Kano
(103.45%) experienced robust revenue increases.

¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel costs generally increased across the zone, with Kano having
high absolute personnel costs (884.09 billion).

¢ Loan Repayment & New Loans: Katsina reported no new loans, while Kaduna, Sokoto and
Kano took on significant new loans (883.04 billion, N44.04 billion and 29.86 billion
respectively). Jigawa had minimal new loans.

¢ Accumulated Debt: Kaduna, Jigawa and Katsina had very high accumulated debts (8653
billion, ¥573.74, and #%231.71 billion respectively), with Katsina's debt increasing
significantly.

e Capital Expenditure: Most states in this zone showed strong commitment to capital
expenditure, notably Katsina (8#304.76 billion) and Jigawa (8256.41 billion).

The Northwest geopolitical zone shows a mixed fiscal approach, with high capital investments
often accompanied by growing accumulated debt, suggesting a reliance on borrowing to fund

development.
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South East

Total Revenue By Geo Location @ South East
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The South East geopolitical zone (Abia, Anambra, Ebonyi, Enugu & Imo) aggressively utilized the
2024 revenue increase to boost capital spending. Enugu and Abia State, in particular, recorded
staggering increases in capital expenditure while simultaneously managing or reducing recurrent
costs. However, debt levels remain a concern in states like Imo, which continued to acquire

significant new loans.

¢ Total Revenue Growth: Enugu (181.41%), Imo (176.47%) Abia (161.20%), and Anambra
(107.59%) recorded exceptional revenue increases. Ebonyi's growth was more modest
(32.10%).

e Personnel Costs: Personnel costs increased across the zone, but Abia and Anambra
managed to keep the growth relatively contained compared to their revenue surges.

¢ Loan Repayment & New Loans: All states in this zone increased loan repayments. New
loans were generally moderate compared to other zones, with Abia and Enugu taking on
relatively small amounts.

¢ Accumulated Debt: Abia and Imo managed to decrease accumulated debt, while Enugu
and Anambra saw moderate increases. Ebonyi's accumulated debt increased significantly.

¢ Capital Expenditure: All states in this zone demonstrated very high capital expenditure,
with Enugu (8331.51 billion) leading, indicating a strong focus on development.

The Southeast geopolitical zone generally leveraged its substantial revenue growth for significant
capital investment and, in some cases, improved debt positions, showcasing effective fiscal

management.
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The South South geopolitical zone, comprising Akwa Ibom, Bayelsa, Cross River, Delta, Edo and
Rivers was among the primary beneficiaries of the 2024 revenue surge, largely due to its status as
Nigeria's core oil-producing region. States such as Delta, Rivers, and Akwa Ibom received colossal
federal allocations, resulting in some of the highest capital expenditures in the country.

¢ Total Revenue Growth: Bayelsa (162.18%), Akwa Ibom (135.15%) and Edo (104.66%) had
very high revenue increases, while Cross River (98.63%) and Delta (90.11%) also showed
robust growth.

¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel costs were notably high in Delta (8130.82 billion) and Cross
River (¥128.26 billion).

¢ Loan Repayment & New Loans: Akwa Ibom, Bayelsa and Delta reported no new loans, with
Delta significantly decreasing loan repayments and Bayelsa doubling the amount spent on
loan repayments in the previous year. Cross River and Edo took on substantial new loans
(N48.26 billion and 8#35.56 billion respectively).

e Accumulated Debt: Edo and Cross River carried very high accumulated debts (H768.73
billion and #529.28 billion respectively), with Edo's debt increasing significantly. Delta
managed a substantial decrease in accumulated debt.

e Capital Expenditure: Akwa Ilbom (8524.78 billion), Bayelsa (8#394.3 billion) and Edo
(¥262.75 billion) showed exceptionally high capital expenditure, indicating aggressive
development agendas.

However, fiscal management practices varied significantly among the states. While Akwa Ibom
demonstrated a more restrained and balanced approach to spending, states like Cross River and
Edo experienced a sharp rise in debt levels despite the increased revenue. This divergence
highlights the importance of prudent fiscal planning and debt sustainability, even in periods of
financial windfalls.
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South West

Total Revenue By Geo Location ®South West
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The South West geopolitical zone (Ekiti, Lagos, Ogun, Ondo, Osun & Oyo) experienced varied but
generally strong revenue growth in 2024. This led to massive capital expenditure across the zone,
with states like Ekiti and Oyo recording triple-digit percentage increases. IGR performance was a
standout feature, with Lagos crossing the trillion Naira mark and Ogun also posting very strong
numbers. However, debt accumulation and high recurrent spending remain significant challenges
for several states in the region, raising questions about the long-term sustainability of their fiscal

strategies.

¢ Total Revenue Growth: Ekiti (159.18%), Osun (128.82%), and Ondo (114.49%) recorded
high revenue increases. Lagos, despite its massive absolute revenue, had a moderate
percentage increase (68.34%).

¢ Personnel Costs: Lagos had the highest absolute personnel costs (#316.39 billion). Ekiti
and Osun also saw notable increases in personnel costs.

¢ Loan Repayment & New Loans: Ondo significantly increased loan repayments (896.06
billion) and reduced accumulated debt. Lagos took on the highest new loans (8216.10
billion).

¢ Accumulated Debt: Lagos had by far the highest accumulated debt (82.92 trillion), which
increased significantly. Ekiti also saw a substantialincrease in accumulated debt. Osun and
Ondo managed to decrease their accumulated debt.

e Capital Expenditure: Lagos led the nation in capital expenditure (81.06 trillion), heavily
financed by new loans. Ekiti and Osun also showed strong capital investments.

The South West zone is characterized by Lagos's aggressive, debt-financed development, while
other states like Osun and Ondo demonstrated more balanced approaches, leveraging revenue

growth for both investment and debt reduction.

© 2025 [FETN 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 43



State Revenue Windfalls and the Erosion of Civil Servant Purchasing Power in
Nigeria (2024)

Purchasing power of Civil Servants vs Fuel Subsidy Disbursement
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In 2024, a confluence of federal-level economic reforms, primarily the removal of the petrol subsidy
and the devaluation of the Naira, precipitated an unprecedented surge in revenues flowing into the
federation account. Consequently, state governments became the beneficiaries of a historic fiscal
windfall. However, a detailed examination of state-level fiscal data reveals that this dramatic

increase in public resources was not proportionately shared with the public sector workforce.

The Disparity Ratio: To measure the gap between the growth in state revenue and public sector
salaries, a "Disparity Ratio" was created. This metric is calculated by dividing the percentage
increase in a state's statutory allocation by the percentage increase in its personnel costs. A ratio
greater than 1 indicates that revenue grew faster than salaries, quantifying the degree to which the

financial gains of the state were not passed on to its workforce.

Macroeconomic Context: The analysis of salary increases must be viewed within the context of
Nigeria's severe economic climate. The average headline inflation rate for 2024 was a staggering
33.24%. This figure serves as the critical benchmark; any nominal salary increase below this rate

represents a decrease in real-term income and purchasing power for civil servants.

Real Change in Purchasing Power: When nominal salary adjustments are measured against the
33.24% inflation rate, the actual impact on civil servants becomes clear. For employees in most
states, the modest salary increases were entirely erased by inflation, resulting in a significant real
term pay cut. Only a handful of states provided raises that outpaced inflation, leading to a genuine,

albeit rare, increase in purchasing power.
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The Impact of Food Inflation: Civil servants are experiencing more severe economic hardship than

headline inflation indicates. Food inflation reached 39.84% in December 2024, which is much

higher than overall inflation. Since food makes up a large part of spending for lower-income

households, the effective inflation rate for public sector workers is significantly higher, leadingto a

sharp decline in their purchasing power.

State level Inflation: Inflationary pressures vary significantly across regions, with state-level data

from the Nigerian Bureau of Statistics showing that Bauchi and Sokoto recorded the highest all-

items inflation rates in December 2024 at 44.06% and 42.43%, respectively. Civil servants in these

high-inflation states who receive modest nominal salary increases face a disproportionate erosion

of their realincome compared to counterparts in lower-inflation areas. This regional disparity adds

a further dimension of inequality to the broader decline in welfare across the country.

Table 12 - Comparative Analysis of Revenue Growth vs. Real Change in Purchasing Power

Statutory Allocation |Personnel Cost % |Disparity |[Average National |State-Level Inflation |Average Real Change in State-Le.vel Real .
State - . A . o Change in Purchasing
% Increase Increase Ratio Inflation (2024) (June 2024) Purchasing Power (%)
Power (%)
Abia 166.50% 9.40% 17.7 33.24% 37.05% -23.80% -27.70%
Adamawa 57.80% 17.90% 3.2 33.24% 31.84% -15.30% -13.90%
Akwa Ibom 141.30% 14.80% 9.5 33.24% 35.10% -18.40% -20.30%
Anambra 131.70% 4.50% 29.1 33.24% 34.78% -28.70% -30.30%
Bauchi 82.20% 3.90% 21 33.24% 43.95% -29.30% -40.10%
Bayelsa 124.10% 30.60% 4.1 33.24% 36.13% -2.70% -5.50%
Benue 117.60% 123.60% 1 33.24% 27.52% 90.40% 96.10%
Borno 138.00% 93.40% 1.5 33.24% 25.90% 60.20% 67.50%
Cross River 113.50% 74.20% 1.5 33.24% 34.93% 41.00% 39.30%
Delta 105.30% 39.80% 2.6 33.24% 29.80% 6.50% 10.00%
Ebonyi 46.30% 73.60% 0.6 33.24% 35.69% 40.40% 37.90%
Edo 127.30% 39.70% 3.2 33.24% 34.47% 6.50% 5.20%
Ekiti 202.70% 90.30% 2.2 33.24% 34.11% 57.10% 56.20%
Enugu 117.60% 45.50% 2.6 33.24% 30.44% 12.20% 15.10%
Gombe 193.90% 65.00% & 33.24% 35.56% 31.80% 29.40%
Imo 166.70% 31.40% 5.8 33.24% 30.55% -1.99% 0.71%
Jigawa 98.20% 37.80% 2.6 33.24% 36.42% 4.50% 1.40%
Kaduna 207.00% 26.20% 7.9 33.24% 34.13% -7.10% -7.90%
Kano 112.70% 17.70% 6.4 33.24% 33.71% -15.50% -16.00%
Katsina 136.10% 63.40% 2.2 33.24% 29.21% 30.10% 34.20%
Kebbi 76.20% 24.00% 3.2 33.24% 35.62% -9.20% -11.60%
Kogi 193.80% 53.10% 3.6 33.24% 39.91% 19.90% 13.20%
Kwara 102.10% 56.30% 1.8 33.24% 36.64% 23.10% 19.70%
Lagos 120.80% 39.40% 3.1 33.24% 36.37% 6.20% 3.00%
Nasarawa 53.10% 8.80% 6.1 33.24% 29.32% -24.50% -20.50%
Niger 147.00% 98.80% 1.5 33.24% 36.02% 65.60% 62.80%
Ogun 178.60% 15.60% 11.5 33.24% 33.86% -17.70% -18.30%
Ondo 151.50% 12.70% 11.9 33.24% 37.05% -20.50% -24.40%
Osun 138.30% 87.10% 1.6 33.24% 36.58% 53.90% 50.50%
Oyo 33.10% 24.20% 1.4 33.24% 39.15% -9.00% -15.00%
Plateau 155.80% 52.30% & 33.24% 32.08% 19.10% 20.20%
Rivers N/A N/A N/A 33.24% 37.19% N/A N/A
Sokoto 154.10% 10.80% 14.3 33.24% 34.65% -22.40% -23.90%
Taraba 134.10% 60.30% 2.2 33.24% 30.33% 27.10% 30.00%
Yobe 142.20% 48.40% 2.9 33.24% 33.02% 15.20% 15.40%
Zamfara 24.30% 12.70% 1.9 33.24% 34.71% -20.50% -22.00%
© 2025 m 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 45




The central finding of this analysis is stark. While statutory allocations to states grew by an average
of 123.5%, personnel welfare and salary expenditures increased by a comparatively modest 45.4%
across the federation. This great divergence in growth rates was compounded by a severe
macroeconomic crisis. With the average annual inflation rate for 2024 reaching a staggering
33.24%, the nominal gains in public sector wages were overwhelmingly negated in most states. The
result has been a catastrophic decline in the real income and purchasing power of civil servants,
with the average public sector employee experiencing an effective real wage increase of 12.16%, a

figure that masks the deep cuts felt in many states.

This report quantifies the policy choices made by state governments in the face of this revenue
boom, revealing a widespread tendency to decouple revenue growth from recurrent personnel
costs. The implications of this trend are far-reaching and pose significant systemic risks. The sharp
erosion of purchasing power is fueling plummeting morale within the public sector, creating fertile
ground for diminished productivity, increased corruption, and heightened labor unrest. The
widening chasm between state fiscal capacity and public servant welfare threatens to erode the

social compact and undermine the long-term quality and stability of public service delivery.
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Section 4: State-by-State Impact Analysis

This section delves into the specific financial implications for each state, examining how the
change in total revenue in 2024 correlated with shifts in Internally Generated Revenue, Personnel

Costs, Loan & Bond Repayment, Acquisition of New Loans, Accumulated Debt, and Capital

Expenditure.
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Abia: God's Own State

Fiscal Transperency Score 5/7

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Movement in Total Revenue, Capital Expenditure , Accumulated Debt, Personnel Costs, New
Loans and Loan & Bond Repayment by Year (2020 - 2024)
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Abia State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Abia State's finances in 2024 were marked by a dramatic strategic shift enabled by a
161% increase in total revenue, from &#125.1 billion in 2023 to 8#326.8 billion. The state government
channeled this windfall decisively into developmental projects while exercising restraint on

operational costs.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: The most significant change was a monumental 246% increase in
capital expenditure, which soared from 862.2 billion in 2023 to 8215.5 billion in 2024. This

indicates a clear policy to prioritize infrastructure and long-term projects.

¢ Total IGR: Internally Generated Revenue showed exceptional growth, rising by 129% from
#&18.0 billion in 2023 to N41.3 billion in 2024, demonstrating enhanced revenue collection

capacity.

e Personnel Costs: The impact on Personnel Costs was a relatively contained 9.39%
increase, from 25.97 billion Naira in 2023 to 28.41 billion Naira in 2024. In 2023, a 29.14%
nominalincrease in statutory allocation resulted in a significant real purchasing power loss
of41.41%. Despite a massive 166.55% nominalincrease in 2024, the state's real purchasing

power still declined by 27.66% due to a high state-level inflation rate of 37.05%.
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¢ Recurrent Expenditure: In a display of fiscal discipline, Abia State reduced its total
recurrent expenditure by 27%, from %139.8 billion in 2023 to #102.4 billion in 2024. Thisis a
commendable move that freed up more funds for capital investment.

¢ Debt Management: The state increased its loan and bond repayments by 46% to %38.3
billion. Concurrently, it reduced its acquisition of new loans by 63% and managed to

decrease its accumulated debt slightly by 5.3% to &177.3 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The increase in capital spending is commendable, and the breakdown of the #215.5 billion by
Programme, Function, and Geolocation provides useful insight. However, the state's financial
report would benefit from the inclusion of additional critical details. The specific objectives for what
these projects aim to accomplish, for whom, and within what timeframe are not specified. The
absence of clear objective details makes it difficult for the public to assess the potential impact of
this spending, track implementation, or hold the government accountable for delivering tangible

results.

The effective use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System
(GIFMIS) can support the implementation of Programme objectives by enabling transparent,
traceable, and efficient budget execution aligned with stated goals. Additionally, state
Accountants-General should fully utilize GIFMIS for real-time, online payments to ensure strict
compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines, thereby

enhancing fiscal discipline and accountability.

As a hub for light manufacturing, Abia could use its increased revenue to develop industrial clusters
in Aba and support small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) to boost IGR. To address its unique
challenge of poor urban infrastructure, the state could invest in road construction and waste

management.
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Adamawa: Land of Beauty
Fiscal Transperency Score 3.5/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 30

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Actual Capital Expenditure By Geo Location Budgeted Capital Expenditure By Geo Location
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Adamawa State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Adamawa State's total revenue saw a 51.3% increase in 2024, rising to 8#156.0 billion

from #103.1 billion in 2023. The state government utilized this growth to more than double its

capital expenditure, supported by strong IGR performance and continued borrowing.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: The state prioritized capital projects with a 135.3% increase in
expenditure, which jumped from 850.8 billion in 2023 to #119.6 billion in 2024.

Total IGR: Internally Generated Revenue showed healthy growth, rising by 18.7% from
817.1 billion to 820.3 billion, indicating improved local revenue collection.

Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 17.93% from #32.96 billion in 2023 to
838.87 billion in 2024. Adamawa's 27.85% nominal statutory allocation growth in 2023 was
eroded by inflation, leading to a 19.07% loss in real purchasing power. This trend of real
value loss continued in 2024, where a 57.78% nominal increase still resulted in a 13.91%
decline in real purchasing power as a result of a 31.84% inflation rate.

Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by 53.7% to #128.9 billion.
This was driven by increases across personnel, overheads, and an 81% rise in loan and bond
repayments to 831.4 billion.

Debt Management: The acquisition of new loans increased slightly by 6.7% to §32.0
billion. This continued borrowing contributed to a marginal 1.1% increase in the state's

accumulated debt, which stood at %#231.6 billion.
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FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Adamawa State leveraged its moderate revenue growth to make significant strides in capital
expenditure and debt servicing. Notably, #119.6 billion was allocated to capital projects, reflecting
a strong commitment to infrastructure and developmental initiatives. Despite these efforts,
however, the state's total debt stock experienced a slight increase, and new borrowings also rose.
This indicates that while investment and debt repayment are being prioritized, the overall fiscal
position remains constrained by a growing debt burden that current revenue improvements have

not substantially mitigated.

While the financial report is commendable in many respects, it falls short in key areas that impact
transparency and public accountability. Specifically, capital expenditure by programme was not
disclosed at the summary level, and details regarding specific projects within each programme
were absent. Additionally, there was no breakdown of the capital projects carried out within each
geolocation, preventing stakeholders from understanding where investments are being made. The

report also lacked a summary of capital expenditure by function.

Furthermore, the report does not articulate the objectives of the various projects, what they are
intended to achieve, the target beneficiaries, orthe expected timelines for completion. In summary,
while Adamawa State has demonstrated a proactive approach to development and debt
management, improvements in fiscal transparency and project reporting are essential to foster

greater accountability and informed public engagement.

The effective use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System
(GIFMIS) can support these improvements by aligning budget execution with clearly defined
programme objectives, enabling real-time tracking of expenditures and outcomes. The State
Accountant-General should also leverage GIFMIS for online, real-time payments to ensure full

compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines.

The state could use its increased revenue to rebuild public infrastructure damaged by insurgency
and to support its livestock and fishing industries. IGR could be boosted by creating a framework
for taxing these sectors. The funds could also be used to provide rehabilitation and trauma care for

victims of conflict.
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Akwa Ibom: Land of Promise
Fiscal Transperency Score 1/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 7

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Akwa Ibom State Financial Performance Analysis
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Overview: Akwa Ibom's total revenue more than doubled in 2024 with a 135.1% increase, soaring

to #1.08 trillion from #460.6 billion in 2023. The state used this enormous windfall to massively

scale up its capital projects while effectively managing recurrent costs and reducing its overall

debt.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure surged by 167%, rising from %196.5 billion in

2023 to 8#524.8 billion in 2024, reflecting a huge commitment to developmental projects.

¢ Total IGR: IGR performance was outstanding, with a 76% increase from 843.4 billion to

§76.3 billion.

e Personnel Costs: Personnel costs were 891.06 billion, and loan and bond repayments

were 874.23 billion in 2024. The state saw its 35.63% nominal statutory allocation increase

in 2023 translate into a 27.94% loss of real purchasing power. In 2024, even with a
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substantial 141.33% nominal increase, the state's real purchasing power continued to
decline by 20.29% due to a high state-level inflation of 35.10%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by 56.6% to #380.8 billion.
A significant portion of this was used for debt servicing, as loan and bond repayments more
than doubled with a 102.3% increase to ¥74.2 billion.

¢ Debt Management: No new loans were reported for 2024. This, combined with the
increased repayments, led to a 15.6% reduction in accumulated debt, bringing it down to

§213.1 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The 8524.8 billion allocated to capital expenditure represents a transformative opportunity for
Akwa Ibom State. However, the accompanying financial report falls short of the transparency and
accountability standards required for public scrutiny. The report does not disaggregate capital
expenditure by programme, function, or geolocation, as required by the National Chart of
Accounts. This omission makes it difficult to determine how the investments align with the state’s

development priorities.

More critically, the report lacks clearly defined project objectives. There is no information on the
expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, or implementation timelines. The absence of such
foundational information represents a significant transparency gap, especially given the scale of
the expenditure. The effective use of the Government Integrated Financial Management
Information System (GIFMIS) can help address this gap by linking budget execution to specific
programme objectives and enabling real-time monitoring of project implementation. Additionally,
the state Accountant-General should utilize GIFMIS for online, real-time payments to ensure
compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines, thereby

enhancing financial transparency and accountability.

Akwa Ibom has substantial potential to diversify its economy and boost internally generated
revenue. With its expansive coastline, the state could harness increased revenue to develop a
thriving tourism industry through the construction of world-class resorts and related infrastructure.
In addition, targeted investments in the fishing and maritime sectors could stimulate job creation
and support local economic development. To address the growing threat of coastal erosion, the
state should also prioritize shoreline protection and climate resilience projects, ensuring

sustainable development for vulnerable coastal communities.
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Actual Capital Expenditure By Geo Location Budgeted Capital Expenditure By Geo Location
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Anambra State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Anambra State experienced a significant fiscal expansion in 2024, with total revenue

more than doubling by 107.6% to #351.9 billion from 8169.5 billion in 2023. The state government

leveraged this increase primarily to scale up capital investments.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: Capital spending saw a massive 130.8% increase, rising from &¥94.6
billion in 2023 to &#218.3 billion in 2024, highlighting a strong focus on developmental
projects.

Total IGR: The state's IGR grew by a healthy 18.7%, from &36.2 billion in 2023 to 843.0
billion in 2024, indicating steady progress in local revenue generation.

Personnel Costs: Anambra saw a modest 4.54% increase reaching 830.10 billion. In 2023,
Anambra achieved a real purchasing power gain of 18.75% from a 58.02% nominal increase
in statutory allocation. However, this trend reversed in 2024, as a 131.72% nominalincrease
was insufficient to counter the 34.78% inflation rate, leading to a 30.24% loss in real
purchasing power.

Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased moderately by 15.4% to
N74.2 billion. While this is a controlled rise, the state reduced its direct loan and bond
repayments by 20% compared to 2023.

Debt Management: Anambra took on N4.9 billion in new loans in 2024, a notable figure
given that no new loans were recorded for 2023. Consequently, accumulated debt grew by

9.5% to 8187.9 billion.
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FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The allocation of 8#218.3 billion to capital expenditure reflects a strong commitment to the state’s
development, and itis commendable that the breakdown is provided by Programme, Function, and
Geolocation in line with the NCOA. However, the report would benefit from greater clarity on the
specific objectives of these projects, including what they aim to deliver, who the intended
beneficiaries are, and the expected timelines for completion. Providing this information would
enhance public understanding and oversight and help assess the impact of these investments. The
use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can further
support the effective implementation of Programme objectives by linking spending to measurable
outcomes. In addition, state Accountants-General are encouraged to utilize GIFMIS for online real-
time payments to ensure full compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account

guidelines, thereby strengthening transparency and financial accountability.

Anambra's entrepreneurial spirit could be harnessed by using the increased revenue to establish
an innovation and technology hub, boosting IGR from the tech sector. To tackle its challenge of

erosion, the state could invest in extensive erosion control projects.

© 2025 [FE7Y 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 62



Bauchi: Pearl of Tourism
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Overview: Bauchi State experienced a 67.3% growth in total revenue in 2024, reaching 8255.4

billion from&152.7 billion in 2023. This financial uplift was primarily directed towards managing the

state's high recurrent costs, with a less pronounced, though still significant, increase in capital

spending.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: Capital spending saw a slight 0.17% increase, rising from %98.4

billion in 2023 to 898.5 billion in 2024. This marginal increase suggests that the additional

revenue was absorbed by other fiscal pressures.

Total IGR: The state's IGR grew by a modest 7.1% to 8#32.4 billion from #30.3 billion in 2023.

Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 3.90% reaching #104.15 billion. Bauchi's

34.65% nominal statutory allocation growth in 2023 resulted in a 13.65% loss of real
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purchasing power. This loss steepened in 2024, when an 82.15% nominal increase led to a
more severe 40.05% decline in real purchasing power, driven by the nation's highest
inflation rate of 43.95%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased significantly by 44% to
&176.3 billion. This was largely driven by a 101.7% increase in overhead costs. Loan and
bond repayments decreased by 6% to 823.1 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state reduced its borrowing, with new loans decreasing by 57.3%
to 824.5 billion. Despite this, the accumulated debt still grew by 18.7% to 8#430.8 billion,
making Bauchi one of the mostindebted states.

e by9.5% to&187.9 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Bauchi's revenue growth was partially offset by a significant increase in accumulated debt and
personnel costs, with minimal growth in capital expenditure, indicating fiscal pressures despite
revenue gains. The substantial 8#98.5 billion allocated to capital expenditure requires greater
justification, particularly in light of the state's rising debt profile. The financial report does not
provide a breakdown of expenditures by Programme, function, or geolocation in accordance with
the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), making it difficult to align the reported investments with
the government’s key policy priorities. Additionally, the report does not articulate the specific
objectives of the expenditure, such as measurable outcomes, target populations, and
implementation timelines. The effective use of the Government Integrated Financial Management
Information System (GIFMIS) can help address these gaps by linking capital spending to defined
programme objectives and enabling better tracking of outcomes. Furthermore, the state
Accountant-General should utilize GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure full compliance
with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account guidelines, thereby enhancing fiscal

transparency and control.

With its vast arable land, Bauchi could use its increased revenue to invest in large-scale irrigation
projects, boosting IGR from agriculture. To address the problem of illiteracy, the state could fund a

mass adult education program and build more schools.
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Bayelsa: Glory of All Lands
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Bayelsa State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Bayelsa State, a major oil producer, saw its total revenue more than double in 2024 with
a 127.5% increase to 8#914.6 billion from 8#402.1 billion in 2023. This massive influx of funds was

directed toward a huge increase in capital expenditure and debt repayment.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure surged by 133%, from 8169.2 billion in 2023 to
&394.3 billion in 2024, demonstrating a clear focus on infrastructure.

e Total IGR: IGR performance was phenomenal, with a 173.8% increase from £27.2 billion to
®74.4 billion.

e Personnel Costs: In 2023, a modest 13.27% nominal increase in statutory allocation was
completely eroded by inflation, causing a 27.90% loss in real purchasing power. While the
situation improved in 2024, a 124.11% nominal increase was still not enough to fully
overcome the 36.13% inflation rate, resulting in a smaller real loss of 5.56%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by a modest 10.1% to
§273.6 billion. A large portion of this was for debt servicing, with loan and bond repayments
increasing by 74.9% to 8110.4 billion.

¢ Debt Management: No new loans were reported for 2024. The aggressive repayment
strategy resulted in a 15.3% reduction in accumulated debt, bringing it down to 8168.9

billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The #394.3 billion capital expenditure reported by Bayelsa State represents a significant financial
commitment with the potential to drive meaningful transformation across the state. While the
report provides a breakdown of this expenditure by function, in line with the National Chart of

Accounts (NCOA), several critical gaps in transparency and reporting remain.

Although capital expenditure is summarized by programme segments, the report lacks detail at the
project level. There is no clear indication of the specific initiatives within each programme.
Furthermore, capital expenditure by geolocation is not adequately presented, and the absence of
budget figures for individual projects makes it difficult to track spending against planned
allocations. These gaps limit the ability of stakeholders to assess how resources are being

distributed and whether they align with the state's strategic development priorities.
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More importantly, the report does not provide any defined objectives for capitalinvestments. There
is no indication of expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, or implementation timelines.
Leveraging Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can help
address this gap by aligning capital spending with clearly defined programme objectives and
enabling real-time tracking of progress. In addition, state Accountants-General should utilize
GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s
Treasury Single Account guidelines, thereby strengthening transparency and financial

accountability.

Bayelsa State can boost its IGR by formalizing fisheries and aquaculture, investing in value-added
processing, and developing marine transport to spur commerce. Enhancing land administration,
enforcing urban property taxes, and digitalizing tax systems to capture informal businesses would

further strengthen revenue generation and fiscal autonomy.
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Benue: Food Basket of the Nation
Fiscal Transperency Score 4/7 FPl Rank out of 36 States - 29

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Actual Capital Expenditure By Geo Location Budgeted Capital Expenditure By Geo Location
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State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Benue State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024, registering a 102.5% increase to

N278.1

billion from 8#137.4 billion in 2023. This financial boost was directed towards a significant

increase in capital projects and a massive ramp-up in debt repayment.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: The state's focus on development was evident as capital
expenditure surged by 254%, from &27.7 billion in 2023 to #98.0 billion in 2024.

Total IGR: Internally Generated Revenue showed a modest growth of 9.2%, increasing
from&19.2 billion to&821.0 billion. This suggests that the state's local revenue generation did
not keep pace with the increase in federal allocations.

Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 123.57% reaching 8#45.22 billion. The
state experienced a 35.14% loss in real purchasing power in 2023 despite a 53.55% nominal
increase in statutory allocation. This trend saw a dramatic reversal in 2024, whena 117.62%
nominalincrease translated into a 96.05% real gain in purchasing power against a relatively
low inflation rate of 27.52%.

Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure saw a sharp increase of 86.2%, rising
to 8174.3 billion. A primary driver of this was an enormous 306% increase in loan and bond
repayments, which jumped from 8#14.3 billion in 2023 to #58.1 billion in 2024.

Debt Management: The data for 2023 and 2024 shows no new loans were acquired. The
aggressive repayment strategy led to a 24.3% reduction in the state's accumulated debt,

bringing it down to 8#161.8 billion.
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FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The &98.0 billion allocated to capital expenditure represents a significant investment. Benue
managed to significantly reduce accumulated debt and boost capital expenditure, despite a
substantial rise in personnel costs, indicating a mixed but generally positive fiscal management
trend. Although the financial report provides capital expenditure breakdowns by function, location,
and program, project and Programme coding is inconsistent. The report would be strengthened by
including clearly defined objectives with specific, measurable targets, expected outcomes,
intended beneficiaries, and timelines. This added clarity would enhance transparency and make it

easier for citizens to monitor progress and hold the government accountable.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
support this by linking expenditure to programme objectives and enabling real-time tracking of
implementation. State Accountants-General should also utilize GIFMIS for online real-time
payments to ensure full compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account

guidelines, thereby promoting transparency and effective financial control.

As Nigeria's "Food Basket," Benue could invest in modernizing its agricultural sector with improved
irrigation and storage facilities. To boost IGR, it could tax the agricultural value chain. Increased

revenue could also be used to fund peace-building initiatives to address farmer-herder conflicts.
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Borno: Home of Peace
Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 12

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Borno State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Borno State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024 with a 138.4% increase, reaching
§392.8 billion from #164.8 billion in 2023. The state directed this massive windfall toward a huge
expansion of capital projects and debt servicing.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital spending surged by 119.2%, rising from £82.9 billion in 2023
to #181.8 billion in 2024, reflecting a major focus on post-insurgency reconstruction and
development.

¢ Total IGR: The state achieved a phenomenal 142% growth in IGR, which soared from %22.6
billion to #54.6 billion. This demonstrates remarkable progress in local revenue
mobilization.

¢ Personnel Costs: In 2023, Borno's significant 55.29% nominal statutory allocation

increase was entirely negated by inflation, leadingto a 57.87% loss in real purchasing power.
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The state's fiscal position recovered strongly in 2024, with a 137.88% nominal increase
resulting in a substantial 67.54% real gain, aided by the nation's lowest inflation rate of
25.90%.
¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure more than doubled, increasing by
102.4% to 8¥236.2 billion. A key driver was a 366.1% increase in loan and bond repayments,
which jumped to 8#69.3 billion.
¢ Debt Management: The data indicates no new loans were taken in 2024, a significant shift
from the ®#10 billion borrowed in 2023. This, combined with the loan repayments of 869.3
billion, resulted in a 4.7% reduction in accumulated debt to #94.4 billion.
FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue: Borno
State exhibited strong fiscal management by reducing its accumulated debt, significantly
increasing capital expenditure, and maintaining control over personnel costs, reflecting prudent
and effective use of its revenue growth. The 8181.8 billion allocated to capital projects represents

a critical investment in the state's recovery and long-term development.

However, the financial report falls short on transparency, raising concerns about the effectiveness
and accountability of these expenditures. It does not provide a breakdown of capital spending by
programme, function, or geolocation, as required by the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA). More
importantly, it fails to outline the specific objectives of the capital investments, including the
intended outcomes, target beneficiaries, and expected timelines. This lack of clarity presents a
significant challenge to public accountability, particularly in a post-conflict setting where the
efficient and transparent use of resources is essential for rebuilding trust and ensuring meaningful
development. Leveraging Government Integrated Financial Management Information System
(GIFMIS) can help address these gaps by aligning capital spending with clearly defined Programme
objectives and enabling real-time monitoring of implementation. Additionally, the Accountant-
Generalis encouraged to use GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure full compliance with
the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account guidelines, thereby enhancing transparency

and strengthening financial discipline.

Borno could use its increased revenue primarily for post-insurgency reconstruction, rebuilding
schools, and hospitals. IGR could be boosted by creating a stable environment for economic
activities. The state's most pressing problem of insecurity could be tackled by investing in security

and providing livelihoods for internally displaced persons (IDPs).
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Cross River: The People's Paradise
Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 34

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Cross River State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Cross River State's total revenue nearly doubled in 2024, increasing by 98.6% to 8312.1
billion from&157.1 billion in 2023. The state used this to boost capital spending, but also massively
increased its overhead costs and took on substantial new debt, leading to a dramatic rise in its

already high debt profile.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending grew by a substantial 65.4%, from &#57.7 billion in
2023 to ¥95.5 billion in 2024.
e TotallGR: The staterecorded a solid 41.8% growth in IGR, from #32.6 billion to 8#46.2 billion.
e Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 74.20% reaching 8128.26 billion. A
73.60% nominalincrease in statutory allocation in 2023 was insufficient to counter inflation,

resulting in a 34.64% loss of real purchasing power. This trend reversed in 2024, as a
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113.48% nominal increase successfully translated into a 39.27% real gain against an
inflation rate of 34.93%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased massively by 328.2% to
&337.3 billion. This was driven by a 678% increase in overhead costs and a 328% increase
in loan and bond repayments to #103.3 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state took on N48.3 billion in new loans, an 11% increase from
2023. This, combined with other factors, caused the accumulated debt to surge by 45.4% to

&529.3 billion, one of the highest in the country.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The #95.5 billion allocated to capital expenditure in Cross River State represents a notable
investment in infrastructure and development. However, the effectiveness of this spending is
difficult to assess due to shortcomings in financial reporting. The capital expenditure is not
disaggregated by function, programme, or geolocation as recommended under the National Chart
of Accounts (NCOA). This lack of classification limits transparency and makes it challenging to

understand how funds are aligned with the state's strategic priorities.

Moreover, the financial statement does not provide information on the specific objectives of the
projects being funded, nor does it outline the intended beneficiaries or timelines for
implementation. In the context of rising recurrent expenditure and a high debt burden, the absence
of such critical information limits public accountability and makes it difficult to assess whether
capital investments are aligned with the state’s most urgent priorities. The use of the Government
Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can help bridge this gap by linking
expenditures to clearly defined programme objectives and enabling real-time monitoring of
implementation. Additionally, the state Accountant-General should leverage GIFMIS for online
real-time payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single

Account guidelines, thereby promoting transparency and strengthening financial management.

To boost its internally generated revenue, Cross River State can revitalize its tourism sector—
leveraging attractions like Obudu Mountain Resort and the Calabar Carnival—through improved
infrastructure and promotion. The state can also invest in agriculture and agro-processing by
supporting farmers and market access. Strengthening property tax systems, expanding the tax
base toinclude informal businesses, and adopting digital revenue platforms would further enhance

sustainable revenue growth.

© 2025 [FE7Y 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 79



Delta: The Big Heart

Fiscal Transperency Score 3.5/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 10
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Capital Expenditure By Programme 2024 Capital Expenditure By Programme 2024
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Delta State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: As a leading oil-producing state, Delta's total revenue almost doubled in 2024 with a

90.1% increase, reaching a colossal &#1.36 trillion from #714.5 billion in 2023. The state channeled

this windfall into a substantial increase in capital projects and recurrent spending.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure grew by a significant 22.4%, from #155.3 billion

in 2023 to #190.2 billion in 2024.

Total IGR: IGR performance was excellent, with a 24.2% increase from #133.9 billion to
§166.4 billion, solidifying its position as one of the top-performing states.

Personnel Costs: In 2023, Delta's 23.86% nominal statutory allocation increase resulted
ina 12.90% loss of real purchasing power. The state's fiscal fortunes improved in 2024, with
a 105.30% nominal revenue surge producing a 9.94% real gain against an inflation rate of
29.80%.

Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by 12.6% to #397.0 billion.
However, a key positive was the 42.3% decrease in loan and bond repayments, which fell to
#{34.6 billion.

Debt Management: No new loans were reported for 2024, a major shift from the 872.2
billion borrowed in 2023. This fiscal restraint led to a significant 33.1% reduction in

accumulated debt, bringing it down to 8#250.5 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:
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Capital expenditure in Delta State rose by 22.43% to #190.2 billion, reflecting a continued
commitment to infrastructure and development. The state also made commendable progress in
reducing both loan repayments and accumulated debt, signaling a strategic emphasis on fiscal
consolidation. However, given the scale of this capital outlay, the need for transparency is

especially critical.

Although the financial report provides summary-level breakdowns of capital expenditure by
function, location, and programme, which places it ahead of most states, it still lacks the level of
detail required for effective public oversight. It does not present capital expenditure by programme
and geolocation in line with the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), nor does it show total
expenditure by function in the format prescribed by the NCOA. In addition, the report fails to clearly

define project objectives, expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, orimplementation timelines.

Additionally, the reported closing cash balance of 8751.7 billion, while reflecting financial strength,
raises concerns about resource efficiency, as holding substantial funds without a clear and
strategic disbursement plan may represent a missed opportunity to accelerate infrastructure

delivery, social programmes, or economic diversification efforts.

The use of (GIFMIS) can improve this situation by linking expenditures to clear Programme
objectives and enabling real-time monitoring of implementation. Furthermore, the state
Accountants-General should use GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure compliance with
the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account guidelines, enhancing transparency and

financial management.

Delta State can boost IGR by promoting a business-friendly environment to attract investment in
oil and gas. Diversifying into agriculture, especially palm oil production and agro-processing, can

create jobs and add value.
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Ebonyi: Salt of the Nation

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7
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Movement in Total Revenue, Capital Expenditure , Accumulated Debt , Personnel Costs, New

Loans and Loan & Bond Repayment by Year (2020 - 2024)
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Ebonyi State Financial Performance Analysis
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Overview: In 2024, Ebonyi State’s total revenue increased moderately by 32 percent, rising from

&91.0 billion in 2023 to #120.2 billion. In response, the state more than doubled its capital

expenditure and reduced new borrowing, though its overall debt burden still grew.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

¢ Capital Expenditure: The state prioritized development projects, with capital expenditure

skyrocketing by 119.6% from #73.2 billion in 2023 to #160.8 billion in 2024. This level of

spending notably exceeds the state's total revenue for the year.

¢ Total IGR: Contrary to the regional trend, Ebonyi's IGR decreased by 36.1%, falling from

&15.7 billionin 2023 to #10.0 billion in 2024. This decline is a significant concern, suggesting

challenges in local revenue mobilization.
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¢ Personnel Costs: increased by 58.28% reaching 32.58 billion Naira. Ebonyi faced a 22.12%
loss in real purchasing power in 2023 despite a 21.20% nominal increase in statutory
allocation. This situation improved significantly in 2024, when a 46.29% nominal increase
translated into a 37.92% real gain in purchasing power, despite a high inflation rate of
35.69%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure saw a 14.8% increase to &66.2
billion. This includes a 58.3% increase in loan and bond repayments, which rose to §8.9
billion.

¢ Debt Management: Ebonyi State incurred #8.9 billion in new loans in 2024, having
recorded no new borrowing in 2023. Combined with short-term contractor obligations
totaling 861.4 billion in 2024, this contributed to a 41% increase in the state's accumulated

debt, which rose to 8#220.0 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The allocation of #160.8 billion to capital expenditure, an amount that exceeds the state’s total
annual revenue, raises concerns. One key issue is the lack of reporting by Function, Geolocation,
and Programme, which makes it difficult to understand what the funds are meant to achieve. The
report does not explain which programmes the spending supports or what specific outcomes are
expected. Without thisinformation, itis hard for stakeholders to assess the government's priorities,
evaluate project feasibility, or ensure accountability, especially given the rise in the state’s debt

profile.

At the same time, Ebonyi’s moderate revenue growth was accompanied by a significantincrease in
personnel costs and debt, despite heavy capital investment. This suggests a need for better control
over recurrent spending. Using Government Integrated Financial Management Information System
(GIFMIS) can help improve planning and transparency by linking spending to clear Programme
objectives and allowing real-time tracking of results. The State Accountant-General is encouraged
to use GIFMIS for online real-time payments to comply with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury

Single Account (TSA) guidelines, which support better financial control and accountability.

Known for its salt and cement production, Ebonyi could use its increased revenue to expand its
mining sector and establish processing plants. IGR could be boosted by becoming a major supplier
of building materials. More so, the state could address its problem of limited access to potable

water by investing in water treatment plants and boreholes.
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Edo: Heartbeat of The Nation

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 15

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Edo State Financial Performance Analysis
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Overview: Edo State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024, increasing by 104.7% to N446.7

billion from #218.3 billion in 2023. This revenue boom was used to more than double capital

expenditure but was also accompanied by a massive increase in the state's debt burden.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: Capital spending surged by 107.8%, rising from %8126.4 billion in

2023 to #262.7 billion in 2024.

Total IGR: The state showed strong IGR growth of 45.8%, with revenues increasing from

§60.5 billion to #88.2 billion.

Personnel Costs: In 2023, a 20.86% nominal statutory allocation increase was outpaced

by inflation, leading to a 14.93% loss in real purchasing power. The state recovered in 2024,
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with a 127.26% nominal revenue increase resulting in a 5.24% real gain against an inflation
rate of 34.47%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 39.71% reaching #82.93. Total
recurrent expenditure increased by 44.4% to 8#200.3 billion. This includes a 67.8% increase
in loan and bond repayments to &#36.7 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state reduced its borrowing, with new loans decreasing by 19.8%
to #35.6 billion. Despite this, the accumulated debt skyrocketed by 87.3% to 8#768.7 billion,

making Edo one of the most indebted states in Nigeria.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The state's Internally Generated Revenue (IGR) growth and its significant capital expenditure of
§262.7 billion indicate an ambitious push toward development. However, this level of spending
warrants careful scrutiny, particularly in the context of the state's rapidly increasing debt, which
rose by 87.3% from the previous year to reach #768.7 billion. While investment in capital projects

can drive long-term growth, the scale of borrowing raises concerns about fiscal sustainability.

In addition, the financial report lacks the clarity needed to justify the scale of borrowing. It does not
provide a breakdown of capital expenditure by programme, function, or geolocation, as required by
the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), making it difficult to determine whether the spending aligns
with strategic priorities or addresses the most critical needs. The absence of defined project
objectives, including expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, and timelines, further limits

transparency and weakens accountability.

The effective use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System
(GIFMIS) can help address these gaps by linking capital spending to specific programme objectives
and enabling real-time monitoring of implementation. State Accountants-General are encouraged
to use GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure full compliance with the Central Bank of
Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines, thereby promoting transparency and stronger

financial oversight.

To boost IGR and reduce borrowing, the state can tap into its growing tech ecosystem by creating a
tech hub, supporting startups, and investing in digital infrastructure to attract investment and
expand the tax base. To combat human trafficking, it could fund a rehabilitation and skills center

and run awareness campaigns, promoting social inclusion and long-term economic productivity.
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Ekiti: Land of Honour and Integrity

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 25

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Overview: Ekiti State's total revenue saw a massive 159.2% increase in 2024, reaching 8328.3

billion from #126.7 billion in 2023. The state government directed this windfall towards a huge

expansion of both capital and recurrent expenditures.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital spending surged by an incredible 251.3%, rising from %33.4

billion in 2023 to 8117.4 billion in 2024.

e Total IGR: The state recorded a strong 29.2% growth in IGR, from %31.8 billion to &¥41.1

billion.

¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased substantially by 90.31%, from 23.14 billion

Naira in 2023 to 44.03 billion Naira in 2024. Ekiti was one of the few states to see real growth

in 2023, with a 30.82% nominal statutory allocation increase leading to a 4.54% gain in real
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purchasing power. This positive trend accelerated dramatically in 2024, as a 202.72%
nominalincrease produced a very strong 56.20% real gain, even with a 34.11% inflation rate.
¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure also more than doubled, increasing
by 154.2% to 8#254.7 billion. This was driven by a large increase in 'Other CRFC Charges' and
a480% jump in loan and bond repayments to 861.3 billion.
¢ Debt Management: The state increased its borrowing, with new loans rising by 150.1% to
#18.9 billion. This contributed to a 64% increase in accumulated debt, which reached

§260.2 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Ekiti State’s strong revenue growth allowed increased capital spending and loan repayments,
showing fiscal responsibility. However, a sharp rise in personnel costs and growing debt raise
concerns about sustainability. Recurrent spending and borrowing may outpace revenue gains,

risking long-term fiscal health without stricter expenditure and debt management.

The 8117.4 billion allocated to capital expenditure marks a significant investment for the state and
underscores the need for greater transparency. The financial report does not categorize capital
spending by programme, function, or geolocation as recommended by the National Chart of
Accounts, making it challenging to determine whether resources are aligned with the state’s key
priorities. Additionally, the report lacks crucial project-level details such as specific objectives,

intended beneficiaries, and implementation timelines, limiting effective oversight.

The use of Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
support the effective implementation of Programme objectives by linking expenditures to clear
targets and enabling real-time monitoring. The State Accountant-General should also utilize
GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s
Treasury Single Account guidelines, thereby strengthening transparency and financial

accountability.

Ekiti’s strong reputation for education and intellectual capacity offers an opportunity to boost
internally generated revenue. The state could consider establishing an Education Trust Fund and
innovation hubs to support research, digital skills, and entrepreneurship, fostering a knowledge-
based economy. Furthermore, investing in agricultural value chains and supporting small
businesses would help create jobs, stimulate local enterprise, and diversify the revenue base,

enhancing economic resilience and reducing dependence on federal allocations.
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Enugu: Coal City State

Fiscal Transperency Score 5/7

FPI Rank out of 36 States - 1

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Actual Capital Expenditure By Geo Location Budgeted Capital Expenditure By Geo Location
Geo Location
®Enugu North
®Enugu East
®1si Uzo
®udi
® Nkanu East
® Nkanu West
@ Udenu
@ Enugu South
@ Nsukka

® Uzo Uwani

251.1bn 278.3bn
® Awgu (76%) (75%)

®Ezeagu

® Aninri

®(gbo Etiti
®Igbo Eze North
®|gbo Eze South
@ Qji River

Enugu State Financial Performance Analysis (2020-2024)
Overview: Enugu State's finances underwent a dramatic transformation in 2024, with total revenue
surging by 181.4% to #436.2 billion from #155.0 billion in 2023. The state utilized this windfall for an

unprecedented expansion in capital projects, backed by a phenomenal growth in IGR.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure witnessed an astronomical 421.2% increase,
jumping from 863.6 billion in 2023 to #331.5 billion in 2024. This represents one of the most
aggressive capital investment drives in the country.

¢ Total IGR: The state achieved a remarkable 381.4% growth in IGR, which soared from
&37.5 billion in 2023 to #180.5 billion in 2024. This exceptional performance fundamentally
alters the state's revenue structure, making it less reliant on federal allocations.

e Personnel Costs increased by 45.45% reaching 856.64 billion in 2024 from &35 billion in
2023. The state's 50.69% nominal statutory allocation increase in 2023 was completely
eroded by inflation, resulting in a 27.50% loss of real purchasing power. This trend reversed
in 2024, asa117.59% nominalincrease was sufficient to generate a 15.01% real gain against
an inflation rate of 30.44%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure rose by a controlled 25% to §145.0
billion. A significant portion of this was dedicated to debt servicing, with loan and bond

repayments increasing by 224% to £#21.9 billion.
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¢ Debt Management: Despite the revenue surge, the state reduced its acquisition of new
loans by 78.4% to ®7.3 billion. This prudent approach helped limit the growth in

accumulated debt to just 7.6%, closing at 8#256.4 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Enugu State’s record-breaking #331.5 billion capital expenditure demonstrates strong
developmental ambitions. While the financial report provides breakdowns by function,
geolocation, and programme, it would benefit from including clearly defined objectives with
specific, measurable targets outlining expected outcomes, intended beneficiaries, and timelines.
The absence of this strategic information limits transparency and makes it challenging to evaluate

the effectiveness and accountability of such a substantial investment.

Although the state’s focus on capital projects and debt repayment is commendable, the rising
accumulated debt raises concerns about the long-term sustainability of its fiscal strategy,
particularly if revenue growth slows. This underscores the importance of proactive debt
management and stricter control over recurrent spending. The use of Government Integrated
Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can support improved implementation by
linking expenditures to clear programme objectives and enabling real-time monitoring of progress.
Additionally, state Accountants-General should utilize GIFMIS for online real-time payments to
ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account guidelines, thereby

enhancing transparency and financial discipline.

To ensure more durable economic growth, Enugu could leverage its revenue windfall to revive the
solid minerals sector and develop tourism, capitalizing on its natural scenery. Addressing urban
congestion through investments in modern traffic management systems and road infrastructure

would also support more sustainable urban development
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Gombe: Jewel of the Savannah
Fiscal Transperency Score 5/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 8

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Geo Location

® Gombe

®Yamaltu Deba

® Akko

® Dukku

®Kaltungo
Billiri

¥ Nafada

® Kwami

® Shongom
Balanga

® Funakaye

Actual Capital Expenditure By Geo Location Budgeted Capital Expenditure By Geo Location

186.8bn 238.7bn
(91%) (90%)

Gombe State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Gombe State's total revenue saw a massive 172.7% increase in 2024, soaring to 8307

billion

from 8112.6 billion in 2023. This financial boom was overwhelmingly channeled into an

aggressive capital expenditure programme.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: Capital spending surged by an impressive 132.4%, rising from &88.8
billionin 2023 to 8206.4 billion in 2024. This indicates a strong commitment to infrastructure
and long-term development.

Total IGR: IGR performance was strong, with a 37.1% increase from #815.2 billion in 2023 to
§20.8 billion in 2024.

Personnel Costs: In 2023, Gombe's 32.76% nominal statutory allocation increase was
insufficient to overcome inflation, leading to a 20.24% loss in real purchasing power. The
state's fiscal position improved in 2024, with a 193.86% nominal increase translating into a
29.44% real gain despite a high inflation rate of 35.56%.

Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 65%, from £#22.90 billion in 2023 to
&37.79 billion in 2024. Total recurrent expenditure grew by a modest 13.2% to 894.8 billion.
Within this, loan and bond repayments increased by 40.2% to 818.1 billion.

Debt Management: The state significantly reduced its reliance on borrowing, with new
loans decreasing by 50.4% to #31.6 billion. This prudent measure helped to significantly
reduce the accumulated debt by 30.8% to #204.1 billion.
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FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

Gombe State’s 2024 fiscal position presents a nuanced picture. Robust revenue growth has been
directed toward substantial capital investments and a reduction in loan repayments, reflecting a
commitment to development. However, the sharp rise in new borrowings, a moderate increase in
accumulated debt, and a notable escalation in personnel costs indicate that the state's spending
is being accompanied by increased fiscal pressure. This trend underscores the need for careful

monitoring to ensure long-term fiscal sustainability.

The allocation of ¥206.4 billion to capital projects reflects Gombe’s ambitious development
agenda. However, the financial report would benefit from increased transparency and detail,
particularly through the inclusion of clearly defined objectives for capital investments, such as
expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, and implementation timelines. Without this
programmatic clarity, it is difficult for citizens and stakeholders to evaluate the effectiveness and

impact of public spending, which in turn weakens accountability.

The use Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can help
address these gaps by linking expenditures to specific programme objectives and enabling real-
time monitoring of implementation. State Accountants-General should also use GIFMIS for online
real-time payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single

Account guidelines, thereby enhancing transparency and financial oversight.

As a leading agricultural hub, Gombe is well-positioned to channel its growing revenues into
strategic sectors. Investments in food processing and storage infrastructure could not only reduce
post-harvest losses but also position the state as a major supplier of processed agricultural
products, boosting internally generated revenue. Additionally, addressing the state’s pressing
healthcare infrastructure gaps particularly through the construction of new hospitals would

significantly improve public health outcomes and enhance the overall quality of life for residents.
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Imo: Eastern Heartland
Fiscal Transperency Score 3.5/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States -9

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Actual Capital Expenditure By Geo Location Budgeted Capital Expenditure By Geo Location

Geo Location
®mo East Zone o Tn
®|mo West Zone 127.4bn (44%)

® Others (State)

(53%)

®|mo North Zone 158.7bn
(33%)

Imo State Financial Performance Analysis (2020-2024)
Overview: Imo State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024, increasing by 148% to 8375.9
billion from &151.6 billion in 2023. This revenue boom fueled a significant expansion of both capital

and recurrent spending, but the state's debt profile also continued to worsen.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending saw a substantial 217.8% increase, rising from
&75.6 billion in 2023 to 8240.4 billion in 2024, signaling a major push for infrastructural
development.

e Total IGR: The state's IGR grew by a modest 11%, from %18.2 billion to 8#20.2 billion. While
positive, this growth rate is low compared to the increase in federal allocations and lags
behind regional peers.

¢ Personnel Costs: Imo State faced a severe fiscal squeeze in 2023, where a 12.00%
nominal statutory allocation increase resulted in a 34.92% loss of real purchasing power.
This trend was reversed in 2024, with a 166.66% nominal increase in statutory allocation
resultingin a 0.71% gain in real purchasing power, despite an inflation rate of 30.55%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure expanded significantly by 50.7% to
#&90.4 billion. This was driven by a sharp rise in overheads and other charges, though loan
and bond repayments also increased by 16.8% to 826.3 billion.

¢ Debt Management: Despite the large revenue increase, Imo State reduced its intake of
new loans by 52.4% to #20.0 billion. However, this borrowing still contributed to a decrease

in its accumulated debt by 3.7% to #247.5 billion.
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FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The allocation of 8#240.4 billion to capital expenditure marks a significant investmentin Imo State’s
development agenda. The state has improved its reporting by summarizing capital expenditure by
Function, Geolocation, and Programme in line with the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA).
However, the financial disclosures remain incomplete as detailed capital expenditure by
geolocation, programme, and specific objectives are not provided. Clearly defined objectives,
which are long-term initiatives aligned with policy goals, are essential to understanding the
intended impact of public spending. Without this information, it is unclear what will be achieved,

who will benefit, or the expected timelines.

The use Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can support
better implementation by linking expenditures to clear programme objectives and enabling real-
time monitoring. Additionally, the state Accountant-General should use GIFMIS for online real-time
payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account

guidelines, thereby promoting transparency and enhancing financial accountability.

To improve its Internally Generated Revenue following an increase in statutory allocations, the
state can leverage its natural resources and cultural assets, particularly in solid minerals and
tourism as this presents a sustainable opportunity to increase non-tax revenues and attract private

investment.
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Jigawa: The New World

Fiscal Transperency Score 1/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 17

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Jigawa State Financial Performance Analysis
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Overview: Jigawa State's total revenue increased by 75.3% in 2024, reaching #331.3 billion from

&189.0 billionin 2023. This revenue surge was used to fund a massive expansion in capital projects,

but this was accompanied by significant new borrowing that dramatically increased the state's debt

profile.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital spending saw a monumental 146.3% increase, jumping from

8104.1 billion in 2023 to #256.4 billion in 2024.

¢ Total IGR: The state recorded a robust 20.7% growth in IGR, which rose from #55.8 billion

to N67.4 billion.

¢ Personnel Costs: In 2023, a 50.94% nominal increase in statutory allocation was largely

offset by inflation, resulting in a 7.84% loss in real purchasing power. The state managed to
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achieve a slight real gain of 1.37% in 2024 following a 98.23% nominal increase in statutory
allocation against a high inflation rate of 36.42%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 37.79% reaching 859.05 billion.
Totalrecurrent expenditure decreased by 11.5% to &%143.1 billion. This was achieved despite
personnel and overhead cost increases, thanks to a 16.1% reduction in loan and bond
repayments.

¢ Debt Management: The state reduced its borrowing, yet new loans of N24.3 million (a
significant drop from #75.3 billion in 2023) were still acquired. The borrowing from the
previous year, however, contributed to a 26.2% increase in accumulated debt, which

ballooned to #573.7 billion, one of the highest in the nation.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

The substantial 8#256.4 billion allocated to capital expenditure demands thorough scrutiny,
especially given the state’s significant debt burden. However, the financial report falls short of
basic transparency and accountability standards. Notably, it lacks explanatory notes
accompanying the four main financial statements, which undermines the report’s credibility and
usefulness. Additionally, the absence of a breakdown of capital expenditure by function,
programme, or geolocation, as required by the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), further limits

clarity.

More importantly, the report does not provide information on the objectives of these capital
investments; there are no stated outcomes, defined beneficiaries, or implementation timelines.
This lack of transparency prevents citizens and oversight bodies from evaluating whether public
funds and borrowed resources are being directed toward effective and impactful projects. The use
of Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can enhance
program implementation by linking expenditures to clear objectives and enabling real-time tracking
of progress. The state Accountant-General can also benefit from using GIFMIS for online real-time
payments, ensuring compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account

guidelines and strengthening overall financial transparency and accountability.

As an agrarian state, Jigawa could use its increased revenue to subsidize modern farming
equipment and provide extension services to farmers which could boost IGR as a result of
increased agricultural output. To address its challenge of poverty, the state could invest in micro-

credit schemes for small business owners.
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Kaduna: The Centre of Learning
Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 20

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
State ® Kaduna rreen 410.5bn

Funtua Zango Total Revenue in 2024

70.1bn

IGR in 2024

Dadin Kowa

653.0bn

0 Accumulated Debt in 2024
Rishi

50.8bn

Tegina
Loan Repayment in 2024
Kuta .
Zungeru Jos
68.0bn
Personnel Costs in 2024
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2 0 9 9 b n
ida.n.Agaie G Mot orporation, i )
ﬁ «mﬁﬁ szﬁ\‘bl By Microsoft Ce t Terms @ Total Revenue @ Total Recurrent Expenditure @ Capital Expenditure Capital Expenditure in 2024
Movement in Total Revenue, Capital Expenditure , Accumulated Debt, Personnel Costs, New Composition of Total Expenditure Over the Years
. Loans and Loan & Bond Repayment by Year (2020 - 2024) 100%
: 653bn
633bn Accumulated Debt
0.6T
80%
0.5T
410bn 411bn 60% 35.1%
oL Total Revenue
0.3T 0%
210bn
02T 165bn 165bn 163bn R
1’_;@%7 114bn 20% 42.5%
0.1T 56bn 54bn 68bn 27.5%
36bn 38bn Personnel Costs
2 % Loan Repayment
=9 ——
0.0T 0%
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Year Year
@ Total Revenue @Capital Expenditure @ Accumulated Debt @ Personnel Costs @ New Loans @ Loan Repayment @ Recurrent i @ Capital E; diture ® Loan Rep @®New Loans
Purchasing Power of Civil Servants vs Rise in Statutory Allocations
% y All ion Increase (| inal) ®% | Cost Increase (Nominal) ®% Change in Real Purchasing Power
250
207
% Statutory Allocation Increase (Nomina
200
150
100
50
50
25 26
14 % Personnel Cost Increase (Nominal)
-4
© % Change in Real Purchasing Power
-50
2021 2022 2023 2024

© 2025 (=71 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT 108



Total Revenue Capital Expenditure Personnel Costs
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Kaduna State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Kaduna State saw its total revenue more than double in 2024 with a 152% increase,
reaching #410.5 billion from #162.9 billion in 2023. The state directed this windfall toward a
significant increase in capital spending and a massive ramp-up in debt servicing, financed in part

by substantial new loans.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending grew by a strong 84.8%, from #113.6 billion in 2023
to ¥209.9 billion in 2024.
¢ Total IGR: IGR performance was excellent, with a 34.6% increase from &52.0 billion to
#&70.1 billion, reinforcing Kaduna's position as a top IGR performer.
¢ Personnel Costs: Kaduna's 25.30% nominal statutory allocation increase in 2023 resulted

in a 33.64% loss of real purchasing power. Despite a massive 207.02% nominal increase in
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2024, the state's real purchasing power still declined by 7.97% due to a high inflation rate of
34.13%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure decreased by 15.7% to #254.3 billion
from ®301.7 billion in 2023. Within this, loan and bond repayments increased by a huge
183.9% to #50.8 billion. The overall decrease from 2023 is due to an unusually high figure for
'Other CRFC Charges'in that year.

¢ Debt Management: The state increased its borrowing, with new loans rising by 22.8% to
§82.9 billion. This new debt contributed to a 3.1% increase in accumulated debt, which

stood at #653.0 billion, among the highest in Nigeria.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

Given Kaduna State’s high debt profile, the 8209.9 billion capital expenditure demands clear
justification and full transparency. Unfortunately, the financial report falls short of basic disclosure
standards, notably lacking explanatory notes for the main financial statements. These notes are
essential for understanding the data, assessing fiscalrisks, and ensuring accountability. The report
also fails to break down capital expenditure by function, programme, or geolocation, as required
by the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), making it difficult to assess alignment with strategic
goals or community needs. Furthermore, there is no information on specific objectives, expected

outcomes, beneficiaries, or timelines, limiting public oversight.

To enhance transparency and effective implementation, Kaduna State can leverage the use of
Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) to link expenditures to
clear program objectives and enable real-time monitoring. The state Accountant-General should
use GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s

Treasury Single Account guidelines, strengthening financial discipline and accountability.

To reduce its reliance on debt, Kaduna State must strengthen its capacity to mobilize internal
resources. This can be achieved by expanding the tax base through improved property and land use
administration, digitalizing revenue collection systems to curb leakages, and incentivizing the
growth of small and medium-sized enterprises. Additionally, investments in infrastructure that
support commerce such as markets, transport networks, and industrial parks can stimulate private
sector activity and generate sustainable revenue streams. Strengthening fiscal discipline must go

hand in hand with a strategic push to grow IGR in a transparent and inclusive manner.
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Kano: Centre of Commerce

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 11

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Kano State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Kano State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024, increasing by 103.5% to 8446.8

billion from&219.6 billionin 2023. The state used this financial boost to more than double its capital

expenditure and increase debt servicing.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure surged by 122%, from &97.3 billion in 2023 to

§216.0 billion in 2024, indicating a major focus on infrastructure and development.

¢ Total IGR: The state achieved excellent IGR growth of 62%, with revenues rising from %40.2

billion to 865.1 billion.

e Personnel Costs: In 2023, a 10.22% nominal increase in statutory allocation was

insufficient to counter inflation, leading to a 20.43% loss in real purchasing power. This
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trend of real value loss persisted in 2024, where a 112.72% nominal increase still resulted
in a 16.03% decline in real purchasing power against an inflation rate of 33.71%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 43.46% reaching 884.09 billion.
Total recurrent expenditure increased by 40.3% to 8192.3 billion. This includes a 43.4%
increase in loan and bond repayments, which rose to 8#13.3 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state significantly increased its borrowing, with new loans
jumping by 232% to &#29.9 billion. This contributed to a 6.9% increase in accumulated debt,
which reached ¥249.0 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

The 8216.0 billion allocated to capital expenditure represents a significant investment in Kano
State’s economic development. However, the accompanying financial report falls short of the
transparency and detail required for effective oversight. Capital expenditure is not disaggregated
by function, programme, or geolocation, as mandated by the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA),

making it difficult to assess how spending aligns with the government’s strategic priorities.

More critically, the report does not outline the specific objectives of the capital projects, offering
no information on expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, or implementation timelines. This lack
of clarity creates a transparency gap and limits the public’s ability to assess the effectiveness of

spending or hold the government accountable.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
help bridge this gap by linking expenditures to defined programme objectives and enabling real-
time tracking. The state Accountant-General can also use GIFMIS for online real-time payments to
ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account guidelines,

promoting transparency and sound financial management.

As a major commercial center, Kano could use its increased revenue to improve its road networks
and marketplaces. The state could boost IGR by formalizing the informal economy and improving
tax collection. To address urban congestion, the state could invest in a modern mass transit

system.
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Katsina: Home of Hospitality
Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPl Rank out of 36 States - 5

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Overview: Katsina State's total revenue saw a 141.2% increase in 2024, soaring to 8#362.5 billion

from&150.2 billion in 2023. The state directed this massive windfall into one of the most aggressive

capital expenditure expansions in the country.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure saw a phenomenal 323.7% increase, jumping

from 871.9 billion in 2023 to #304.8 billion in 2024. This level of spending nearly consumes

the state's entire statutory allocation.

Total IGR: IGR performance was outstanding, with a 215.9% increase from %9.6 billion to

&30.5 billion, indicating a radical improvement in local revenue generation.

Personnel Costs: The state's 67.63% nominal statutory allocation increase in 2023 was

entirely eroded by inflation, resulting in a 27.37% loss of real purchasing power. This trend
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reversed in 2024, as a 136.13% nominal increase translated into a strong 34.14% real gain
against a relatively low inflation rate of 29.21%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 63.35% reaching 837.54 billion.
Total recurrent expenditure increased by a very modest 11.4% to 8131.6 billion. This was
achieved despite increases in personnel and overhead costs and a 5.8% decrease in loan
and bond repayments.

¢ Debt Management: No new loans were reported for 2023 or 2024. The prudent fiscal
management and increased revenue led to a 103.8% increase in accumulated debt to

§231.7 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

Katsina State’s #304.8 billion capital expenditure reflects a strong commitment to development
and has the potential to drive transformative change. However, such a significant investment
demands high standards of fiscal transparency, which the current financial report does not fully
meet. Notably, the report shows an increase in accumulated debt without any new loans recorded

in the cash flow statement, raising concerns about the completeness of financial disclosures.

Capital spending is not disaggregated by Programme or function, as required by the National Chart
of Accounts (NCOA), and geolocation data is only presented in summary form. This limits insight
into how funds are aligned with development priorities. Additionally, there is a #66.8 billion
discrepancy between the total capital expenditure and the amount reported at the local
government level, with no explanation provided. The absence of defined programme objectives,

expected outcomes, beneficiaries, and timelines further weakens accountability.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
address these gaps by linking spending to specific objectives and enabling real-time monitoring of
implementation. The State Accountant-General can also use GIFMIS for online real-time payments
to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines,

promoting transparency and sound financial management.

To support long-term growth, Katsina can leverage its increased revenues by investing in livestock
and leather value chains to drive job creation and boost IGR. At the same time, improving rural
security through modern surveillance and coordinated patrol systems will create a safer

environment for investment and economic development.
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Kebbi: Land of Equity

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7
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Kebbi State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Kebbi State's total revenue grew by 64.5% in 2024, reaching 8130.7 billion from &79.4
billionin 2023. This increase was channeled into a significant boost in capital spending, though IGR

performance was weak and the state continued to borrow.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending increased by a substantial 33.6%, rising from &861.5
billion in 2023 to #82.2 billion in 2024.
¢ Total IGR: The state's IGR decreased by 3.1%, falling from &11.7 billion to #11.4 billion.
This decline in a year of revenue boom is a major concern.
¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 24.02% reaching 831.03 billion.
Total recurrent expenditure increased by 30.4% to ¥N67.4 billion. This occurred despite a

20.4% decrease in loan and bond repayments.
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¢ Debt Management: The state increased its borrowing significantly, with new loans rising

by 67.8% to #22.6 billion. This pushed the accumulated debt up by 12.8% to 894.1 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

Kebbi State’s 33.64% increase in capital expenditure to ¥82.20 billion reflects a positive step
toward development. However, this progress is accompanied by a sharp rise in new borrowings and
accumulated debt, underscoring the state’s continued reliance on debt financing. Despite this
fiscal activity, the financial report lacks key transparency elements. Capital expenditure is not
broken down by programme, function, or geolocation, making it difficult to assess alignment with

development priorities.

Moreover, the report does not define programme objectives, expected outcomes, target
beneficiaries, or timelines. This limits the ability of citizens and oversight institutions to evaluate
the effectiveness or impact of spending, particularly in light of declining Internally Generated

Revenue (IGR) and rising debt.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
help improve transparency by linking capital spending to clearly defined objectives and enabling
real-time tracking of implementation. The State Accountant-General can also use GIFMIS for online
real-time payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single

Account (TSA) guidelines, enhancing financial control and accountability.

To reduce debt dependence, Kebbi should build on its “Rice Revolution Programme” by investing
invalue chain infrastructure such as milling and storage. Expanding agro-processing industries can

also drive job creation, boost local enterprise, and strengthen the state’s revenue base.
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Kogi: The Confluence State

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 32

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Kogi State Financial Performance Analysis (2020-2024)

Overview: Kogi State witnessed a 157.5% increase in total revenue in 2024, reaching #301.0 billion
compared tod116.9 billionin 2023. The state used this surge to modestly increase capital spending
while dramatically escalating debt repayments, resulting in a significant reduction of its overall

debt.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending grew by 49.4%, from 850.4 billion in 2023 to 875.2
billion in 2024. While a substantial increase, it represents a smaller portion of the revenue
windfall compared to other states.

e Total IGR: The state's IGR grew by 15.9% to ¥27.7 billion, indicating a steady but not
exceptional improvement in local revenue mobilization.

e Personnel Costs: In 2023, a 28.45% nominal increase in statutory allocation was offset by
inflation, leading to a 24.56% loss in real purchasing power. The state's fiscal position
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recovered in 2024, with a 193.84% nominal increase translating into a 13.24% real gain
despite a very high inflation rate of 39.91%

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: There was a substantial rise in Personnel Costs, which grew by
69.70% to {56 billion. Total recurrent expenditure more than doubled, increasing by 108.7%
to 8#265.6 billion. This was overwhelmingly driven by a staggering 534.6% increase in loan
and bond repayments, which soared from #14.2 billion in 2023 to 890.1 billion in 2024.

¢ Debt Management: The state heavily curtailed its borrowing, with new loans decreasing by
88% to #3.6 billion. This, combined with the aggressive repayment schedule, led to a 27.2%

reduction in accumulated debt, bringing it down to 8123.4 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

While the state’s commitment to debt repayment is commendable, the #75.2 billion allocated to
capital projects lacks the transparency needed to fully assess its strategic focus. The financial
report does not disaggregate this amount by function, geolocation, or programme, as required by
the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), making it difficult to determine which sectors or initiatives
are being prioritized. Additionally, the absence of clearly defined objectives such as expected
outcomes, target beneficiaries, and timelines limits the ability of citizens and oversight institutions

to evaluate the relevance and impact of the spending.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
help address these gaps by linking capital expenditure to specific programme objectives and
supporting real-time monitoring of implementation. The State Accountant-General can also use
GIFMIS to process online real-time payments in line with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury
Single Account (TSA) guidelines, thereby strengthening compliance, enhancing fiscal

transparency, and promoting more efficient public financial management.

With its rich mineral deposits, Kogi could boost IGR by formalizing and taxing artisanal mining.

Revenue could be used to improve infrastructure, particularly in its riverine communities, and to

mitigate the impact of flooding.
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Kwara: State of Harmony

Fiscal Transperency Score 2.5/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 6

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Kwara State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Kwara State's total revenue increased by 81.1% in 2024, reaching &274.8 billion from
&151.7 billion in 2023. The state government channeled the bulk of this increase into capital
expenditures.
Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending witnessed a huge 126.6% increase, soaring from
#&93.6 billion in 2023 to 8#212.1 billion in 2024. This made capital projects the primary focus
of the state's budget.
¢ Total IGR: The state achieved a strong 36.4% growth in IGR, which rose from #48.5 billion
in 2023 to #66.1 billion in 2024, demonstrating a robust local revenue enhancement
strategy.
e Personnel Costs: Kwara's 70.27% nominal statutory allocation increase in 2023 was

eroded by inflation, resulting in a 10.76% loss of real purchasing power. This trend reversed
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in 2024, asa102.11% nominalincrease was sufficient to generate a 19.65% real gain against
a high inflation rate of 36.64%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by a controlled 31.7% to
&105.9 billion. There were no loan repayments in 2023 and 2024.

¢ Debt Management: No new loans were reported for 2023 or 2024. With debt repayment
data also unavailable for these years, the accumulated debt still saw a slight increase of

2.4%, rising to #156.7 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The 8#212.1 billion allocated to capital expenditure marks a significant step in advancing Kwara
State’s development priorities. However, the financial report lacks the contextual detail needed to
assess the effectiveness and alignment of this investment. Specifically, capital expenditure is not
disaggregated by function, geolocation, or programme, as required by the National Chart of
Accounts (NCOA), making it difficult to understand the sectors or communities benefiting from the

spending.

Moreover, the absence of clearly defined objectives such as expected outcomes, target
beneficiaries, and timelines creates a transparency gap that limits public oversight and weakens
accountability. While the state has leveraged its revenue growth to fund capital projects, the
absence of recorded loan repayments alongside continued debt accumulation raises concerns

about long-term debt sustainability.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
help address these challenges by linking capital expenditures to programme objectives and
enabling real-time monitoring of project implementation. Additionally, the State Accountant-
General can utilize GIFMIS to process online, real-time payments in compliance with the Central
Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines, thereby improving financial

transparency, ensuring compliance, and strengthening public financial management.

Kwara could leverage its central location to become a logistics hub, using increased revenue to
build modern warehouses and improve road networks. IGR could be boosted through levies on
commercial transport and warehousing. The state could address urban youth unemployment by

investing in vocational training and entrepreneurship programs.
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Lagos: Centre of Excellence
Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 19

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Lagos State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Lagos State, Nigeria's economic capital, saw its total revenue surge by 68.3% in 2024,

reaching a monumental#1.99 trillion from #1.18 trillion in 2023. This was overwhelmingly driven by

anincreasein IGR.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure grew by a massive 78.5%, rising from &#592.3

billion in 2023 to 81.06 trillion in 2024, likely the largest sub-national capital expenditure in

Africa.

Total IGR: In a landmark achievement, Lagos's IGR grew by 48.1% to cross the trillion-

naira mark, reaching N1.26 trillion. This demonstrates the state's immense and growing

economic base.
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e Personnel Costs: In 2023, Lagos achieved a 5.17% real purchasing power gain from a
41.44% nominal statutory allocation increase. The state's real purchasing power continued
to grow modestly in 2024, with a 120.81% nominal increase resulting in a 3.03% real gain
against a high inflation rate of 36.37%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 39.40% from 236.51 billion Naira in
2023 to N316.39 billion in 2024. Total recurrent expenditure increased by 38.9% to &1.24
trillion. This includes a 37.7% increase in loan and bond repayments to #252.5 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state reduced its borrowing, with new loans decreasing by 42.9%
to ¥216.1 billion. Despite this, the accumulated debt still grew by 27.5%, reaching 82.92

trillion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Lagos State continues to demonstrate economic ambition through substantial capital investment,
with capital expenditure now exceeding &1 trillion. While this reflects strong development intent,
the corresponding rise in accumulated debt suggests a heavy reliance on borrowing, raising

concerns about long-term fiscal sustainability especially if revenue growth slows.

Despite its economic scale, Lagos is urged to uphold the highest standards of transparency. The
current financial report lacks a breakdown of capital expenditure by programme, function, or
geolocation, as required by the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA). It also omits project-specific
objectives, expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, and timelines. This limits public insight into

how resources are allocated and whether investments align with strategic priorities.

The adoption of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS)
can help address these gaps by linking expenditures to program objectives and enabling real-time
monitoring. The State Accountant-General can also use GIFMIS for real-time online payments,
ensuring compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines

and strengthening fiscal discipline.

To enhance internally generated revenue (IGR), Lagos should continue investing in urban transport
infrastructure such as light rail and expanded BRT systems and formalize the informal sector to

broaden the tax base and promote inclusive growth.
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Nasarawa: Home of Solid Minerals
Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 16
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Overview: Nasarawa State's total revenue grew by 53.3% in 2024, reaching &#238.1 billion from

&155.4 billion in 2023. This increase was used to fund a significant rise in capital spending and a

massive increase in debt acquisition, leading to a much lower accumulated debt.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital spending nearly tripled, with a 189% increase from &53.4

billion in 2023 to 8#154.3 billion in 2024, showing a strong commitment to infrastructure.

e Total IGR: The state recorded impressive 54.2% growth in IGR, which rose from %28.1

billion to 843.3 billion, keeping pace with the growth in federal revenue.

¢ Personnel Costs: Nasarawa demonstrated strong performance in 2023, converting an

87.97% nominal statutory allocation increase into a 3.20% real purchasing power gain.

However, this trend reversed in 2024, as a 53.08% nominal increase was insufficient to

counter the 29.32% inflation rate, leading to a 20.57% loss in real purchasing power.
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¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 8.75% reaching &#55.96 billion
Naira Total recurrent expenditure increased by 61.6% to 8160.4 billion. A key driver was the
enormous 1952% increase in loan and bond repayments, which jumped from %2.5 billion in
2023 to ¥50.8 billion in 2024.

¢ Debt Management: Despite the revenue increase, the state took on a very large N60.7
billion in new loans, where none were recorded for 2023. This substantial new borrowing

resulted in a 14.9% decrease in accumulated debt, which settled at 8#81.4 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Nasarawa State’s revenue growth has enabled substantial capital investment and a notable
reduction in accumulated debt, largely due to increased loan repayments which reflect a strong
focus onfiscalresponsibility. The 8#154.3 billion allocated to capital expenditure represents a major
commitment to development. However, the financial report lacks critical details needed for

transparency and public accountability.

Capital spending is not disaggregated by function, programme, or geolocation as required by the
National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), making it difficult to assess alignment with strategic priorities.
Additionally, the absence of clearly defined project objectives, such as expected outcomes, target
beneficiaries, and timelines, limits public oversight and weakens the ability to evaluate the

effectiveness of these investments.

Adopting the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can help
address these gaps by linking expenditures to specific programme objectives and enabling real-
time tracking of project implementation. The State Accountant General can also benefit from using
GIFMIS for online real-time payments to ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s
Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines, while enhancing transparency, accountability, and

efficient public financial management.

The state could focus on boosting its agricultural output, particularly in sesame and ginger.
Increased revenue could be used to provide farmers with modern equipment and access to
markets, thereby boosting IGR. The state could also use funds to address communal clashes by

promoting community policing and dialogue.
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Niger: The Power State

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7
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Niger State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Niger State experienced a 135.1% surge in total revenue in 2024, with its finances
growing to 8#409.2 billion from 8174.0 billion in 2023. This windfall was directed primarily towards

anincrease in capital projects, financed partly by a very large acquisition of new loans.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure more than doubled, increasing by 137.5% from
§146.9 billion in 2023 to 8#348.8 billion in 2024, representing one of the largest capital
expenditures in the country relative to revenue.
¢ Total IGR: The state's IGR grew by an impressive 55%, rising from 822.5 billion to ¥34.9
billion, indicating significant improvement in local revenue generation efforts.
¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 97.22% reaching 70.97 billion Naira. In

2023, a 97.95% nominal increase in statutory allocation was entirely offset by inflation,
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resulting in a 26.04% loss in real purchasing power. The state's fiscal position improved
dramatically in 2024, where a 147.05% nominal increase translated into a 62.80% real gain
despite a high inflation rate of 36.02%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure decreased by 24.5% to #185.2 billion
from 8245.2 billion in 2023. However, within this, loan and bond repayments increased by
70.9% to N15.8 billion. The overall decrease in recurrent expenditure from 2023 to 2024,
despite the increased loan repayment, is due to the unusually high recurrent cost in 2023.

¢ Debt Management: Niger State took on a massive 8104.0 billion in new loans in 2024, a
206% increase from the #34.0 billion borrowed in 2023. This heavy borrowing drove a 46.1%

increase in accumulated debt, which rose to #293.7 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Niger State's notable revenue growth was directed toward significant capital expenditure and new
loan acquisition, resulting in a considerable rise in accumulated debt. This suggests an ambitious
investment strategy that relies heavily on borrowing. While the #348.8 billion capital expenditure
reflects the state's strong developmental ambitions, the absence of transparent reporting raises

important concerns.

The financial report does not disaggregate capital spending by function, geographic location, or
Programme, as recommended under the National Chart of Accounts. This lack of detail limits
visibility into how funds are being allocated and whether they align with the government’s long-term
priorities. Furthermore, the report does not present clearly defined project objectives, such as
measurable outcomes, target beneficiaries, or delivery timelines. This makes it difficult for citizens
and oversight institutions to assess the value and impact of investments, particularly when they are

largely funded by new borrowing.

The adoption of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS)
can help improve transparency by linking expenditures to specific Programme objectives and
allowing for real-time monitoring of project implementation. Additionally, the State Accountant
General can use GIFMIS to process online real-time payments, ensuring compliance with the
Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single Account guidelines while promoting greater efficiency,
accountability, and financial control. As the state with the largest landmass, Niger could invest in
large-scale mechanized farming, particularly for rice and shea butter. Revenue could be used to

improve security in rural areas, which is crucial for tackling banditry and boosting agricultural IGR.
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Ogun: Gateway State

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 26
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State ® Ogun

v 4 05T
Ogbomosho
ljagbo Offa
Saveé Oyo State
= 0.47
] Ejigbo  Oshogbo
sa-Zoumé
Osun State | llesa
Ife .20
Cove. Ak
Ondo
0.21T
Ondo State
; «lkorodu =%
Calavi : Lagos State o 01T
% =% Irele
Lagos O
Nat
a
0.0T

2020

¥ MicrosoftBing ©2025 TomTom, © 2025 Microsoft Corporation, © OpenStreeiMap Terms

Movement in Total Revenue, Capital Expenditure , Accumulated Debt, Personnel Costs, New
Loans and Loan & Bond Repayment by Year (2020 - 2024)

600bn 575bn

Accumulated Debt
Total Revenue

500bn
400bn

300bn

200bn
150bn

Capital Expenditure

91bn

@ Total Revenue @ Total Recurrent Expenditure @ Capital Expenditure

513.0bn

Total Revenue in 2024

-
518bn

195.1bn

IGR in 2024
975.1bn
Accumulated Debt in 2024

211bn
489%bn

96.4bn

Loan Repayment in 2024

187bn

138bn

91.1bn

Personnel Costs in 2024

2021 2022 2023 2024

150.0bn

Capital Expenditure in 2024

Composition of Total Expenditure Over the Years

100%

80%
17.6%

60%

40%

60.6%
50.2%

48.5%

20%

100bn e g, Personnel Costs
/"‘.. New Loans
7"'"‘/ 17bn 15bn
Obn ¢
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Year Year
@ Total Revenue @ Capital o Debt @ Costs @New Loans @ Loan Repayment ® Recurrent Expe @Capital ®Loan R ®New Loans
Purchasing Power of Civil Servants vs Rise in Statutory Allocations
% y All Increase ( ) ®% | Cost Increase (Nominal) ®% Change in Real Purchasing Power
9 % Statutory Allocation Increase (Nomina
150
100
64

50

17 16 12 16

8 .
% Personnel Cost Increase (Nominal)

(]

8

% Change in Real Purchasing Power
2021 2022 2023 2024

© 2025

2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT

135



Total Revenue

513bn

400bn

260
189
120bn

200bn

Obn
Year ©2020 ®2021 ©2022 2023 2024

Accumulated Debt

600bn 575bn

390|
400bn

293

207
200bn

Year ©2020 ©2021 ©2022 ©2023 ®2024

Capital Expenditure
150bn
150bn
114bn
100bn a2b

50bn

Obn
Year ©2020 2021 ©2022 ©2023 ®2024

Loan & Bond Repayment

100bn 2080

50bn

24bi
17bn

7bi
Obn

Year ©2020 ©2021 ©2022 ©2023 ©2024

Internally Generated Revenue by Year

200bn
180bn
160bn
140bn
120bn
100bn

80bn

60bn 68-1bn
2020 2021 2022

80bn

60bn

40bn

20bn

8.9bn
Obn
2023 2024 2020

Ogun State Financial Performance Analysis
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Overview: Ogun State's total revenue almost doubled in 2024, increasing by 97.1% to 8513.0 billion

from 8260.3 billion in 2023. The state leveraged this to significantly boost its capital spending,

though this was accompanied by a massive increase in recurrent costs and debt.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital spending grew by a substantial 59.1%, from &94.3 billion in

2023 to #150.0 billion in 2024.

e Total IGR: The state demonstrated excellent revenue generation capacity, with IGR

growing by 33.5% to 8#195.1 billion, among the highest in the country.

¢ Personnel Costs: Ogun's 64.03% nominal statutory allocation increase in 2023 resulted in

a 19.77% loss of real purchasing power. This trend of real value loss continued in 2024,
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where a 178.56% nominal increase still resulted in an 18.28% decline in real purchasing
power against an inflation rate of 33.86%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure exploded, increasing by 113.9% to
&544.5 billion, a figure that exceeds the state's total revenue. A key driver was a 312%
increase in loan and bond repayments to #96.4 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state increased its borrowing, with new loans rising by 26.2% to
§60.4 billion. This contributed to a 16.5% increase in accumulated debt, which reached

§575.1 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue The
&150.0 billion capital expenditure represents a substantial investment by the state. However, its
justification is undermined by the absence of transparent and detailed reporting. This is particularly
concerning in the context of unsustainable levels of recurrent expenditure and a high debt burden,

which call for careful scrutiny of how public funds are allocated.

The financial statement does not disaggregate capital spending by programme, function, or
geolocation as required by the National Chart of Accounts. This lack of detail makes it difficult to
determine whether the state’s investments are aligned with its strategic development priorities. In
addition, the report does not outline the specific objectives of the capital projects. There is no
information on the expected outcomes, intended beneficiaries, or timelines for implementation.
Without these key details, it is challenging for citizens and stakeholders to assess the value,

impact, or effectiveness of the state’s capital expenditure.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
support better implementation of Programme objectives by linking expenditure directly to planned
results and enabling real-time tracking of project progress. For the State Accountant General, using
GIFMIS for online real-time payments ensures compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s
Treasury Single Account guidelines, while also improving transparency, accountability, and

financial control across government operations.

To strengthen its IGR, the state should focus on diversifying its local economy and formalizing key
sectors. Investing in digital revenue collection systems can improve efficiency and reduce

leakages.
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Ondo: Sunshine State
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Overview: Ondo State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024 with a 114.5% increase, reaching

&332.4 billion from #155.0 billion in 2023. The state's response in light of this revenue windfall is

fiscally questionable as there was a major reduction in capital expenditure and a huge increase in

debt repayments and recurrent costs.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

Capital Expenditure: In a highly unusual move, the state decreased its capital expenditure

by 49.7%, from &91.3 billion in 2023 to #45.9 billion in 2024, directly contradicting the

national trend.

Total IGR: IGR performance was solid, with a 10% increase from &40.5 billion to 844.6

billion.

© 2025 [T

2024 STATES SUBSIDY UITILIZATION REPORT

139



¢ Personnel Costs: In 2023, Ondo achieved a real purchasing power gain of 13.76% from a
24.46% nominal statutory allocation increase. This positive trend reversed in 2024, as a
151.46% nominal increase was insufficient to overcome the 37.05% inflation rate, leading
to a 24.34% loss in real purchasing power.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 12.71% reaching £#30.98 billion
Naira. Total recurrent expenditure grew by 55.5% to #255.6 billion. A primary driver was a
191% increase in loan and bond repayments, which soared to #96.1 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state reduced its borrowing significantly, with new loans
decreasing by 36.4% to 826.8 billion. However, even with the massive repayment effort, the

accumulated debt decreased by 23.8% to 8#145.0 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

The decision to reduce capital expenditure by half during a year of unprecedented revenue growth
requires a clear and detailed explanation. However, the financial report does not provide sufficient
context to justify this significant change. The #45.9 billion allocated to capital spending is

presented without important disaggregation details.

There is no breakdown of the expenditure by Programme, function, or geolocation as required by
the National Chart of Accounts. This omission makes it difficult to understand which sectors or
regions were prioritized or affected by the reduction. Additionally, the report does not specify the

objectives of the capital projects, including expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, or timelines.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
enhance the implementation of program objectives by providing detailed, real-time tracking of
expenditures aligned with specific goals and outcomes. For the State Accountant General, GIFMIS
facilitates online real-time payments, ensuring compliance with Central Bank of Nigeria Treasury

Single Account guidelines, improving financial control, transparency, and timely reporting.

With a long coastline, Ondo could use increased revenue to develop its maritime sector and tourist
attractions. The state could boost IGR by creating a deep seaport and investing in its fishing
industry. To address its unique challenge of coastal erosion, the state could fund shoreline

protection projects.
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Osun State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Osun State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024 with a 128.8% increase, reaching
&281.1 billion from &122.8 billion in 2023. The state used this to more than double its capital

expenditure while also increasing debt servicing.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending surged by 128%, rising from %51.9 billion in 2023 to
N118.4 billion in 2024.
¢ Total IGR: The state achieved phenomenal IGR growth of 96.4%, with revenues almost
doubling from &27.7 billion to 8#54.4 billion.
e Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 45.85% reaching 861.60 billion. The state
experienced a 14.27% loss in real purchasing power in 2023 despite a 32.93% nominal

increase in statutory allocation. This trend saw a significant reversal in 2024, when a
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138.27% nominal increase translated into a strong 50.53% real gain despite a high inflation
rate of 36.58%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Personnel Costs increased by 45.85% reaching 861.60 billion.
Total recurrent expenditure increased by 61.6% to 8166.7 billion. This includes a 45.8%
increase in loan and bond repayments to #26.0 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state increased its borrowing slightly, with new loans rising by
18.6% to 811.7 billion. This contributed to a 30.8% decrease in accumulated debt, which

stood at 875.6 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Osun State’sN118.4 billion capital expenditure reflects a substantial commitment to development.
However, the financial report does not provide sufficient detail for effective public oversight. The
expenditure is not broken down by programme, function, or geolocation, which limits the ability to

assess whether spending aligns with the state’s strategic priorities.

More importantly, the report does not specify the objectives of the capital projects. There is no
information on the expected outcomes, intended beneficiaries, or implementation timelines. The
Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can help address
these issues by enabling detailed tracking of capital expenditures alighed with specific program
objectives. The State Accountant General can use GIFMIS to facilitate online real-time payments,
ensuring adherence to Central Bank of Nigeria Treasury Single Account guidelines, and enhancing

transparency, financial control, and timely reporting.

Osun State has the potential to significantly boost its IGR by leveraging its rich cultural heritage and
vibrant tourism sector. By investing in the promotion and development of historic sites, cultural
festivals, and eco-tourism infrastructure, the state can attract both domestic and international
visitors. In addition, to address youth unemployment, Osun could expand vocational training
programs and support small-scale entrepreneurship, equipping young people with the skills and

resources needed to participate productively in the local economy.
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Oyo State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Oyo State's total revenue grew by 31.1% in 2024, reaching 8197.2 billion from 8150.4

billion in 2023. The state leveraged this for a massive expansion of its capital expenditure, but this

was accompanied by a significant increase in recurrent costs.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

e Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure more than doubled, with a 112.5% increase

from 896.5 billion in 2023 to 8205.1 billion in 2024. This spending level exceeds the state's

total revenue for the year.

¢ Total IGR: The state showed excellent IGR growth of 27.4%, with revenues rising from

§51.2 billion to 865.3 billion.

¢ Personnel Costs: Oyo faced a severe fiscal challenge in 2023, with a 22.72% nominal

statutory allocation decrease leading to a 26.14% loss in real purchasing power. The state's
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real purchasing power continued to decline in 2024, as a 33.05% nominal increase was still
outpaced by a high local inflation rate of 39.15%, resulting in a 14.92% real loss.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by 40.4% to 8242.3 billion.
This was driven by a sharp rise in 'Other CRFC Charges' and a 49.4% increase in loan and
bond repayments to 845.0 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state reduced its borrowing, with new loans decreasing by 12% to

&11.2 billion. Nevertheless, the accumulated debt still grew by 6.9% to #285.1 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The ambitious #205.1 billion capital expenditure, which exceeds the state's total revenue, requires
a clear and well-documented justification. However, the financial report does not provide the
necessary information to support such a significant spending plan. The report lacks a structured
breakdown of capital expenditure by programme, function, and geolocation, making it difficult to

understand the strategic intent behind the allocations.

The report does not provide information on the specific objectives of the capital projects, including
the expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, or timelines for implementation. In light of the state's
rising debt profile, this lack of clarity raises important concerns about fiscal responsibility and the

long-term sustainability of public investments.

Adopting the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can help
address these challenges by aligning capital expenditures with clearly defined program objectives
and performance indicators. The use of GIFMIS also enables the State Accountant General to
process real-time online payments in compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury Single
Account (TSA) guidelines, thereby enhancing transparency, efficiency, and accountability in public

financial management.

To strengthen its fiscal position, the state should focus on expanding and formalizing its local
economic base. This could include improving property tax administration, digitizing revenue
collection processes, and offering incentives to bring informal businesses into the tax net.
Additionally, targeted investments in sectors such as agriculture, tourism, and small-scale
manufacturing can stimulate local enterprise and create new, sustainable revenue streams over

time.
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Plateau State Financial Performance Analysis

Overview: Plateau State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024 with a 121.6% increase,
reaching 8228.6 billion from #103.1 billion in 2023. The state leveraged this financial boost to
increase capital spending and significantly ramp up debt repayments, though this was supported

by substantial new borrowing.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
e Capital Expenditure: Capital spending almost doubled, increasing by 91.9% from &37.1
billion in 2023 to #71.2 billion in 2024.
¢ Total IGR: The state recorded a strong 20% growth in IGR, which rose from #26.0 billion to
#831.1 billion.
e Personnel Costs: In 2023, Plateau achieved a modest 2.77% real purchasing power gain

from a 12.04% nominal statutory allocation increase. This positive trend was greatly
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amplified in 2024, as a 155.79% nominal increase produced a strong 20.21% real gain
against an inflation rate of 32.08%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure more than doubled, jumping by
103.7% to §235.4 billion. This was overwhelmingly driven by a 338.5% increase in loan and
bond repayments, which soared from #11.9 billion to #52.3 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state increased its acquisition of new loans by 74.2%, borrowing
&51.6 billion in 2024. Despite the huge repayment effort, this new debt contributed to a

26.9% decrease in the state's accumulated debt, bringing it down to #148.8 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

The #71.2 billion capital expenditure reflects a significant commitment to enhancing the state’s
infrastructure and economic development. However, the financial reporting falls short of the depth
required for meaningful public accountability. At the summary level, capital expenditure is not
organized by function, geographic location, or Programme as prescribed in the National Chart of
Accounts (NCOA). Furthermore, the Detailed Statement of Capital Expenditure by Programme is
poorly structured, with elements of functional classification inappropriately interwoven, while

expenditure by geolocation is entirely absent from the statistical reports.

While the inclusion of these reports reflects a commendable step toward transparency, it is
important that such efforts also align fully with the standards set by the National Chart of Accounts
(NCOA). A key gap in the report is the absence of clearly stated objectives for capital projects.
Without details on the intended outcomes, target beneficiaries, and implementation timelines, it
becomes difficult for the public to assess the effectiveness of these investments or the justification

for the associated borrowing.

The use of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
help strengthen this connection by supporting the planning, tracking, and reporting of program-
based expenditures tied to measurable objectives. Additionally, it allows the State Accountant
General to execute real-time online payments in line with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s TSA

guidelines, thereby enhancing financial accountability, efficiency, and compliance.

Plateau State can boost its Internally Generated Revenue (IGR) by focusing on tourism, agriculture,
and solid minerals, as these are areas where the state holds strong comparative advantages.
Strategic investment in these sectors can attract private capital and promote long-term economic

growth.
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Sokoto: Seat of the Caliphate

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 21
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Sokoto State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Sokoto State experienced a 134% increase in total revenue in 2024, reaching 8281.7
billion from #120.3 billion in 2023. The state used this surge to more than double its capital
expenditure and drastically increase its debt repayments.
Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
e Capital Expenditure: Capital spending surged by 128.2%, from %58.6 billion in 2023 to
&133.7 billion in 2024, indicating a strong developmental focus.
¢ Total IGR: The state's IGR grew by a solid 21.4%, rising from #18.2 billion to 8#22.0 billion.
¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 10.80% reaching 838.11 billion. In 2023,
Sokoto's 11.25% nominal statutory allocation increase was entirely eroded by inflation,
leading to a 27.98% loss in real purchasing power. Despite a 154.11% nominal increase in
2024, the state's real purchasing power continued to decline by 23.86% due to a high

inflation rate of 34.65%.
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¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure more than doubled, increasing by
108.8% to #185.8 billion. This was overwhelmingly driven by a 330.5% increase in loan and
bond repayments, which soared from £16.4 billion to #70.7 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state increased its intake of new loans by 17.8% to 844.0 billion.
Despite the massive repayment effort, this new borrowing resulted in a 9.3% increase in

accumulated debt, which stood at 8#133.7 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

The 8133.7 billion allocated to capital expenditure represents a substantial investment in Sokoto
State’s development. However, the financial report lacks the level of transparency necessary to
ensure public accountability. Capital expenditure is not classified according to programme,
function, or geolocation, as prescribed by the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA). This omission

makes it difficult to assess how spending aligns with the state government's strategic priorities.

More importantly, the report does not provide a clear statement of the objectives behind the capital
projects. Without specific information on the expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, and
implementation timelines, it is difficult for citizens and oversight institutions to assess the

effectiveness of government performance or understand the justification for further borrowing.

The adoption of the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS)
can support the implementation of program objectives by ensuring that capital projects are linked
to clearly defined goals and performance indicators. Through GIFMIS, state accountants - General
can process online real-time payments in compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury
Single Account (TSA) guidelines. This enhances transparency, improves cash management, and

ensures that public resources are allocated efficiently and in line with policy priorities.

Sokoto State has a strong opportunity to strengthen its internally generated revenue by formalizing
and scaling its leather and traditional textile industries. Establishing a dedicated "Sokoto Leather
Brand" could enhance the state's industrial identity, increase economic activity, and create new

revenue streams through taxation and enterprise growth.

In addition, addressing the persistent issue of water scarcity should be a top priority. Strategic
investment in new dams and modern irrigation infrastructure is essential to support agricultural
productivity, promote food security, and improve the overall well-being of the population. These
efforts would not only drive economic growth but also contribute to long-term environmental and

social sustainability.
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Taraba: Nature's Gift to the Nation

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7

Expenditure Priority Over the Years
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Movement in Total Revenue, Capital Expenditure , Accumulated Debt , Personnel Costs, New
Loans and Loan & Bond Repayment by Year (2020 - 2024)
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Taraba State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Taraba State's total revenue more than doubled in 2024 with a 126.1% increase, reaching
§236.6 billion from #104.7 billion in 2023. The state used this surge for an enormous expansion in

capital expenditure, financed in part by substantial new borrowing.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital spending saw a phenomenal 286.8% increase, jumping from
&58.1 billion in 2023 to 8#224.7 billion in 2024. This level of spending nearly equals the state's
entire revenue for the year.
¢ Total IGR: IGR performance was strong, growing by 54% from #10.4 billion to #16.1 billion.
e Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 60.28% reaching 842.82 billion. The

state's 45.17% nominal statutory allocation increase in 2023 resulted in a 14.21% loss of
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real purchasing power. This trend reversed in 2024, as a 134.09% nominal increase
translated into a 29.95% real gain against an inflation rate of 30.33%.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by 73.4% to 8#100.2 billion.
This includes a 188% increase in loan and bond repayments, which rose to #13.0 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state took on a very large N64.6 billion in new loans, a 355%
increase from 2023. This heavy borrowing only led to a slight 5.2% increase in accumulated

debt, which reached 8127.8 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

Taraba State’s capital expenditure rose sharply by 286.81%, reaching 8224.73 billion which is an
unprecedented increase enabled by strong revenue growth. This fiscal performance allowed for
substantial capital investment and increased loan repayments. However, the simultaneous rise in
personnel costs, new borrowings, and accumulated debt highlights the need for prudent fiscal

management to prevent the risk of over-indebtedness.

The &224.7 billion allocated to capital expenditure represents a significant investment that requires
careful scrutiny, especially given its heavy reliance on new borrowing. However, the financial report
does not provide essential details that would allow for a full assessment of the spending. Capital
expenditure is not disaggregated by programme, function, or geolocation, making it difficult to
evaluate how well the allocations align with the state's policy priorities. Additionally, the report
does not outline the specific objectives of the projects, leaving out key information such as

expected outcomes, target beneficiaries, and timelines for implementation.

Adopting the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can help
address these gaps by enabling a more structured approach to budget execution. The use GIFMIS
enables the alignment of spending with clearly defined program objectives and performance
targets. In addition, by using GIFMIS for online real-time payments, the State Accountant General
can enhance financial accountability and ensure compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s

Treasury Single Account (TSA) guidelines.

Known for its agricultural potential in tea and coffee, Taraba could use increased revenue to
establish an agricultural export processing zone, thereby boosting IGR from international trade.

Funds could also be used to address inter-tribal conflicts through cultural exchange and dialogue.
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Yobe: Pride of the Sahel

Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPI Rank out of 36 States - 22
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Movement in Total Revenue, Capital Expenditure , Accumulated Debt , Personnel Costs, New
Loans and Loan & Bond Repayment by Year (2020 - 2024)
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Yobe State Financial Performance Analysis
Overview: Yobe State experienced a 127.1% increase in total revenue in 2024, with its finances
growing to&227.5 billion from #100.2 billion in 2023. The state directed this windfall toward a major

expansion of its capital projects while keeping a tight rein on debt.

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:
¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure almost tripled, with a 199.5% increase from
&50.5 billion in 2023 to #151.8 billion in 2024, showing a clear focus on development.
e Total IGR: IGR performance was modest, with a 2.5% increase from %10.8 billion to 811.1
billion.
¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 48.41% reaching #65.20 billion. In 2023, a
4.65% nominalincrease in statutory allocation was matched by a significant 19.65% loss in

real purchasing power. The state's fiscal position recovered strongly in 2024, witha 142.21%
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nominal increase in statutory allocation resulting in a 15.39% real gain against an inflation
rate of 33.02%.
¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by 22.4% to 8#139.9 billion.
This was despite a 34.8% decrease in loan and bond repayments, which fell to 810.2 billion.
¢ Debt Management: The state significantly cut back on borrowing, with new loans
decreasing by 35.1% to #10.2 billion. This prudent fiscal management resulted in a 25.8%

reduction in accumulated debt, bringing it down to £#88.9 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue:

Yobe State demonstrated strong fiscal prudence in 2024 by effectively leveraging its revenue
growth to finance substantial capital investments, significantly reduce accumulated debt, and
curtail new loan acquisitions. The allocation of #151.8 billion to capital expenditure represents a

major commitment to the state’s long-term development.

The financial report falls short in meeting key standards of transparency and accountability. It does
not present capital expenditure in accordance with the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), as it
omits categorization by programme, function, and geolocation. This makes it difficult to assess
whether public funds are being directed toward the state’s strategic development priorities. In
addition, the absence of clearly defined project objectives including measurable outcomes, target
beneficiaries, and timelines limits the ability of citizens and oversight bodies to evaluate the

effectiveness of capital investments.

Implementing Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
help address these challenges. GIFMIS enables budget execution to be tracked against defined
program objectives, thereby improving planning, performance monitoring, and resource alignment.
It also allows the State Accountant General to process real-time online payments, which supports
stronger internal controls and ensures full compliance with the Central Bank of Nigeria’s Treasury
Single Account (TSA) guidelines. This integrated approach enhances financial discipline and

promotes more transparent and effective public spending.

The state could use its increased revenue to rebuild its infrastructure and restore basic public
services. IGR could be boosted by supporting dry season farming and livestock production. The
state could also use the funds to offer tax breaks and incentives to attract investors to its weak

economy.
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Zamfara: Farming is Our Pride
Fiscal Transperency Score 2/7 FPIl Rank out of 36 States - 23
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Overview: Zamfara State's total revenue grew by 22% in 2024, reaching 8#106.6 billion from &87.4

billion in 2023. This modest revenue growth was leveraged to significantly expand capital

expenditure, while debt repayments were notably reduced

Key Impacts of Increased 2024 Revenue:

¢ Capital Expenditure: Capital expenditure saw a massive 333.7% increase, jumping from

#&36.8 billionin 2023 to #159.8 billion in 2024. This spending level is substantially higher than

the state's total revenue for the year.

e TotallGR: The staterecorded agood 15.1% growth in IGR, from &22.1 billion to %25.4 billion.

¢ Personnel Costs: Personnel Costs increased by 12.69% reaching #51.78 billion. Zamfara

achieved an 11.12% real purchasing power gain in 2023 from a 4.94% nominal statutory

allocation increase. However, this trend reversed in 2024, as a 24.32% nominal increase
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was insufficient to counter the 34.71% inflation rate, leading to a 22.02% loss in real
purchasing power.

¢ Recurrent Expenditure: Total recurrent expenditure increased by 23.5% to #100.3 billion.
This occurred despite a 55.9% decrease in loan and bond repayments, which fell from 826.1
billion to #11.5 billion.

¢ Debt Management: The state drastically cut back on new borrowing, with new loans
decreasing by 64.8% to &4.6 billion. However, the reduction in repayments meant the

accumulated debt still decreased by 21.4% to 8107.4 billion.

FRAN Insights for Improved Transparency & Optimizing Internally Generated Revenue

Zamfara State recorded moderate revenue growth in the reporting period, which supported a
notable increase in capital expenditure and a reduction in accumulated debt. Although new
borrowings also rose, the overall trend suggests a strategic focus on investment and debt
management. However, the scale of the capital expenditure, at 8159.8 billion, which exceeds the
state’s total income, raises important questions about the sustainability and justification of this

level of spending.

Capital expenditure is not broken down by Programme, function, or geolocation as required by the
National Chart of Accounts (NCOA), which makes it difficult to determine whether investments are
aligned with key development goals or local needs. The report also does not clarify the objectives
of these capital project which entails the expected outcomes, intended beneficiaries, or timelines
remain unspecified. This lack of transparency is especially worrisome considering the scale of

borrowing and the ambitious nature of the investment plan.

Implementing the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System (GIFMIS) can
improve transparency by linking budget execution to Programme objectives and enabling real-time
tracking. It also allows the State Accountant-General to process online payments in line with CBN’s

TSA guidelines, ensuring better financial control.

Zamfara can boost its internally generated revenue by formalizing the gold sector and setting up a
state-owned refinery to create jobs and increase value. Strengthening security through targeted

investments in infrastructure and intelligence is also crucial for long-term development.
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FISCAL COMPLIANCE
GUIDELINES



Extract From the Proposed Financial Sector and Public Financial Management
Development Policy Credit in the Amount of US $500 Million.
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7 Develop of sector gies to impl G ’s polices as the basis of
formulation of the budget by costing of activities o be implemented by the various MDA within
an MTSS and MTEF.
8. Develop a multi-dimensional chart of to provide a fr rk to align policy

priorities with the budget and financial reports. The budget is expected to translate the policy
intent of the Government into costed activities for implementation by the various MDAs. In
order to be able to analyze and report on the budget, the classification system should be flexible
enough to allow for aggregation of data as well as drill-down to the lowest level. In preparation

for the impl

of GIFMIS an inter ial committees is in place to expand the chart

of accounts to include critical segments such as: fund, organization, program, project, objects
and location. The aim is to ensure consistency between codes used for budget preparation and
accounting and financial reporting. The new chart of account will be comply with the IMF-GFS
2001 manual and provide a framework for preparation of annual financial statements according
to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards.

9.

the classification of the budget by functions of G di

d.

The G intends to introduce program budgeti

g and as a first step will improve
to strategic priorities.

Program budgeting and enabling chart of accounts (as a first step to Performance-Based
Budgeting) should be operational within a stable MTEF and annual budget cycle.

10.

Suggested output goal: efficient of ing and reporting.

1

Financial Reporting: Nigeria does not have a national public sector accounting standard

but in 2002 the Federal and State Governments agreed to adopt a common reporting format for
the preparation of final accounts. Timely and quality financial reports that are publicly available
provide an opportunity to hold public officers accountable for the use of public funds. The
financial reports should also meet minimum standards to be useful for making decisions on the
Strategic allocation of resources for service delivery. Although the financial statements have
become timely, they do not adequately reflect all sources of funds. ATRRS has been deployed to
all MDAs and has been used to submit transcripts to the Trasury for consohdnuon M.

budget figyres are not. captured to udget perfc
re] structure are sill guided by inance (Control anagcmcm) Act 1958,

12.

Cash Management: The current practice of transferring cash to various MDA accounts

held in commercial banks leads to a situation of idle cash balances since Government is not in a
position to Accurmly ascertain its cash posilion when issuing budget releases and may resort to

g. Capital budget p * for 2008 was 43.9 percent with instances

of huge amoums mumod to the Central Bank at the end of the financial year. This can be
attributed to late passage of the budget and lack of timely information on the availability of cash
to plan for budget execution. The Fiscal Responsibility Law requires that the Accountant General
should prepare an annual cash plan one month before the start of the year and that the Minister of

Finance should publish a disbursement schedule within thirty days of enactment of the
Appropriation Act but this is not currently done. The challenge is to build skills at the MDA
level to prepare annual work plans from which procurement plans can be derived and tied to
disbursement schedules and cash release.

© 2025
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ANNEX 7: NIGERIA’S PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REFORMS

Overview of Public Financial Management Reforms

1. The Public Expenditure M: and Financial A bility Review (PEMFAR)
d in 2006

report d actions to p a sound Pubhc Financial Management
Environment to address the weak in Public E dit The report noted
that while advances were made in ic and debt budget 1

and p reform less progress was made with respect to capacity bulldmg,
mcludmg in the Budget Office, and in ‘such areas of financial bility as reporting,
monitoring, and disclosure.
2. The G is add g these k through the impl ion of wide

ranging reforms including through lhc Economic Reform and Governance Project covering three
key areas: (i) financial management and information systems; (ii) external audit; and (iii)
financial reporting. The long term reform agenda is further articulated the National Strategy for
Public Service Reforms: “Towards a World-Class Public Service” which aims to rebuild the
public servu:c with emphasns on critical institutional changes, msmllmg management systems,
and i merit, and client focus in the medium-term (by
2011). The PEM pillar of this strategy has four key target results: (i) sustained macro-economic
and fiscal sublhty, (ii) strategic alloeauon and resuhs-based Imdgelmg of funds; (iii) efficient

g and g; and (iv) integrity in the use of public funds.

3. The Bank is in discussions with the Ministry of Finance to assist them to conduct a Public
Expendlmre and Financial Accountability (PEFA) self- wnlh the objecti of @)
assessing the status of the Federal PFM system, p and insti to establish t

to monitor implementation of the PFM plllar of the National Public Sector Reform Strategy
(NSPSR); and (ii) to track progress in PFM since the PEMFAR assessment.

4. Suggested output goal: sustained macro-economic and fiscal stability

5. Monitoring and Eval (M&E) fi k to monitor progr 1 ion of
the budget and to assess whether the expected outputs are being pmduced and the results realized
are not yet in place.

6. Chart of Accounts: The current chart account is limited as it does not allow classification
of the budgel to align ministries activities with pohcy pnonues Key segments such as

graphical location, p and projects are mxssmg in the classification system. The
classification system used by the Budget Office is not consistent with the Chart of Accounts used
by the Office of the Accountant General making it difficult to directly report actuals against
approved budget.

Reform strategy to reach the outcome goal

Reform strategy to reach the outcome goal

13.  The Bill for the amendment of the Finance (Control and Management) Act, Cap 144 LFN
1990 is with the Attorney General forrewcwnndabmmnwﬂwNmomlAmbly The
objective of this Act is to secure and sound 8 of the
revenue, assets and liabilities ol‘Govemmeﬂ and other public institutions. The Act aims to (a)
regulate financial management; (b) ensure that all revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities are
managed efficiently and effectively and in a transparent manner; (c) ensure that officers are put
mapo&uontobublemmmgcmdmuvldl lvnhblcmnﬂbcmmunubk‘
(d) ensure the timely p of quality i on; (¢) climinate waste (including fruitless
expenditure) and corruption in the use of public resources; (f) stipulate the responsibilities of
persons entrusted with financial management; and (g) provide for other matters relating to
financial management.

14, The G has impl d the interim A ing T ion Recording and
Reporting System (ATRRS). Although ATTRS has been dcployed to all MDAs, the system is
not linked up with the Treasury and manual vote books are still maintained. Transcripts are
submitted using backup devices. A robust and well secured information management system is
required to protect the credibility of financial reports for decmon making. The conceptualization
of the G I d Financial System (GIFMIS) has been
completed through a consultative process under the direction of steering committee chaired by
the Accountant General and reporting to the Minister of Finance. A phased implementation
approach has been adopted starting with the core foundation modules (General Lcdger mcludms
bank reeolmhmou. Appmpmnon, Expendlmre Plymenl and Reporting). The s

mmmmqmmmmhmorﬁmﬂm

ly Government operates
will also be improved.

15.  The Government has adopted a cash management policy. Timely a\mlalnluy of cash is
cnucal for successful mplcmenuuon of the budget. Flsul discipline requires keeping
within the G cash ints. Reliable tools should be used
wha'cby revenue pm)ccnons and ush plans will inform preparation and publication of
lated in the Fiscal Responsibility Act. To achieve this, the
Oﬂ'wc of the Accountant Gmcn] should be in a position to undertake timely and efficient bank
reconciliation to delenmnc its overall mh posmon atany pmm in time. Fragmentation of bank
accounts in 1 banks and li in at the MDAs poses a
serious chall to G 's cash posmon The recently developed Cash
Management Policy notes that “A Treasury Single Account (TSA) shall be maintained at Central
Bank of Nigeria with each MDA ible for the of its allocations but effecting
payment through the TSA ... up to their cash allocation ceiling”.

16.  Availability of funds for i of di is b dictabl

through cash-backing of budget releases. Meunwhlle, the Government has adopwd electronic
—w

17. ved financial the cash model of the International Public
Sector . Personnel ‘emment Accoun!
Advisory Board (GASAB) i the Office of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India

Govcmmcm w1l| work closely with counterparts from Office of the Accountant General of the
Board and Office of the Auditor General for the
chcnuon to conducl an . The speclﬁc objective of the assessment is to develop a lvpoﬂ for the
country authorities which: (a) provides the Gr and other i Iders with a
common well-based knowledge as to where the country stands against the internationally
developed norms of public sector financial reporting; (b) assesses the consequences of the
prevailing variances; (¢) provides a basis for measuring interim compliance; and (d) charts paths
for improved compliance with IPSAS cash basis.
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The Revised Chart of Accounts October 2010

Office of the Accountant General of the Federation

The Revised Chart of Accounts

with Explanatory Notes

Report of the Inter Ministerial Committee on the Review
of the Chart of Accounts

October, 201
Part2 208

This revised Chart of Accounts (COA) is an il budget and
system which has been prepared primarily for the i ion of the
d Financial ion System (GIFMIS]‘. As a database driven

application, GIFMIS is an ambitious project that will enable all treasury transactions to be
tracked in detail on an on-line real-time basis. The COA is multi-dimensional in the sense
that budget and accounting data can be analysed in different ways depending on need. The
details of each transaction will include not only the exact particulars of a given receipt or
payment but also the unit or section of the Ministry, Department or Agency ({MDA]
responsible for the transaction.

In addition to keeping track of daily transactions, GIFMIS as an Accounting application will
also generate all relevant reports on demand. The reports may be daily details (or summary)
of receipts and daily bank iliation repor monthly

of accounts, quarterly report of financial statements, annual financial statements, etc.

. 20Stuctureof the Revised Chartof Accounts

The COA is made up of six [6] segments of 25 parts and 52-digits each representing an
essential detail of pach transaction’. The 6 segments and their parts are shown as Figure 1.
In designing the COA effort has been made to comply, as much as is practicable, with IMF
Government Finance Manual 2001 (GFS), i Public Sector i

(IPSAS} of IFAC reporting requirements and other known modern public sector budgeting
and accounting coding models. The COA has been modelled using the REAL [Revenue,
Expenditure, Assets and Liabilities). This will enable easy migration to IPSAS accrual basis of
accounting in future. An explanation of each segment of the COA is presented below.

" GIFMIS = the f Public Financial (PEM) processes, from budget peopaeation and
wizh the hetp of far fimancial of lme
minkstries, spending agencies and other peblic socior opeTations.

" The Cthers zegment together with its parts and codes are not part of the Chart of Accounts. They are used to
pravide further information required in data anabysis.

A policy is typically described as a deliberate plan of action to guide decisions and achieve
rational outcomes. Policy differs from rules or law. While law can compel or prohibit
behaviours (e.g. a law requiring the payment of taxes on income), policy merely guides

Segment Digits actions toward those that are most likely to achieve a desired outcome. Examples are
Energy Policy, Economic Policy, Health Policy, Education Policy, etc.*® See Table 4.1 of the
11 Sector 2 COA:
12 Organi 2
13 Sub-Organizati 3
i3 Sub-Sub Org 2 Table 2.4.1: Policy
1.5 Sub-Sub-Sub Ori 2
0 CRITICAL INFRASTRUCTURE
2:1 Account Type 1 02 THE NIGER DELTA
2.2 Sub-Account Types 1 03 FOOD SECURITY
23 Account Class 2 04 HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT
24 Sub-Class 2 (3 LAND TENURE CHANGES AND OWNERSHIP
2.5 Economic Code (Line Item) 2 6 NATIONAL SECURITY AND INTELLIGENCE
'3 FunctionalSegment 5 o WEALTH CREATION
31 Main Function or Divisions 3
3.2 F ion or p 1
3.3 Secondary Function or Classes 1 2.4.2. Programme
— A programme may be defined as a long-term outline of a project or government function
41 Pol 2 that is designed to achieve a stated ob]ecxlve"A A programme may also be defined as a set
= olicy of activities that meets specific policy objecti of the g (e.g., pre-primary
4.2 Programme 2 ducation or the devel of crop prodi ). In contrast to a functional classification,
4.3 Project 6 a classification by program takes into account the government’s policy objectives and how
4.4 Objective 2 these policies will be implemented. Programs may be d into h
a4 Activi 2 categories called activities (e.g., the vaccination activity within a disease prevention
'Hy_ program), which in turn may encompass a series of related initiatives and proiecls“.
5.1 Main Funds 2 les are Rural Electrification Programme, Poverty Eradication Programme,
5.2 Sub-Funds it ization Prog Irrigation Prog etc. See Table 4.2.
53 Fund Sources 2 % it
6 GeoCodeSegment & s e
Programs are further broken down into Projects. Budgeting and accounting are carried out
6.1 Zone 1 along project lines.
6.2 State 2
6.3 Senatorial : % A detalled essay on Policy Is available at Wikigedia com
6.4 LGA 2 *'sge Dictionary com; The Eree Online Dictionary
6.5 Wards 2 ** public Financial Management Technical Guidance Note; Budget Classification; IMF;
L * prog are yet to be drawn up. The responsibility has been assigned to BoF. Codes will be assigned to the
Total 52 programmes as soon as they are drawn up.

© 2025

0 The IMF Treasury Reference Manual treats Projects as a separate Segment on its own, Provision should be
made for this option and pending a decision on how to implement the Program/Project aspects of the COA.
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Extract From Introducing the New Chart of Accounts for GIFMIS by Musa F.
Istifanus

Introducing the New Chart of
Accounts for GIFMIS

LS &'—‘
e

By
Musa F. Istifanus
GIFMIS Business Process Manager

Introduction

Structure of the New COA
Administrative Segment
Economic Segment
Function Segment
Programme Segment
Fund Segment
Geographic Code Segment

Outline (2)

* Other Segments

* Next Steps

* Membership of the Inter-Ministerial
Committee on the Review of the GIFMIS COA

Introduction

* Traditionally, budgeting and accounting involve
large amount of data

* In a small entity with a relatively small volume of
transactions, the data can be manually recorded,
analysed and reported without much difficulty.

* For an entity as large as Federal Government of
Nigeria with combined daily transaction count in
excess of 1,000,000; it is quite inefficient if not
impossible to process such data manually.

Membership of the Inter-Ministerial

Committee on GIFMIS COA

Figure 9: Committee Members

[ hame " orpnimtion | sutns |

Mr. M.F. Istifanus OAGF
Mr. A. A. Tumba OAGF
Mr. P. Omoregie OAGF/TA
Mrs. 0.0. Akanji CBN

Mr. C.M. Okafor CBN

Mr. I. Anyahara NASB

Mr. R.A. Olaitan Fed Min. of Finance
Mr. D. Wilde BOF

Mr. S.0. Adelana OSSAP MDGs

Mr. J. Philips OSSAP-MDGs

Chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Member

|

Membership (2)

I S S N N

Mr. E.O. Ekezie NBS

Mrs. N.E. Nwachukwu CBN

Mr. S.E. Ehikhamenor Fed. Min. of Finance
Mr. A.O. Oladosun AuGF

Mr. G.R. Adeniran BOF

Mr. F. Oneyesagbe BOF

Mr. J.A. Coker BOF

Mr. M.A. Bara bmMo

Ms. M.O. Arigo CBN

Mr. H. Agberagba OSSAP-MDGs

Mr. M. Yusuf Fed. Min. of Finance
Mr. E. S. Okolieaboh OAGF

© 2025

Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Secretary
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National Treasury Circular May 2013

/,le Chairman, Independent Corrupt Practices and other Related Offences

?L’Q Commission, |
- ; The Chairman, Economic and Fi ial Crimes C
’ t Ly . A The Chairman, National Drug Law Enforcement Agency,
AT Shenal Lt Abbste Bosbioes run :mﬂ-v.nqa.wom All Federal Permanent Sccretaries,
The Clerk to the National Assembly,
TRY/A4B1-/2013 The Secretary, National Judicial C:uncil.
OAGFICADID2G/V. 11190 The Chief Registrar, Supreme Court,

The Auditor-General for the Federation,
The Henourable Commissioners of Finance in the 36 States of the

Email-oaghigerinipynhoo.com, P.MB. 7015 Fedcration,
Email: {aacipsasabu Garki-Abuja The Honourable Commissioners of Local Government in the 36 states
Website -OAGE: wiw.oasl.gov.ng 13" May, 2013 of the Federation,
Website- FAAC Sub-Commiltec: wwiw.faacipsas.gov.ng The Secretaries to State Governments,
! The Clerk to State Assemblies,
| 1 The Acc?unmn;s-Gcnenml of the States of the Federation,
©ONAT ,TREASURY CIRCUL < The Chairmen, Local Government Service Commissions,
N TIONAL T C The Chairmen, Local Government Councils,
“The Chiel ol Staflto the Prosident, .The States Auditors-Genenal, )
The Deputy Chiel of Staff, Office of the Vice Presiden, {2 The Anditos-Geniera! for Looal Goyserement Counclls,... . .
All Honourable Ministers, The D_u‘ector of Trens\r:y,.l"'odcml C.apltnl Territory Administration,
The Secrelary 1o lthm'cmmem of the Federation, Al Direotors-General/Chief Bxsoutives of

Extra-Ministerial Offices and Agencies,

‘The Hi “the Civil Service of the Federation, : t
The Head of the Civil Service of the Federation, All Directors of Finance and Aceounts,

“The National Security Adviser,

¥ 3 All Heads of Accounts|Divisions
All Special Advisers, . : Moclag i
The Chief of Defence StafliServies ChiefsfInspector-General of All Heads of Internal Audit Units,
i [(,nllli:.: G L M T . The Sub-Treasurer of t!'ne Federation,
‘The Governor of the Central Bank of Nigerin, All Zonal Coordinators, v
The Chairman, Feder! Civil Service Commission, All Federal Pay Officers.
The Chairman, Pelice Service Commission, B '
The Chairman, Code ol Conduct Bureaw, ,‘,. 2
e Chaisman, Code of Conduoct Tibural, ; Al N ATION oD __APFLICATION _OF
“The Chairman, Federal Character Commission, ‘(IPSAS) IN NIGERIA 2 ARDS
“The Chaieman, Revenue Mabilisation, Allecalion end Fiscal
Commission,

i The Federal Executive Council (FEC) at its meeting of 28 July,
52010 approved the adoption of International Public Sector Accounting
‘Standards (IPSAS) in Nigeria. Subsequently, the Federation Account,
“Allocation Committee (FAAC) at its meeting of 13" June, 2011set up a

“The Chairman, Federo] Infand Revenue Service,
‘The Chairman, Independent National Electeral Commission,
T'he Chainman, National Population Commission,

L i e e AL N S
chhnlcal Sub-Commiitee to
implementation and applicati
government in Nigeria.

provide a Roadmap for the adoption,
on of IPSAS in the three tiers of

2. The Sub-Committee had so far developed a unified National Chart
of Accounts (COA), the format for the General Purpose Financial
Sua(cmel}ts (GPFS) for IPSAS Cash and Accrual as well as the
Accounting Policies,

3. Consequently, the IPSAS Cash Basis of Accounting would be

implemented with effect from 1* January, 2014 while IPSAS Accrual

Basis of Accounting would be implemented with effect from 1* January,

2016. Pursuant to the foregoing, it becomes imperative that the
- preparation of 2014 :budget be based on the new National Chart of
‘L " Accounts across the three tiers of Government.

4. In line with the adoption, the Office of the Accounlan(-ancral of
the Federation (OAGF), States Accountants-General and Direetors of
Finance & Accounts/Treasury at Local Government Councils are to
commence the implementation of the provisions of IPSAS and ke(:,p
their books of account in accordance with the new COA and the GPFS
formats. Relevarit copics are attached to this Circular.

5. The contents of this Circular should be brought to the attention of
all concerned for strict compliance, plgase.
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Format of General-Purpose Financial Statements (GPFS): IPSAS Cash And
Accrual 2012

FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF NIGERIA FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF NIGERIA

FORMAT OF PURPOSE F! (GPFS):
= STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMANCE REPORTS

.
. = STATISTICAL REPORTS
OR A A A * ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(IPSAS ACCRUAL)

(IPSASIGASH))

0B DB TO BE USED BY:

v DVER
b STATES GOVERNM

m

DERAL CAPITAL TERRITORY ADM RATIO

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SN DETAILS PAGES
A Statements
i %!u;c_my“—w'mnzrmw Performance 3L
(Income & Expenditure)
i Pmumnww»rr—aumm 2
i Pmd&-—wmm«lwmrcnim 34
iv_| Format tof n Net assets/ 5
v [ Notes to the Acoounts 622
vi Notes 23-28
B Reports
Vil % of Rever T poct 2936 |
viii_| Format of Recurre Repon 3742
ix__| Format of Capital Report GEn
x| Format of Periodic Bank i r;
I}mmnmmmm 46
C Statistical Reports
xil_| Format of Fuactional Report TR
xiii_| Format of Programme Report 9-54
xiv_| Format of Geo L 5559
C__| Cash Basis Accou:
XY lmuofmmnmnmm—»u:m 60-70
¢~ International International Public UN System of
Financial reporting Sector accounting National
G standards (IFRS) standards (IPSAS) Accounts (SNA)
All commercia All pub||c European System of IMF Government
entities & sector entities national and regional Finance Statistics
GBEs except GBEs Accounts (ESA) 95 (GFS) 2001
All countries /L
a\(,:lv:etr:d EU All countries
P Countries except EU
- ~

General Purpose
Financial Statements

Statistical
Reports

= e e e Share common Informations e e e - -

There is a strong connection between Government Finance Statistics (GFS) guidelines and accrual-
based public sector accounting standards. Many macroeconomic methods stem from public
sector accounting. Recent international efforts aim to align statistical methods and accounting
standards to improve government reporting and fiscal transparency. Adopting high-quality accrual
standards like IPSAS enhances reliable fiscal statistics. The National Chart of Accounts (NCOA) is
designed to support both GFS reporting and financial accounting efficiently.

Templates of IPSAS Compliant Budget 2013
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FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF NIGERIA

TEMPLA
IPSAS COM
BUDG

“
El JL“ILLI
(COUNC

GOVERN

vi Prior year's budget outtumn, prescated m the sams format as the
budgel propasal.

Current ye
outium), pre:
Summiariz

budget feither the revised budget or the estimated
nted inthe same fo

tos the budgpet propasal

the main heads of the classificati

2 data for the current and previous year,
x Explanation of budyet i

esbimates

7 the budgetary impact of all maj
ndior sume major

Ttis pladd to note th

2lad to note that
S met <o)

shove ome of the

ever, there is need 10 include all budget
16 fully meat Il‘\ AS requirements.

g

It 15 recommended that this 'mb.u..:
Natioizl Chart of Acco:

e o Y . NCOA, and the
the General Purpese Finnncial Statements for both Cash and the 2 ceryal
AAC Sub Committee on the Reedmap for the

¢ of the Sub-Committe: that ysers
tion seeks o
aunting Standards.

1l ing this publication useful as
International Public Sectar

Acc

FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON ROADMAR FOR THE ADOPTION OF IPSAS

© 2025

Templates of IPSAS Compliant Budget 2013

TEMPLATE ON IPSAS COMPLIANT BUDGET
PREFACE

Tos ensure uniformity in the management of Public Fifancial Man;
Nigeria, the FAAC Sub-Committee ¢a the Roadmap for the Adoption
has developed temolates of IPSAS
operational with the budget for 20141
Federal, 36 St
Government (e

caient in

pliant Budget. The templates

al vear and are expected 1o be used by the
oderal Capital Termitory Admmssiration and 774 Local
ncils. The templates will assist the govemment achieve the
umplementation of IPSAS Cashby 2014 and IPSAS Aceruz| Basisby 2
IPSAS Cish Basis (Fast 10 Ma
(IPSAS 24: Presentation of

requine parsson of lmd-,a amounts md rhc actual amounts arsmyg Troam

exeeution of the budget to be included in the Financial Statements of the Federal

States and Lo

This comparisan shall present sepasately for
cach level of legisiative oversig

» The Ongznal budget .md supplementary budges ns well as the Fnal badget
amount; and

» The Actual amounts on a comparable basis

In line with the requirements af the Publ

Expenditure and  Financinl
Accountability Framewark (PEFA), comprebensive budgst information 15 to be
presented to the legi e, According o PEFA PL-6 Comprebensivencss of
Information included in Budget Documentation, the following are required to be
disclosed in the hudget of the Federal, States and Local
comply withIPSAS

Govemments in onder to

i Macra-economic sssumptions, including ar least estmates of
agyregate growth,

i Fiscal deficit,
(GES)arath

i, Deficit financi

iv.  Debtsiock,
vear,

Eshon and exchange ratg.
defined nccording to Govemment Finance Stauisivcs

)

recegnized standards

pposilion.
least for the beginning of the current

cludmg detacls

v Finumcinl Assess, including details at least for 1k

beginning of the

FAAC SUB-COMMIITTEE ON ROADMAP FOR THE ADOFTION OF IFSAS
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Standardization of Federal, States and Local Governments in Nigeria November
2009

74

STANDARDISATIONIOR FEBERAL
STATES/ANDILOCALIGOVERNMENTS

REPRINTED BY MOLD TREASURY ACADEMY, KADUNA
NOVEMBER, 2009

While 1he conten: of these statzmens ace briefly explatned below: the formats of

the proposed Fi cnl Rej © d Model are sepazately repurted as
volume 2 of this special study.
INSIBILITY FOR H M

n this stafement cthe Accountanc-Ciencral will confism pis
ibility that the financial

with (e p

have been prepared in
of the Finznce (Conlrol ang
Magagementy Act of 1958 as amended and in compliance wity
Generally Accented Accounting Practice (GAAP),

STATEMENT OF OPINION OF AUDITOR ¢ :NERAL

s the: Auditor-General's Cart ficate (o the effect that proper sudit

has been caried ont in sespect of tae firsncial stateawnte preparsd
by the Accountant-Gerers),

Statement No. 1: CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Tae Firancial Sy porting model 1 with ﬂlﬂ.‘caﬂl
busis of accovntng is o CASH FLOW STATEMENT that
reoneiles apeaing and closing halances of sk and cash eguivalents,
T cash floa stgcement shoald repact cash flows controlled by the
enlity during the paricd clossifiad icto Operating, lm:udn(.': and
Fingucing activitics. Suoh clpssificazion skould be reported in 3
mafmc:, whick is mos APPIORCATE (0 its agbivities, Additionally, an
entity skoald r=port cash flowe from Opersing sctivitios on the basis
of gross Tooeires wed Pavicerts foc each major class,

Cisl flow np: cantrallzd by the I2parting entiry,

foceipts eallected amy FAa¥Iol mode on hch:.;f

beneficiaries or CLSINETS e g he repacted separ;

fow from Operating, fnanciug and investing acti

bz noted bawever, thgt g sinzle Tranzace

that ane clessfied diftereraly,
e

ancluding cash

of Lexpayers,
ately from cash
vitles, It should
on may.include cash Nows
For example, wisen dhe cash paymeot

CHAPTER 7

7.0 THEPROPOSED FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD MODEL

The ! Fedesation of A APAC) in ils mission to develop and
enbussce the socountaney profission o enable i provide services of consistency high
quakity in the public nterest esiablished (e Pablic Sector Comrmittee (PSC). The
PaC is Iy developing a st of reco fed ing Larcls for public
seetor entiies refened (0 3 Intematioos] Public Sector Acccunting Standards
(IPSASs). The Commitice recognizes the significant benefits of achieving consistent
¥l parable financial ion nevoss parisdictions amd belivves tsst the
1FSASs will play a key role tn enshiing 1hese benedits 10 be neliasl.

The adoption of IPSASs by government will imorove both the guality and
comparability of financial information repecied by public ssctor ertties around
the world, Accordingly, the Conunitiee rscognizes the right of govemments and
Nationnl Srandird Setters o cstablish guidelines and dards for
Enancial reporting by the public sector in their juzsdictions.

As previously mentioned the first of the proposeé standards issued by the
Committee is titlsd “Fi ia] Reporting under the cash basis of Accounting”™
(July, 2001). Since our basis of Pblic Sector acconnting in Nigeria is cosh-
based, it 13 fore nighly desizable 1o zive ad iderations 1o the
conteat of this proposed durd when developing and designing our own
propesed Financial Stzicments. Bearing o mind the deficiencies of the current
financial seat=ments as previonsly discassed, the proposed Finuncia) Reporting
Standard Mocde] may be fashioned out aloag the following lines:

Raspons:kility for Financizl Sutement.

Statement of Qpinion of Aucitor-General.

Statement No. 1: Cash Flow Statement.

Statement No. 2: Statement of Assets and [iabilities.

S No. 3: of Ceasolidnted Reveave Fend,
Statement No, 4:  Statement of Capital Development Fand.
Statenmient No. 5: Notes 1o the Fimancial Statements.

e
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CHAPTER S

8.0 J ATION TECHN

8.0 As the whale world is fast becoming a global viltags, the reed for 20 rgent
computerization of the entire Lreasisy snd pocounting fenclica cannol be ovec-
emphasized, 11 is # known Lact that the existiag Jsvel of compuserization of the
secords of most Teriary Offices is very much on the Low slde,

82  The proposed Fittancial reporting Standard Model can be easily amenable to
computerization, In brewl werms, system compaterizalion ebjectives will be set
oul for the peeposed system. Thageafter, it is essential to define a computer
sirategy as a prevequisive for the design and impl ian of the propased
systeen. For e, an d Financial M and A
system can he deslgned for Federnl and other thers of Government,

83 Theebjcetive ol such am insagrated system may be as follows:
. Ungertzke the avominting and Finarcial Masagemeat of the tesources of

1l extity within a f; of absolute ¥ and hill
Y
. Pravids tiniely 2o reliabls information for planning and declsion- making
. Coamibue othe i, sdloctive and ofd of pubt
P
*  Twecrelate treasary fanclion, internal 254 external coatcol Fyslems 0

enharce their efficiency

&4 In the light of these objectives. 2 souzd Tocal Arsa Network (LAN) can bs
deslgned st Use headquarters (Le. QAGF - Abaja) for the compaterizatiea of the
enlire wreasury nd accounting function. Ffforts can then be geared 1o extencing
such services using Wide Area Nemwoek (WANY 10 cover all the line Ministies a8
well a5 the pay offices within each state ar (brougias the federation,

&5 The benefits 1o be Sxcived fromm the COmDulenTAtoN exercice ars quie enomwus
and fhis exercise shoeld be given tap priucity by Government.
n
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Road Map For Adoption of IPSAS in Nigeria & Budget Presentation

Functions of Budget
Classification

= Legal Structure of the Budget

BFFIOE’M THEACE

OF THE FERERAT

. Enable Multidimensional Budget
Analysis

Basis for Budget Management and
Execution

NATIONAL TRAINING WORKSHOP FOR
OFFICERS INVOLVED IN PUBLIC FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT INTHE
THREETIERS OF GOYERNMENT

Integrating National Chart of Accounts Structure
for Budgeting

cotegers F 1

1. Administrative

2. Econamic
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Training on IPSAS Compliant Budget For Budget Officers

PAPER OUTLINE

The Definition of Capital and Nature of Public Investment
The National Chart of Accounts and Budget Classifications
The Structure of Capital Budget

What is Programme Budgeting?

4.1 Pre-conditions For Budgeting With Programme Segment In 2014

4.2 21 Programmes Adopted for Implementation in 2014

4.3 Selection of Programmes, Objectives and Projects by Ministries, Department and Agencies
(MDAs)

4.4 Programme Activity

4.5 Tracking Government Expenditure Based On Programme Activity

4.6 Sample Programme Objectives (Extract from Gombe State HR/Payroll/Accounting/Budgeting
Chart of Accounts April 2013 Edition developed by Mold Computers and Communications Ltd)

4.7 Sample Programme Activity (Extract from Gombe State HR/Payroll/Accounting/Budgeting Chart

OFFICE OF THE ACCOUNTANT-GENERAL
OF THE FEDERATION, ABUJA

FEDERATION ACCOUNT ALLOCATION COMMITTEE (FAAC)
SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE ROADMAP
FOR THE
ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC
SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (IPSAS) IN NIGERIA

Training Papers

For The b of Accounts developed by Mold Computers and Communications Ltd)
NATIONAL TRAINING ON' IPSAS COMPLIANT “
BUDGET FOR BUDGET OFFICERS . 5. | Conversion of Federal Government (FG)2012 Budget Data into Programme
IN THE THREE TIERS OF GOVERNMENT 5 Budget (2012 Capital Expenditure Detail for State House)
A A 0 S 6. 95&33.5.% of Fiscal Reports and Budget Reports in Programme
VENUE: DIGITAL BRIDGE INSTITUTE, ABUJA Classification Format (Kaduna State 2012 Budget and Accounts Data) -

172
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CBN TSA Guidelines February 2016

GUIDELINES FOR THE
OPERATION OF TREASURY SINGLE
ACCOUNT (TSA) BY STATE
GOVERNMENTS
IN NIGERIA

February, 2016.

-

Each State shall 3 inventory of ALL bank
accounts maintained with all financial institutions by the State and al her MDAs
without exception. Such accounts must be harmonized and aligned before the
commencement of the TSA scheme, to avoid the exclusion or replication of
accounts,

=

Each State Gavemment shall open only cne main TSA account and other such
ledger sub-accounts as it deems fit with the Central Bank of Nigeria or any
Deposit Money Bank of its choice, provided such ledger sub-accounts shall be
limited to one for each MDA and shall alays ba linked to the main TSA
account. The choice of a State Government to host the TSA main account with a
DMB and sub-ledger accounts with the same or other DMBs shall be guided by
the same considerations as hosting the Main TSA account with the CBN.

v, The administration and operation of a State Govemment's main TSA and ledger
sub-accounts hosted by the CBN shall be through the CBN branch in the State
Government's capital.

. The operation of the TSA scheme hosted by the CBN for each Stale
Government shall be operated at al times through the use of approved
electronic channels and shall exchude the handiing of cash or processing of
manual cheque transactions by the CBN at any of &s offices.

(3 TSA Payments Infrastructure
i TSA operations are conceptualized and designed to be operated on a full end-
{o-end basis, across various approved electronic channels, for all payment and

oollection transactions.

[ Each State Govemment shal adopt @ CBN licensed peyment platform for the
operation of its TSA scheme. Approved platforms for the controlled take-off of
the TSA scheme are; SystemSpecs, Interswitch, UniSed Payment Services,
e-Transact and NIBSS. Other approved platforms shall be advised as the TSA
Initiative matures.

. Each State Govemment shall ensure the availability of a functional Govemment
Financial Information Management System (GIFMIS) or such oher application,
that enadles it to handle the different aspects of its activities, covering:
budgetng, budget control, transactions workflow management, char of
accounts g payables & ledger g Purchase

s

1. Background and Introduction
State Governments continue to face intense pressure on their cash flows in the face of
dwindling revenues and the need to meet increasing statutary and social responsibiities.

To address this issue, State Governments are undertaking financial and treasury management
reforms of which the Treasury Single Account (TSA) scheme is a major component. This is
consislent with the strategic public sector transformation initiatives and also in line with the
provision of Section 120 of the 1999 Constitution.

The Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN), in exercise of its powers, as provided in the CBN Act, 2007,
Saction 47, sub section 2(2d), hereby issues the following quidelines on the management and
operation of the Treasury Single Account (TSA), hosted with the CBN, by State Govemments.

2 Goals of the Guidelines

The objective of this Guideline is to provide State with a clear f to
support their successful implementation of the TSA initiative, based on standardized banking
i and IT

3. TSA Concept

The Treasury Single Account (TSA) initiative is the operation of a unified structure of
Government Bank Accounts, in a single account or a set of linked accounts for ALL
Government payments and receipts.

4. TSA objectives
The TSA is primarily designed fo bring ALL Government funds in bank accounts within the
effective control and operational purview of the Treasury, in order to: Enthrone centralised,
and revenue Faciitate effective cash management
Ensure cash availability; Promote efficient management of domestic borrowing at minimal cost;
Allow optimal investment of idle cash; Block loopholes in revenue management; Establish an
efficient di and collection ism for funds; Improve liquidity
reserve; and Eliminate jonal ineff and costs iated with ining muitiple
accounts across multiple financial institutions.

5. TSA Essential Requirements
i. Government agencies are not to operate ANY bank account under any guise, outside
the pundew and oversight of the Treasury.

ii. The ion of o cash should be comp: ive and
all g cash both and ext This
maans that all public monies, irrespective of whether the corresponding cash flows are

2

Requisition Management, Purchase Order Management, Suppber & Vendor
Payments P ing, Revenue ipting,  Treasury agH
T itori Payment Gateway Interface, Reporting

&Data Analytics, etc.

iv.  Each State Government shall ensure the availability of basic Information
Technology infrastructure and training programs required for the successful
implementation and ongoing support of the TSA scheme.

7. TSA Stakeholders' Roles & Responsibilities

The long-term success of the TSA scheme requires the effective collaboration of different
during the pi and post: phases

of the initiative. TSA stakeholders shall indude, but not limited fo;

Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN)

= |ssue payment policies and guidelines to Banks
= Ensure of Banks with issued gui

= Provide and maintain the TSA payment gateway Infrastructure
* Hostand maintain the TSA accounts on benalf of Govemment
* Play advisory & supenvisory roles on required TSA infrastructure
.
.

Maintain help desk to provide support to users of the CEN Remita Payment Gateway
Participate in the reconciiation of accounts,
Perform account management funclions

Ensure availability of standard TSA pay and reports e.g. elect
bank statements, budget status reports, transaction status and monitoring reports, efc.
State Accountant-Generals (SAG)

Assume primary resporsidility for the State Govemment's TSA inifiative

Coordinate the development of the State’s TSA Policy and framework

Issue TSA operational guidelines fo MDAs and other stakeholders

Develop cash management policies and procedures

Liaise and serve as primary contact point with CBN, Banks, Payment Service Providers

and other stakeholders

Manage and user {or MDAs

Maintain a TSA dati d center

= Set up and maintain TSA help desk to coordinate al support activities to stakeholders
such as MDA, banks, comporate and individual payment beneficiaries and payers

= Ensure integration of Payment Gateway with the State Financial Information
Management System

= Create and ensure smooth operaticn off the State Cash Management Unit (CMU)

Ministries, Departments and Agencies (MDAs)
* Close all DMBs accounts as directed by the State Treasury
3
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Members of the FAAC Sub Committee

OFFICE OF THE ACCOUNTANT GENERAL OF THE FEDERATION, ABUJA
FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE ROADMAP FOR ADOPTION OF IPSAS

MEMBERS OF THE SUB-COMMITTEE

S/NO NAME OF OFFICER OFFICE RANK
1 J.O. Otunla OAGF Chairman
| i 2 Babayo Shehu OAGF Member
FEDERAL MINISTRY OF FINANCE 3 M. K. Dikwa OAGF Member
OFFICE OF THE ACCOUNTANT - GENERAL OF 4 Omoniyi Fagbemi OAGF Member
5 T. A. Osonuga OAuGF Member
THE FEDERATION, ABUJA 6 Binta LA Bello (Mrs.) Federal Ministry of Finance Member
7 Mukhtar A. Yusuf RMAFC Member
DERATION I | LLOCATIC I i 8 Udo Hilary Isobara AG. Akwa Ibom State Member
Representing the South-South
B-COMMN | E ROARDMAP FOR Zone
ADOPTION @ R ATIONE 9 Mairo B. LAwan (Mrs.) AG. Borno State Member
~r - Ty | ANDARE Representing the North-East
) | ) \ Zone .
DS N Hi{]: 10 Dame Eunice N. Ugwu AG. Enugu Sstate Member
Representing the South-East’
Zone
ORGANISES 11 Tunde A. Abdulkareem AG. Kwara State Member
NATIONAL TRAINING WORKSHOP FOR OFFICERS INVOLVED IN PUBLIC Reprosendingthe Mook atis)
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT IN THE THREE TIERS OF GOVERNMENT 12 Adeseye S. Senfuye AG. Ogun State Member
) Representing the South-West
- Zone
“0“"" = WEST ZDNE 13 Aminu Abdullahi AG. Sokoto State Member
Representing the North-West
Zone
DATE: 14 Chris Etim Nyong OAuG Cross River Satte Member
< Representing the Forum of
VENUE: Auditors General
15 Abubakar Gidado Bodinga | OAuG LG Sokoto State Member
Representing the Forum of
Auditors-General for Local
FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE ROADMAP FOR ADOPTION OF IPSAS Government
SECRETARIAT 16 Olalekan Adebola OAGF Member
17 JM. Azi OAGF Member
18 S. N. Tahir Federal Ministry of Finance Member
1. Mr. J.O Otunla FCA ) 19 Nasiru Nabage Federal Ministry of Finance | Member
Accpuntant-fGﬁneSrall’Oé the det{eeratlon 20 Anvyara Theanyi FRCoN Member
-Committee
SELT:P tl(a)e zx‘c:colllmta:t-(}eneral of the Federation 21 James Y. Nongo OAGF Secretary
2. Mr. Omoniyi Fagbemi FCA
Director, Consolidated Accounts Department
Secretariat Director :
Office of the Accountant-General of the Federation
3. Mr. James Y. Nongo FCA
Secretary to the Sub-Committee :
Office of the Accountant-General of the Federation
4. Contact Address: .
Office of the Accountant-General of the Federation
email: faacipsasabuja@yahoo.com
website: www.faacipsas.gov.ng
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Road for the Adoption of IPSAS in Nigeria.

FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE

ROADMAP FOR THE ADOPTION OF
IPSAS

Implementation Plan

2012

. "&" FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE ADOPTION OF IPSAS

Project Work Approach and Timelines - Overview
w We are here

Phase 1 Phase 2

Apr 19 — Sep 6 Jul 15, 2012-Mar 14, 2013

Apr 19 o >
o May 7 - Jul 6 \0,1
Project
Mobilization Analysis
& Planning Survey
Sep 6

Stakeholders
Sensitization
Workshop

Cash-Basis IPSAS - 2013
of Accrual-Basis IPSAS 2015

Standardized CoA &
GPFS

Road Map for the Adoption of IPSAS in Nigeria

Presentation to Capacity

U Building for
FAAC @ Process

Owners

Review Existing Law/ Recommend Enactments to Ensure Compliance with IPSAS Provisions

Project Management

Milestones P——
9,1 Detailed Project Workplan 93 Gap-Analysis Survey Report 4, Stakeholders Sensitization Meetings

92 Copies of IPSAS Explained €, Standardized Chart of Accounts 9 Study Tour ®Ppresentation to NEC
9,5 General Purpose Financial Statements 9 Capacity Building
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FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE ADOPTION OF IPSAS
Project Work Approach and Timelines - Phase 1 We are here

May 7 —Jul 6
Project Mobilization &
Planning

*Document Work plan

+Obtain deep understanding
of IPSAS requirements

+ Acquire copies of IPSAS
Explained’ for distribution to

stakeholders

- Design survey Questionnaire to
Identify Gap-Analysis at all tiers of
government

- Administer Questionnaire to sample
States & LGAs

+Conduct survey analysis and prepare
Gap-Analysis Report . v

1

]

1

1

: 1
<3 1

|
]

]

1

1

1

1

political zones for the following stakeholders: i
NASS Committee Members of PAC, Finance and Appropriations '
36 States Assembly Members

Commissioners of Finance of the 35 States |
| & Auditors-General of the 36 States '

ps across the 6 geo-

Road Map for the Adoption of IPSAS in Nigeria

Auditors-General for LGC of the 36 States
Heads of State Board of Internal Revenue
Heads of State Budget Office

YVVVYVY

{'aw/ Recommend Enactments to Enstre Com th [PSAS Pro

Project Ma

Milestones Meetings
91 Detailed Project Workplan QG Gap-Analysis Survey Report ¥ Stakeholders Sensitization Meetings

9,2 Copies of IPSAS Explained

FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE ADOPTION OF IPSAS

Project Work Approach and Timelines - Phase 2
- We are here i

2016

Nov 19 — Nov 30

Jul 16 — Nov 29 ar 14,2013

Standardized CoA & GPFS

«Collect Data and Reviéw Chart of Account (CoA) and General Purpose Financial
Statements 3PFS) at the Federal, State and Local Government Levels
-Develop Unified CoA for all tiers of Government using the FGN CoA as a

benchmark
+Design GPFS that is Cash-Basis IPSAS Ci
*Design GPFS thatis A I-Basis IPSAS C

« Submit CoA & GPFS for approval of the Sub-Committee on IPSAS
=« Present standardized CoA & GPFS to National & International stakeholders for
discussion and input -
«Issue Treasury Circular on the National CoA & GPFS

-Basis IPSAS

Study T

« Cpnduct Study Tour to
Australia, Canada and
Malaysia

cement of Aceny;

e

vy
Presentation to NEC

«Presentation to the « Conduct Capacity Building of Process
National Executive Owners at all tiers of government and across
Council the 6 geo-political zones

«Conduct Post-Training/ Implementation

Review at all levels of Government

Milestones Meetings
9,4 Standardized Chart of Accounts #JStudy Tour @2 Study Tour
95 General Purpose Financial Statements < Capacity Building ?
2 e
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Extracts From Financial Reporting Council Act 2011 and 2023 as Amended.

3. Section 8 of the Principal Act is amended —
Amendment

(a) in subsection (1)(d), by substituting for the word, “Board”, the words, ~ of section 8
“board of public interest entities™ ;

(b) in subsection (1), by substituting for paragraphs (/) and (g), new
paragraphs “(h)"and”(q)” — o

A 846 2023 No. 42 Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria of Nigeria
(Amendment) Act, 2023

“(h) promote compliance with the adopted standards issued by the
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), International Financial
Reporting Standards Foundation (IFRS), International Public Sector
Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) or any other body that may be
designated as such and any other setting body relating to the mandate of
the Council ;

(g) develop or adopt and keep up-to-date auditing standards issued
by relevant professional bodies and ensure consistency between the
standards issued and the auditing standards and pronouncements of the
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, International
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions or any other body that may
be designated as such and any other international standards setting body
relating to the mandate of the Council ;”

(¢) by inserting after paragraph “(r)”, a new paragraph “(s)” —
“(s) maintain a national repository for electronic submission of
General Purpose Financial Statements by public interest entities™ ;
and
(d) in subsection (2), by inserting after the word, “implementing”, the
words “financial reporting, corporate governance,”.

Compliance 57. Where any public interest entity is required to prepare any financial
by public statement or report under any enactment, it shall ensure that the financial
interest

statements or reports is in compliance with the accounting and financial

entities. reporting standards developed by the Council under this Act.
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14. Section 59 (1) of the Principal Act is amended by substituting for Amendment
-agraphs (a)-(g). new paragraphs “(a)”-"(j)” — of section 59

“(a) Banks and other Financial Institutions Act, No. 5, 2020 ;

() Companies and Allied Matters Act, No. 3, 2020 ;

(¢) Investments and Securities Act, No. 29, 2007 ;

(d) Nigerian Investment Promotion Commission Act, Cap. N117, LFN,
2004 ;

(¢) Insurance Act, Cap 117, LFN, 2004 ;

(f) Pension Reforms Act, No. 4, 2014 ;

(¢) Federal Mortgage Bank of Nigeria Act, Cap. F16, LFN, 2004 ;

(h) Finance Act, No. 3, 2021 ;

(i) Fiscal Responsibility Act, No.31,2007 ; and

(/) Finance Control and Management Act, No. 33, 1958.

Sanctions for 64.—(1) Any person who fails to comply with the prescribed statement
non- of accounting and financial reporting standards developed by the Council or
compliance.

any decision of the Council to the effect that a public interest entity has failed
to comply with any of its pronouncements under this Act, and with such other

accounting and financial reporting standards as may be specified under the
relevant enactments, commits an offence and is liable on conviction to a fine
of not exceeding N10,000,000.00 or imprisonment for a term not exceeding 2
years or both, provided that the Council shall bring such non-compliance to the
notice of the preparers of such financial statements.

(2) Where a notice is served on a person or public interest entity under
sub-section (1) of this Section, it shall, within 60 days of the service of the
notice, restate its financial statements and resubmit them to the Council and to
any government department or authority requiring such statement and hold a
general meeting of its shareholders on the restated financial statements.

(3) Any public interest entity which fails to comply with the notice referred
to in sub-section (2) of this section commits an offence and is liable, on
conviction to a fine of not exceeding N20,000,000.00 and restate the said
financial statements within 30 days thereafter.

(4) The Council shall, subject to the approval of the Minister, review the
amounts stated in sub-sections (1) and (3) of this section.

(5) Any professional, auditor or preparer of financial statements found
liable under this Act commits an offence and shall, in addition to the fine and
imprisonment provided for in sub-section (1) of this Section be de-listed from
the register of Professionals by the Council.
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Extracts From Financial Reporting Council Act 2011 and 2023 as Amended — Cont’d

(4) The Council shall, subject to the approval of the Minister, review the
amounts stated in sub-sections (1) and (3) of this section.

(5) Any professional, auditor or preparer of financial statements found
liable under this Act commits an offence and shall, in addition to the fine and
imprisonment provided for in sub-section (1) of this Section be de-listed from
the register of Professionals by the Council.

65.—(1) Where the Council reaches a final decision under section 57, to
the effect that a public interest entity has failed to comply with any of its
decisions under this Act, and with such other financial reporting, accounting,
auditing and financial reporting standards as may be specified under the
relevant enactments, the Council shall serve a notice on the entity for an
immediate restatement of its financial statements.

(2) Where a notice is served on a public interest entity under sub-section
(1) of this Section, it shall, within 60 days of the service of the notice, restate
its financial statements and resubmit same to the Council and to the relevant
government department or authority.

(3) Any public interest entity which fails to comply with the notice referred
to in sub-section (2) of this section commits an offence and shall, on conviction
be liable to a fine not exceeding N10,000,000.00 and be required to restate the
said financial statements within 30 days thereafter and the Council shall require
such entity to disclose same in the following year’s financial statements.

Su Itio 24. Substitute for section 77 of the Principal Act :
s . In this Act
‘Annual report” means the documents that an entity ¢s on anan

basis on its afTairs, including its financial statements together with
TL’p“"f on I, and the l'L‘}"‘ll from the Boai O Lirecton

“Audir” has the same meaning as in the | ederation of
Accountants (IFAC) Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants

“Audit firm” means a firm which provides audit services

“Auditor” means a professionally qualified Accountant or firn
A C( ountants Li[)l‘(‘l”l&'(' 1o k‘i"!‘ki”\.l m C\;i”".i",'y m of the 1 ord | )
enterprise and to form an opinion as 10 whether the account ve beel
prepared in accordance with generally accepted ace e

Board™ means the governing body of the Financia Reporting Council

of Nigeria established under secti ‘ \cl

“Code of Corporate Governance™ means the Code of ( orporate
Governance issued by the Directorate of Corporate Governance in this
Act ;

“Corporate Governance™ means the role of persons entrusted with
the supervision, control and direction of an entity ;

“Director™ has the same meaning given to it under the ( ompanies and
Allied Matters Act, No. 3. 2020 :

“Entity” means any person or body of persons, whether incorporated or
unincorporated ;
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Extracts From Financial Reporting Council Act 2011 and 2023 as Amended — Cont’d

Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria of Nigeria 2023 No. 42 A 853
(Amendment) Act, 2023

“Financial reporting standards™ mean accounting, auditing, actuarial
and valuation standards issued by the Council under this Act ;

“Financial statements™ means the Statement of Financial Position or
balance sheet, income statements or profit or loss account, statement of
changes in equity. statement of cash flows, notes. statements and explanatory
materials thereon and other documents, as may be prescribed by the Council
under this Act ;

“Funciions™ include powers and duties ;

“IASB” means the International Accounting Standards Board or its
successor body :

“IFRS™ means the International Financial Reporting Standards :

“IFRSF"means the International Financial Reporting Standards
Foundation :

“IFACT means the International Federation of Accountants or its
successor body .

“IPSASB™ means the International Public Sector Accounting Standards
Board™ :

“Muaterial irvegularity™ includes fraud. deliberate misstatements of
financial statements. falsification and defalcations ;

~ Minister”™ means the Minister charged with responsibility of supervising
the activities of the Council ;

“Offence” includes default in payment of annual dues, submission of
returns and other infractions. irregularities committed by entity or individual
against the provisions of this Act :

“Official builetin™ means the official journal of the Council ;

“Practice” in relation to an auditor, means the practice of the auditor or
the audit firm ;

“President” means the President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria ;

“Professional accountants™ means a person who is a member of a
body of professional accountancy body established by an Act of the National
Assembly and registered with the Council

“Public interest entities™ means —

Regulations.

(ajgovernments and government organizations:

() listed entities on any recognized exchange in Nigeria :

(¢) non-listed entities that are regulated ;

(d) public limited companies:

(c) private companies that are holding companies of public or regulated
entities |
(/') concession entities :
(g) privatized entities in which government retains an interest A
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Extracts From Financial Reporting Council Act 2011 and 2023 as Amended — Cont’d

Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria of Nigeria

A 854 2023 No. 42
(Amendment) Act, 2023

tier of government in public works with

(h) entities engaged by any
d above, and settled from public funds ;

annual contract sum of N1 billion an
(i) licensees of government ; and
(j) all other entities with an annua

above ; and
“Qualified report” has the same meaning given to it by IFAC.

| turnover of N30 billion and

Ca_atr
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Extracts From Handbook of International Public Sector Accounting
Pronouncements - Material Prior Year Errors and Omission IPSAS 3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

v &

Impracticable Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity

cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so. For a

particular prior period, it is impracticable to apply a change in an
ing policy pectively or to make a retrospective restatement

to correct an error if:

(a) The effects of the retrospective application or retrospective

r are not determi
(b)  The retrospective application or retrospecti requires
about what ’s intent would have been in

that period; or

() The remnpzcdve ppli or retrospecti requires
ti of and it is impossible to distinguish
objecﬁvely information about those estimates that:

(i)  Provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the

date(s) as at which those are to be ized.,
measured, or disclosed; and
(ii) Would have been ilable when the fi fal for

that prior period were authorized for issue;

from other Informnion =

Pnor riod errors are ominlons from. and misstatements in, the entity’s
financial statements for one or more prior periods arising from a failure 1
\ to use, or a misuse of, reliable information that:

(a) Was il when fi fal for those periods were
authorized for issue; and

S 2 2 Z > (b)  Could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into
HANDBOOK OF INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC account in the preparation and presentation of those financial
statements.

Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in
applying accounting policies, oversights or “misinte reutions of fncls.

SECTOR ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

nnd fraud.
Prospective _application of a change in nccounﬁng policy nnd o!
recognizing the effect of a change in an g P 1y,
) o s = are:
= () 1 ] l DITITON (a) Applying the new ing policy to tr i other events,
\v O1 IME I and conditions occurring after the date as at which the policy is
LUME ! changed; and

(b) Recognizing the effect of the change in the accounting estimate in
the current and future periods affected by the change.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS 1 1PSAS 3

Errors

@ Errors can arise in respect of the recognition, measurement, presentation, or
disclosure of elements of financial statements. Financial_statementsdo not

comply with IPSASs-if-they contain either material errors, or immaterial
errors made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of an entity’s
financial position, financial Erformancc; & cash ﬂs‘zﬁ. Potential current
period errors discovered in that-period are corrected before the financial
statements are authorized for issue. However, material errors are sometimes
not discovered until a subsequent period, and these prior period errors are
corrected in the comparative information presented in the financial statements
for that subsequent period (see paragraphs 47-51).

47, Subject to paragraph 48, an entity shall correct material prior period
errors retrospectively in the first set of financial statements authorized
for issue after their discovery by:

(2)  Restating the comparative amounts for prior period(s) presented in
which the error occurred; or

(b) If the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented,
restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net
assets/equity for the earliest prior period presented.

Limitations of Retrospective Restatement

48. A prior perlod error shall be corrected by retrospective restatement,
except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period-
specific effects or the cumulative effect of the error.
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Centralized Electronic Payment RTGS and ACH

A WORLD BANK STUDY

Financial Management

Information

25 YEARS OF WORLD BANK

WORKS AND WHAT

THE WORLD BANK

Electronic Payment Systems
EPS or EFT operates on the basis of two systems

Systems

XPERIENCE ON
OESN'T

Cem Dener
Joanna Alexandra Watkins
William Leslie Dorotinsky

(Figure C.1):

W The clearing house system is where transactions between members of a clearing

channel are recorded.

Figure C.1. C¢ yi

System O

@ Automatic >> EFT (batch files; XML) << Statements @ Payment
HcoR-on Contralized EPS  SWIFT/ b
Treasury e °,  Banking System Network
Network aily
@2 pormet HQ Commercial HQ Commercial
S o Bank #1 Bank #X
Troasury Distict b~ 7y Iy
Offices @ beneficiary !
account  Comm Bank #1 Comm Bank #X
Payment Order and Network
Invoice submited
Spending Comm. Bank #1 Comm. Bank #X
== Funds Units Branch Offices Branch Offices
— information -
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W Seftlement is the transferring of funds from a payer’s account to a payee’s ac-
count. This can only occur between banks. The Central Bank of each country
usually acts as the primary settlement agent. Settlement can occur immediately
on a gross basis or be delayed on a net basis.

Real-Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) systems are funds transfer systems where
transfer of money takes place from one bank to another on a “real-time” and “gross”
basis. Settlement in real time means payment transaction is not subjected to any wait-
ing period. The transactions are settled as soon as they are processed. “Gross settle-
ment” means the transaction is settled on one to one basis without bunching or net-
ting with any other transaction. Once processed, payments are final and irrevocable.
In terms of liquidity and systemic risks, high-value payment systems (RTGS) are the
most important due to the large value and time sensitive nature of the payments.
RTGS solutions are mostly implemented by the central banks. The private sector
clearing houses use an RTGS model similar to the Clearing House Interbank Payment
System (CHIPS).

The Automated Clearing House (ACH) system has been developed as a low-value
payment system. It processes large volumes of credit and debit transactions in batches
and at low cost. ACH credit transactions include payroll, pension, and annuity pay-
ments. ACH debit transactions include consumer bill payments, such as utility bills,
phone bills, and insurance premiums. It is mainly operated by the central banks. In some
countries, the ACH systems are privately owned and operated but authorized and regu-
lated by the central banks.

The Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunications (SWIFT) is
a global telecommunications network. It provides a strict message format for the
exchange of financial information between financial institutions. Messages automat-
ically pass through electronic links built between SWIFT and the local electronic
clearing systems in different countries. More recently, SWIFT has been applied to
the transferring of the entire letter of credit process onto the Internet and providing
Web-based functionality for business-to-business (B2B) transactions with SWIFTNet.
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IMF & World Bank Treasury Reference Model

Treasury Reference Model

Ali Hashim

Lead Informatics Specialist

Public Finance Cluster

Poverty ion and i Unit
Europe and Central Asia Region

World Bank

Bill Allan

Senior Economist,

Fiscal Affairs Department,
International Monetary Fund

19.1.1 Start of the Year Processes

At the start of the fiscal year, there is a need to set up the Budget classification
structures and Chart of Accounts for recording commitments, expenditures and
receipts. The system should have facilities to accommodate a variety of budget
classification structures, since these can vary from country to country. An
example of budget classification structure is given in section 1.4.3 of part I. This
structure specifies that the budget classification structure could have segments
that specify Source of Funds, O Economic, F 1, Program and
Project classifications. Thus the system would need to be able to accommodate
these segments and will need to have the capacity to accommodate a sufficient
number of digits in each segment.

For example, the system must be able to handle a government-wide chart of
accounts with the following dimensions: '*

Fund code with one level of classification.

Organization code with three levels of classification.

Economic category with four levels of classification.

Functional code with four levels of classification (class, sector, sub-sector,
chapter).

Program code with two levels of classification.

Project and cost code with two levels of classification each.

The system must be flexible enough to permit an increase in the number of dimensions and the
levels of classification of any of these codes. The system should also permit user- specified
number of digits/ characters at each level. The coding pattern at each level could be either serial
or hierarchical. Given a specific relationship between any of the 5 types of codes, the system must
be able to map and generate the related classification. All the code elements must be
alphanumeric.

It must be possible to hold a description field against each code (or element) in
the chart of accounts. It must be possible to revise code definitions and
descriptions. The system must allow the user to manually enter the data of
revenue and expenditure budget classification codes. In particular, the system
should allow the user to enter, the following:

* Revenue classification code and the description of each segment of the code

10 The ode will be used for bedgetary h code will be used
for tracking programs when the MOF moves toward a Medium Term Budget Framework; the project code Is used to track
" d b wedin

expenditures at the level of cast centers within the budgetary units

124
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1984

1.4.3 Budget Accounts and Classification System

Consistent with the broad COA structure, transactions and other flows are classified to
permit a variety of views of the budget or accounts. A Budget Classification System may

be described as shown below.
Budget
Classification

Economic
assification

Figure Budget Accounts / Classification System

A Budget Classification System consists of five sub-classification structures and permits
multiple views of the Budget:

¢ Fund Classification denotes the funds under which public funds are authorized (e.g.,
general, or revenue, fund, development fund, road fund).

o O ion Classification depicts the receiving budgetary resources;

Economic_Classification shows the detailed breakdown of budget revenues,

borrowing, and expenditures;

o Functional Classification indicates the revenues and expenditures by functions of
government such as Public Order and Safety Matters, Educational Affairs and
Services, Health Affairs and Services, etc.;

* Program Classification shows the planned budgetary allocations to specific programs
(such as poverty reduction) that may be implemented by a variety of organizational
units and may involve several functional categories; and

* Project Classification identifies activities aimed at achieving specific objectives
within a certain timeframe. Projects are elements of a broader program classification,
and many may be associated with external aid (identified with a particular
government/donor fund).

.

The system should have facilities to receive the Daily Account Statement data
transmitted by the Central bank, automatically import the data into the
Reconciliation facility and produce a Reconciliation Statement. The format of
Central bank Daily Account Statement and required controls including hash
control or checksum digits shall be discussed during the software customization.

End of Year closing of Accounts

It may require some time to finalize the revenue and expenditure accounts of the former year after
the end of the fiscal year. concurrently with the operations of the current year's accounts. The
system should i necessary for the new year as will be determined by the
user and allow keeping the accounts for the two years active until such time the system
administrator confirms that the accounts for the former year have been finalized and should be
closed.

After the accounts for the former year have been closed. the system should not allow the user to
post any entry into the accounts. The user should be allowed only to make inquiries or produce
reports on the former year's accounts.

reate New Databas

The system shall establish a new set of data for processing of the new year's accounts separately
from the current year's accounts.

The system should allow the user to carry forward the following data to the new
year’s database:

Codes of budget classification (functional, institutional, economic), including
description,

Chart of Accounts, including description,

Balances of Cash Control Accounts,

Balances of Procedural accounts,

All necessary spending unit data,

The table defining the linkage between account numbers of Chart of Accounts and
functional, institutional and economic classification,

Table of transfer from budget classification codes of the previous years to the
current year.

The system should reset the values of approved plan, revised plan, current plan, and Year-to-date
total of warrants for each expenditure account to Zero.

The system should clear the values in Revision History data for each expenditure account and
revenue account.

The values of each data element in Warrants, Accounting Journal and Monthly Financial data shall
be cleared.
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IPSAS Explained By Ernst & Young
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Introduction

Asian Development Bank (ADB)

European Commission (EC)

European Investment Bank (EIB)

Eurostat

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

International Monetary Fund (IMF)

International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI)
Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)
United Nations/United Nations Development Programme (UN/UNDP)
» World Bank

L X EYREEY Y

Table 3:  Organizations with observer status on the IPSASE (as of January 2012)

2 International accounting standards
for the public sector

1 1 Py ey

2.1 Overview of inter ds
for the public sector

The IPSASB develops IPSASs for financial statements prepared on the accrual

basis of accounting as well as for financial statements prepared on the cash basis
of accounting. IPSASs govern the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure requirements in relation to transactions and events in general purpose
financial statements. Such financial statements are characterized by the fact that
they are issued for users who are unable to demand financial information to meet
their specific information needs. On the basis of the new IPSASB Terms of
References and as one of the consequences of its Conceptual Framework Project
and the Projects on Reporting Service Performance Information and Reporting on
the Long-Term Sustainability of a Public Sector Entity’s Finances the IPSASB widened
its scope to GPFRs. According to IPSASB Conceptual Framework ED 1 Par. 1.3
GPFRs are a central component of, and suppoit and enhance, transparent financlal
reporting by governments and other public sector entities. GPFRs are characterized
by the fact that they not only comprise financial statements but also refer to other
financial reports intended to meet the information needs of users who are unable to
require the preparation of financial reports tailored to meet their specific
information needs. GPFRs may include information about the past, present, and the
future that is useful to users - including financial and non-financial quantitative and
qualitative information about the achievement of financial and service delivery
objectives in the current reporting period, and anticipated future service delivery
activities and resource needs. More insights and information about the scope and
content of GPFRs is given in IPSASB Conceptual Framework ED 1Par. 1.

Ernst & Young 7
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Introduction

of member body apoqlntees commensurately. And finally, it is planned that a full-
time Chair of the IPSASB will be implemented in the future.

In 2011 several IPSASB members, IFAC board members as well as IPSASB senior
staff had consultations with selected governments based on the Consultation
Papers. The result of these consultations was that there is high support for oversight
of the IPSASB. Respondents underlined that changes in the oversight governance
will enhance credibility of the IPSASB. Strong support was also expressed for the
formation of a CAG. The feedback on the proposed two models of oversight was
mixed. Overall, a preference for the PIOB adapted model (model 1) was expressed
by a slight majority of respondents.

1.5 Members of the IPSASB

The members of the IPSASB are appointed by the IFAC Board. The IPSASB
comprises a total of 18 members, 15 of whom are nominated by member
organizations of the IFAC. The other three are public members, who can be

I by any i or organization. All IPSASB ings convened to
develop IPSASs or approve their publication are public.

The table below shows the countries represented on the IPSASB:

» Australia » Japan » Romania

» Canada » Kenya » South Africa

» China » Morocco » United Kingdom

» France » New Zealand » United States of America
> Germanyr » Pakistan » Uruguay

Table2:  Members of the IPSASE (without public members) (as of January 2012)

Currently, the public members of the IPSASB are from Canada, Italy and
Switzerland. The public member from Switzerland, Prof. Dr. Andreas Bergmann,
currently serves as the IPSASB's chair, In addition, the IPSASB appoints a limited
number of observers from organizations that have an interest in public sector
financial reporting. These observers have full speaking rights at IPSASB meetings,
but no voting rights. The list below shows the organizations that have observer
status:

6 IPSAS Explained

Introduction

The characteristics of Government Business Enterprises show that within the
meaning of IPSASs these entities operate on an economically sustainable basis,

i.e., they must at least cover their costs or have the intention of generating a profit.
Typically, they are controlled or owned by state, regional or local government. In its
December 2011 meeting, the IPSASB approved a project on Government Business
Enterprises which aims to explore issues with the current definition of GBEs and will
consider whether the current accounting requirements are adequate.

2.4 General purpose financial statements

Financial statements that are issued for users who are not in a position to demand
financial information to meet their specific information needs are referred to as
general purpose financial statements. Examples of such users of financial
statements are citizens, voters, their political representatives and other members
of the general public. The term “financial statements” used here and in the
standards covers all disclosures and notes that have been identified as components
of the general purpose financial statements.

Financial statements prepared on the accrual basis of accounting comprise

a statement of financial position, a statement of financial performance, a cash flow
anda of ch in net assets/equity. For financial statements

prepared on the cash basis of accounting, the statement of cash receipts and

payments is the primary component of the financial statements next to the

accounting policies and explanatory notes.

In addition to the general purpose financial statements a public sector entity may
prepare financial statements for other parties (such as executive committees, the
legislature and other parties with supervisory functions) that can request financial
information tailored to their needs. Such financial statements are referred to as
special purpose financial statements. The IPSASB recommends that IPSASs also
be adopted for special purpose financial statements where appropriate.

2.5 Authority of the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards

The IPSASB recognizes the right of governments and national standard setters to
establish accounting standards and associated guidance within their jurisdictions.
Its objectives are “to serve the public interest by developing high-quality public
sector financial reporting standards and by facilitating the convergence of
international and national standards, thereby enhancing the quality and uniformity
of financial reporting throughout the world”. Thus, the IPSASB sees itself in a
supportive function. Jurisdictions which decide to adopt IPSASs may use IPSASs as
international best practice and use them in their own standard-setting processes as
quidance. The general purpose financial statements of public sector entities may be
governed by rules or laws in a jurisdiction. These rules may take the form of
statutory reporting rules, directives or statements on accounting and/or accounting
standards issued by governments, requlatory authorities and/or professional
associations in the jurisdiction.

Ernst & Young 11
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REVISED EDITION

/

~ _
~ Lxunuesscm:Es IN NIGERIA
L. STATES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

FEBRUARY, 20z

CHAPTER1

INTRODUCTIONAND OVERVIEW OF THE MANUAL
1.0 Introduction

This document contains key implementation guidelines; necessary
documentation and accounting procedures to further facilitate the
implementation of International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSAS) in Public Sector Entities (PSE) in Nigeria. It covers accounting
treatment requirements in line with relevant sections of IPSAS for the
purpose of achieving the financial reporting objectives of the Federal, State
and Local Governments.

1.1.1 Overview of the Manual
1.1.2 Preamble

In fulfillment of the mandate of the Federation Account Allocation
Committee (FAAC) on Nigeria's adoption of IPSAS accrual basis of
accounting for PSEs with effect from 2016 financial year, this Manual has
been revised to give practical guidelines to the full implementation of IPSAS
accrual accounting in line with new standards and guidelines issued by the
IPSAS Board.

The manual contains guidelines to be followed by all entities in ria that
fall within the definition of public sector entities other than Government
Business Enterprises (GBEs).
GBEs are expected to adopt the provisions of the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

1.2.3 Objectives
The objectives of this manual are to:

1 Provide general direction and guidance on accrual accounting for PSEs;

© 2025

Extracts from Accrual Accounting Manual 2021

ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING MANUAL

The Federation Account Allocation Committee (FAAC) and FAAC Sub-

Committee on [PSAS Implementation do not accept responsibil

ity for loss caused
to any person who acts or refrains from acting

'Y P in reliance on the material in this
publication, whether such loss is caused by negligence or otherwise
Copyright © February, 2

021 by the Federation Account Allocati —_
(FAAC). ocation Committee

Allrights reserved,

Written permission from FAAC is required to reproduce, store,

DX transmit, or make
other simil;

aruses ofthis document, except as permitted by law.

Contact faacipsasabuja@yahoo.com

Www, i oV,

()ﬂ'u'r Publications by the FAAC Sub-( ‘ommittee
!: The National Chart of Accounts (NCOA)
ii. Natmnnl('hanof.f\ccounm(N(‘()A)wam'Mnnual
lii. Revised National Chart of Acc NC
a a counts (NCOA)-E ic
chmenl(IPSASf\ccru;ll()nl_\-') i
Format of General Purpose Financial Statements (IPSAS Cash Basis)

V. Formatof General Purpose Financial Stz 5
SAQe > " ancial Statements (IPSAS Accrual Basi
vi.  IPSAS Compliant Budget Templates cervialBasis)

vii.  Implementation of IPSAS in Nigeri
_\mv Mapping of the N('()/\mlhc(ﬂ;l:s
IX.  Mapping of the NCOA to the GPFS Acc:
List of Government Business Enterpr

Guidelines for First Time Adoption of 1
2016

iv.

: What You Need to Know
h

ual
in Nigeria

PSAS Accrual By Ist January,

xi

Xn.  Guidelines on End of the Year Stock-Taking

Assist in the preparation and presentation ol‘(_jgncyal Purpose Financial
Statements (GPFS) in the of public sector entities in line with accrual
accounting concepts and principles;

iii.  Minimisearbitrary and subjective application of methods and procedures in
the treatment of government financial transactions;

iv.  Actasreference material for operators of accrual accounting in performing
financial management task;

v.  Serveasatraining document for new and existing personnel;
vi. Serveasareference document for auditors, | and other

stakeholders to understand and evaluate the financial management systems in
Nigeria; and

vii. Providea guide for PSF regards adequate recording of funds flow through
sufficient recording, reporting, and usage _and thereby ensure proper
monitoring of the applicationand utilisation of funds.

1.2.3 Scope

The manual covers public sector entities in the three tiers of government in Nigeria
(federal, state and local gm‘cmmcn(.\»ulhcr_lhan(;ﬂl"-.s. ey e
This manual shall be used in conjunction with other relevant extant laws and extan

regulations such as:

The Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria 1999 as amended:

ii.  Annual Appropriation Act (Budget)
iii.  Annual Finance Act;

iv.  Financial Regulations;

V. Financial Instructions;

vi.  Financial Memoranda; s

vii. Finance (Management & Control) Act, 1958;

viii. Finance Laws of States;

ix Treasury Circulars & Guidelines;

x. Public Procurement Act,2007;

xi.  Fiscal Responsibility Act, 2007; >

xii.  Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria Act, 2011;

Committee on IPSAS Implementation in Nigeria
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Extracts from Accrual Accounting Manual 2021 - Continued

xiii. - National Chart of Accounts (NCOA);

xiv.  National Chart of Accounts - User Manual;

xv. Mapping of NCOA into GPFS (Accrual);

xvi. lnternalion'a{ Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS);

Xvii, ;’ SASrBoa r.; o 'k for the preparation of GPFR as issued. by the
xviii. Other Rele Laws and Regul.

1.2 Scopeand Objectives of IPSAS

IPSAS are ing dards for application by national ional
(e.g. state, provincial, territorial) governments, local (e t:i‘= i n

3 5 .g. city, toy
and related governmental entities (e.g. i . g}mdty wgl) govelmﬂr,nsexlg

are widely used by i ions. However, IPSAS:
I " ¢ i s do notappl
to Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) but IFRS apply to GBEs. o

The standards aim to improve the quality of General Pu i i i

s 0 t rpose Financial Reportin;
(GPFR) by l[])llbllc sector entities, leading to better-informed assessmem:pgf thg
resource allocation decisions made by governments, th i i
transparency and accountability. 7% bR

1.1.2 Responsibilities

The overall responsibility for IPSAS implementation in Nigeria i i
_!;_ﬁAéz Sobl n PSAS Er g plem (Aon lnr I%?)na is vested in the
e finance functions of the PSEs shall have the primrr sibili i

nan 1 ary responsibility of applyin;
the principles of IPSAS to the financial reporting process of the entities. Tlll)ﬂ {s iﬁ

;wddlll;gl: to the traditional roles of the finance functions, which include, but are not
imited to: ’

i. Processing pay forallapproved di

ii. Preparation of periodic financial reports;

iii.Assislipg wil_h budget preparation on all government activities as
contained in the approved annual strategic plan of the
federal/state/local government;

OFFICE OF THE ACCOUNTANT GENERAL OF THE FEDERATION
FEDERAL MINISTRY OF FINANCE
FAAC SUB-COMMITTEE ON THE ROADMAP FOR THE ADOPTION OF IPSAS
TREASURY HOUSE
:-uwnml-mnm.l.ms.ammnw
Tel. 092918428 TRY/AS &B5/2014

OAGF/CAD/POL/C.0301/VOL. /VOL.1

23" October, 2014

NATIONAL TREASURY CIRCULAR
To:

The Chief of Staff to the President,

The Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Vice President,

All Honourable Ministers,

The Secretary to the Government of the Federation,

The Head of the Civil Service of the Federation,

The Head of the Civil Service of the 36 States of the Federation,

The National Security Adviser,

All Special Advisers,

The Chief of Defence Staff/Service Chiefs/Inspector-General of Police,
The Governor of the Central Bank of Nigeria,

The Chairman, Federal Civil Service Commission,

The Chairman, Police Service Commission,

The Chairman, Code of Conduct Bureau,

The Chairman, Code of Conduct Tribunal,

The Chairman, Federal Character Commission,

The Chairman, Revenue Mobilisation, Allocation and Fiscal Commission,
The Chairman, Federal Inland Revenue Service,

The Chairman, Independent National Electoral Commission,

The Chairman, National Population Commission,

The Chairman, Independent Corrupt Practices and other Related Offences
Commission,

The Chairman, Economic and Financial Crimes Commission,

The Chairman, National Drug Law Enforcement Agency,

All Federal Permanent Secretaries,

AC Sub-Committee on IPSAS Implement

© 2025

iv. Monitoring the implementation of annual budget to ensure adherence to
financial procedures and effective utilisation of budgeted funds;

v. Keepingall relevant books of accounts;

vi. Preparing statements and summaries of expenditure to government and
relevant other relevant stakeholders; and preparing bank reconciliation

statement

1.2.4 Authorisation and Approval Limits
The relevant authorities at the various tiers of government shall regulate

authorisation and approval limits.

1.2.5 Applicable IPSAS and Conceptual Framework
This Manual was prepared taking into cognisance all the forty-two (42)

dards issued and ional to date and the ptual k for the

preparation of GPFR as issued by the IPSAS Board in October, 2014.

Where the tr of a particular type of ion or scenario is not covered
by this Manual, management should make reference to the relevant applicable
IPSAS. Where it cannot be resolved, the advice of the head of treasury should be

sought.

tion in Nigeria

All Accounting Officers of the Federal, States and Local Government,
The Clerk to the National Assembly,
The Secretary, National Judicial Council,
The Chief Registrar, Supreme Court,
The Auditor-General for the Federation,
The Honourable Commissioners of Finance in the 36 States of the
Federation,
The E bl
of the Federation,
The Secretaries to State Governments,
The Clerk to State Assemblies,
Chairmen, 774 Local Government Councils,
Chairmen, State Civil Service Commission,
Chairman, Local Government Service Commission,
Chairmen, States pendent Electoral C issil
The States Accountants-General,
The States Auditors-General,
The Auditors-General for Local Government Councils,
The Director of Treasury, Federal Capital Territory Administration,
All Directors-General/Chief Executives of
Extra-Ministerial Offices and Agencies,
All Directors of Finance and Accounts,
All Heads of Accounts Divisions,
All Heads of Internal Audit Units,
The Sub-Treasurer of the Federation,
All Zonal Coordinators,
All Federal Pay Officers.

WWMWM

of Local Go in the 36 states

NIGERIA BY 2016
As a follow up to the National Circular Ref. No. OAGF/CAD/026.V.1/190 o:
d *Adopti tion and Application of

13" May, 2013 capti pplicatior
Inttmlﬁu’nl Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) in Nigeria’; it has

become necessary to take further steps to ensure implementation of Accrual Basis by
2016.

FAAC Sub-Committee on IPSAS Implementation in Nigeria
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Extracts from Accrual Accounting Manual 2021 - Continued
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Extracts From G.l. Daniel’s - Public Sector Accounting and Administrative

Practices in Nigeria Volume One & Two

Volume Two

Public Sector
Accounting and
Administrative
Practices in
Nigeria

TN

i
X

161 I Reforms of Public Financial Management In Nigeria

33.9.7  Observations on World Bank Public Financial Management
(PFM) Activities in Nigeria

There has not been any detailed review or quality assurance to
evaluate performances of state governments to determine their
eligibility for loans or grants. It was observed that the yard sticks
being used by the World Bank to assess most of the government
agencies of states or federal government are inadequate. For
instance, the Fiscal Sustainability Plan (FSP) and the twenty-two
(22) action plans are effective to enhance fiscal prudence and
public expenditure, transparency, but the means of evaluating the
performance of the agencies or state government eligible for grants
and loans are questionable.

Consider for instance, the World Bank multi-state performance-
based operation to strengthen state fiscal performance consultation
with state Commissioners of Finance.

Under this programme

Component 1: Programme for Result (PforR) Performance/Results-
based financing;

Total $700 Million over 2019-2021 available

Component 2: Capacity building/Technical assistance funding;
Total $50 Million over 2018-2020
P for R disbursements: start April 2019 (based on evaluation of state
performance in 2018)
Eligible for PforR financing: States individually have to achieve the
Global Disbursement Linked Indicator (DLI) —a minimum common
performance standard each year.
Therefore, the Global DLI are:

(i)  Annual approved state budget published online; and

(if) Latest annual audited financial statement.

© 2025
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viii. Back up devices and data restoration; and
ix. Continues Management and political support.

33.9 Fiscal Sustainability Plan

World Bank State Fiscal Transparency, Accountability and
Sustainability (SFTAS) Programme,

The main objective of this section is to evaluate the assistance of the
World Bank in its efforts to support the country in strengthening the
Public Financial Management. Fiscal sustainability or public finance
sustainability is the ability of a government to sustain its current
spending, tax and other policies in the long run without threatening
government solvency or defaulting on some of its liabilities or
promiscd expenditures.

The Fiscal Sustainability Plan, the framework for the sustenance
of the state governments in Nigeria, is a product of an agreement
between federal and state govemments which has been hailed as
a strategic game-changer for fiscal governance at the state level.
The aim of Fiscal Sustainability Plan (FSP) is to address the issue
of fiscal responsibility, or financial prudence, as part of the federal
government’s on-going fiscal responsibility reform.

In resp to the fiscal challenges, the Federal Ministry of Finance
requested the World Bank to prepare a programme to support states
10 strengthen fiscal performance and inability. The prc

builds on and complements the states’ commitment and reform
efforts under the 22 action plans. The FSP has 5 key strategic
objectives, followed by 22 recommended action points, with a view
to achieving objectives around improved fiscal behaviour that will
align both short-term and long-t inability objectives of the
federal and state governments.

From 2016 onwards, all state governments were expected to abide by
the Fiscal Sustainability Plan’s strategic objectives around the five
key elements of Accountability and Transparency, [ncrease in Public
Revenue, Rationalisation of Public Expenditure, Public Financial
Management Reforms, and Sustainable Debt Management.

1862 I Public Sector Accounting and Administrative Practices in Nigeria

Comment

Thesc criteria are weak. The cxistence of an annual approved State
Budget that is published online should not be the qualification for
the loan or grant. Has the contents of the budget been reviewed to
ensure that they meet the set standard? Has quality assurance been
carried out? Again, the mere submission of the audited financial
statement is not enough. Quality assurance needs to be carried out
to ensure that the account is in line with the standard. These are
critical issues that need to be taken into consideration before any
loan is approved. Because of the approach adopted to evaluate
the states, front page of the audited accounts can be published to
meet World Bank guideline; whereas, the real account is breach
of set standards. Auditor-General and Accountant-General at both

the federal and state levels are adopting the same World Bank

approach, Until the real evaluation are carried out where accounts

are returned for failure to meet the laid down standard, all the World

Bank’s effort on loans and grants given for the enhancement of
public financial management in Nigeria will not achieve the desired

results. The question that needs to be answer is: What are the bases

of the evaluation of the states for eligibility for the loan or grant?

The way forward

i. Effort should be made to ensure that cxperts on PFM are
engaged, especially whatever that relates to Accountant-
General and Auditor-General both at federal and state levels.

ii. Mere presentation of document should not be accepted, it needs
to be reviewed.

iii. Quality assurance needs to be enforced to ensure that all
financial statement presented meet the required standard.

iv. The World Bank should assist the Financial Reporting
Council of Nigeria to establish'the Public Sector Directorate
as entrenched in the Act, This will accelerate the development
of expertise in PFM such that the resources committed by the
World Bank to various public sector reform initiatives will
yield the desired results.
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Sample Kaduna State Law To Provide for The Control and Management of The

Public Finances of Kaduna State 2016.

A 157
Kaduna State of Nigeria Gazette No. 11, Vol. 50 7th April, 2016 - PartA

Law No. 6 2016

Kaduna State of Nigeria

ALAWTO PROVIDE FOR THE CONTROLAND
MANAGEMENT OF THE PUBLIC FINANCES OF
KADUNASTATE 2016
[29th March, 2016] Date of

Commencement
BE IT ENACTED by the House of Assembly of Kaduna State Eaactment
as follows:

1. This Law may be cited as the Public Finances (Control skort Title
and Management) Law, 2016.

2. This Law shall come into operation on the 29th day of Commencement
March, 2016.

3. InthisLaw unless the context otherwise req
“Consolidated Revenue Fund” means the revenue fund
established for the State under Section 120 (1) of the
Constitution into which all revenues and other monies
raised or received by the State not being revenues or
other monies under the Constitution or any Law of the
State into any other Fund of the State established fora
specific purposed shall be paid;

“Commissioner” means the Commissioner of Finance of
the State;

“Governor” means the Governor of the State;

“Legislature” means the House of Assembly of the State;-

Al60 “Law No. 6 of 2016 Public Finance Control and Mt Law, 2016

Appropriation

APpropeiation 10. Monies appropriated by the Legislature for the service
of Finncial vear  OF anny financial year and have not been committed shall lapse at the
close of that year.

Specification of 11.  The Public funds specified in the First Schedule to this

Pubsle Fune Law shall be transferred and credited into the Treasury Single Account.

fr"l';y‘;;;“‘f““‘“"‘ 13. It is otherwise provided in the Law establishing or
regulating the fund, the balance remaining in any fund at the close of
such financial year shall be carried forward to the credit of that fund at
the beginning of the next financial year.

P::pumion of 14. The Law appropriating monies from the Consolidated
Revenue Fund into any other find may provide that any interest eamed
to that fund shall accrue to the Consolidated Revenue Fund and not to
that fund:

PROVIDED that, if such a provision is made, the Law shall
provide that:

(a)  depreciation in the value of the investments of the
fund and any losses on the sales of any such
investments shall be borne by the Consolidated
Revenue Fund;

(b)  anydepreciationin the value of the investments and
any profits on the sale or redemption of any such
investments shall accrue to the Consolidated
Revenue Fund;

(¢c) theapplication of the provisions of this section shall
be without prejudice.to the terms of any bequest
providing monies contained in that fund and any
Law establishing or regulating that fund.

z“;'n:’;; - 15.  Intheevent of any investment or disbursement of public

funds it becomes irrecoverable owing to prolong lapse of time and is
deemed to become moribund or bad debt; the Commissioner of
Finance may recommend to the State Executive Council that such
moribund investment or bad debt be written off from the Books of
Account of the State.

© 2025
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“Public Monies" include:
(a) thepublicrevenues of the State; and

(b) anytrustorother monies held in his official capacity,
including monies held in banks and other financial
institutions, whether temporarily or otherwise, by
any officer of the public service of the State as the
agent of the Government of the State cither alone
or jointly with any other person;

“State” means Kaduna State of Nigeria.
“Statutory Expenditure” means:

(a) the expenditure charged on the Consolidated
Revenue Fund by any provision of the Constitution;
and

(b) such other expenditure as may be authorized by
an Appropriation or Supplementary Law.
f)r"“""“‘“‘s;'w 4.  Thereshall be for the State, a Treasury Single Account
Account into which all revenues and monies accruing from the Consolidated
Revenue Fund including funds from Excess Crude Account, grants or
donations shall be paid, and out of which, all expenditure incurred or
approved to be incurred shall be defrayed or paid.

Supervision of 5. (1) TheCommissioner shall supervise the expenditure
Expenditire sad o f'the State 50 as to ensure that proper arrangements for accounting
to the Legislature are made and may also direct what accounts shall
be kept.

(2) All persons handling public monies, stamps, securities,
stores or other property of the Government of the State shall comply
with all Financial Regulations operating in the State regarding handling
and accounting procedure.

Authorized 6.  The Commissioner shall by warrant authorize the issue

Concatdaeg " from the Consolidated Revenue Fund of all sums required to meet
Revenue Fund

Commissioner

Public Finance Control and Management Law, 2016 Law No. 6 of 2016 Al61

16. (1)
the Auditor-General accounts showing fully the financial position on
the last day of each financial year of the Treasury Single Account and
of the funds specified in the First Schedule to this Law.

The Accountant-General shall sign and present to Axmal o

(2)  AllPublic Expenditure as certified by the Auditor-General
shall be published in the State Gazette.

17. The Governor shall have the power to make such Power to Make
regulations or issue such instructions for the purpose of giving effectto Regulations
the provisions of this Law.

18. The Public Finances (Control and Management) Law  Repeal of Cap. 124

Cap. 124 of the Laws of Kaduna State, 1991 is hereby repealed. s so01 ™

FIRST SCHEDULE
PUBLIC FUNDS OF KADUNA STATE

The Capital Development Fund _

The Personal Advances Fund

The Treasury Clearance Fund

Other Governments Clearance Fund

The Staff Housing Loans Scheme Fund

The Local Governments Deposits and Short-term Loans Fund
The Voluntary Agéncies Education Building Loans Fund

The Local Governments Motor Vehicles Insurance Fund

The Small Industries Credit Scheme Fund
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Sample Kaduna State Audit Law 2021

= 1 % v
X s !
o[ ¢ No.9 of 2021 Kaduna State Audit Law Al19
Al
L" PART IV
AUDITSTANDARDS AND ANNUALACCOUNTS
14. (1) TheAuditor-General shall, pursuant to the provision  Audit Stndards
of this Law, determine which auditing standards should be appliedand
‘ : a Z ett e may establish audit programmes and code of ethics specific to the audi-
. tors performed by the Office of the Auditor-General.
Published by Authority : (@) Theauditing standards shallinclude:
No. 16 KADUNA - 29th July, 2021 Vol.55 (@) Public Sector Auditing Standards issued by the Confe

deration of Federal and State Auditor-Generals;

(b)  Accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting
Council of Nigeria (FRC);

(c) The Standards and Code of Ethics published or updated
from time to time by the International Grganisation of
Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAT) and the Interna-
tional Auditing and Assurance and Standards Board

Kaduna Notice No. §

CONTENT

The following is published in the Supplement to this Gau:ue:-
KD.S. Law No: 9 0f 2021 - The Kaduna State Audit Law, 2021

(A&ASB); d
(d) TheAccounting Standards and Code of Ethics published

by thel ional Federation of A (IFAC);
(e) International Public Sector A ing Standards published

and/or updated by the International Public S

Accounting Standards Board; and

() Otherrelevant, or required standards issued or
accepted as current best practices by funding or donor
organisations,

(3) TheOffice shall promote the values of integrity, indepen
dence, objectivity, confidentiality and

15. (1). Withinaperiod of three (3) months after theend of  Audit Accounts
cach fi ial year, the A General shall present to the
Auditor-General, accounts showing the financial position of the State as
at the last day of the preceding year.

! 28

Printed and Published by the Government Printer, Kaduna 2808/07/2021/500
Anawal Subseription: Nigerio, N2,750. Present issue includin o i
75 g Supplement N2,000,00 copy. Applica
for the purchase of Gazetie and other Government Publications should be utmiuedp: H:"Gnv':w‘:l"
Printer, Private Mail Bag 2020, Kaduny. Remittances should be in cash or crossed cheque only and made
payablc 1o the Government Printer, Kaduan, Postage Stamps ane NOT aceeptable.

(115)

(2)  Suchaccountsshall include but not limited to:

Al120 Kaduna State Audi ;
i State Audit by No:9.0f 2021 No. 9 of 2021 Kaduna State Audit Law Al2l

Responsibility for Financial Statement; “)

(@) Statement No. | : ;
) 2 The Accountant-General shall give a one (1) month notice

()  Statement No.2 - Cash Flow Statement;

Zfc)  StatementNo. 3 ~ Statement of Assets and Liabilities;

V() Statement No. 4

Fund;

Statement of Consolidated Revenue

V(e) Statement No. 5
Fund:

v (f  Statement No. 6
Expenditure;

Statement of Capital Development
Staterment of Recurrent Revenue and

(g) StatementNo.7 - Statement of Donations and Grants;
J(h) StatementNo.8 — Statement of Contractual Liabilities;
(NS No.9 -S§

()  Statement No. 10— Statement of External and Intemal Loans

of Investments;

/ (k) Fiveyear’s Financial Summary
(/) Notes to the Financial Statements; and

{m) Other statements that may be required by Auditing Stan
dards, Practices or Statutes which-will also include:

(i) Statementoffinancial Position;
(ii)  Statementof Financial Performance;
(iij)  Statement of Change in Net Assets/Equity; and
(iv)  Accounting Policies.
(3) The Notes to the financial statements shall:
(@) gmvidc information about the basis of preparations of the

10 the Auditor-General where he envisages a delay in meeting the dead-
line as provided in subsection (1) of this Section.

(5)  Where the Accountant-General fails to present the accounts
1o the Auditor-General in line with subsection (1) of this Section, the
Accountant-General shall appear before the House of Assembly to give
reasons for such failure and makea report in writing to the Govemor for
such failure.

(6)  Within fifteen (15) days after the end of each month. the
Accounting Officer shall prepare and submit to the Accountant-General,
wih copy to the Auditor-General, returns of incone and expenditure
under the votes for which they arc responsible, showing the:

(@)  services for which the monies were voed;

() sumsactualiy expended on each service during the period

of the accounts;

() stateof each vote compared with appropriation;

(d)  anyotherinformation as may bereasonably required by the

office. 3

PROVIDED that, cach account shall contain such variation
between the expenditure and the sums voted, such other required infor-
mation and be in such form as the Auditor-General may direct; and the
statement as well as the appropriated accounts shall be signed by the
Accounting Officer.

(7)  Without prejudice toany provision of this Law, theaccounts
shall be presented in line with globally accepted accounting format and

1 policies sclected and applied for X 3 : e
significant transactions and other events for the purpose of standards from time to time, as may be prescribed by the Accountant-
users”understanding and comparability. General.

() includethe following:

(i)  Statementofcompliance with approved accountin,
standards; 3

(ii)  Statementof accounting policies api)lied;

(i) Supporting information for items presented on the
face of the financial statements.

© 2025

16. (1) Without prejudice to any other provision of this Law,
every person who fails or refuses to reply toan audit query or observa-
tion within the period specified in the audit query or after one month
from the date the query was issued, whichever is earlier, shall be liable to
disciplinary action under applicable Public Service Rules and Financial
Regulations. >

Audit Query
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Sample Enugu State Fiscal Responsibility Law

Enugu State Fiscal Responsibility

A 196

E.S.N
Law No. 8 2018

Enugu State Fiscal Responsibility

ES.N A195

LawNo.82018 !

49.

50.(1)

@

(©]

(O]

s1(1)

@)

52.(1)
2)

@)

53.

The Provisions of section 46 of the Fiscal Rcspomﬂnh La
applies also to Enugu State G = o

Subject to the provisions of this Part, the Commissioner may
with the approval of the State Executive Council, grant
behalf ofany G tinthe State.

Any guarantee granted by the C i shall b ditional
upon the provision of a counter-guarantee in an amount equal to
or higher than the guarantee obligation; pmvndedthn, there are
no overdue obligations from the in the
State to the and such

shall also be i with the followi

(a) counter-guarantee shall only be accepted ﬁ'om Local
Governments;

(b) the counter-guarantee required by the State Government
from Local Government, may consist in the appropriation of
tax revenue directly oollemd and resulting ﬁom statutory

fers and the shall be auth d to retain such
dre:::\le and use the respective amount to repay overdue

In the case of foreign y b

shall be a

or any of its

mdm

g Federal Gy
qui and no State, Local
shall, on its own

G
externally.
Any guarantee provided in excess of the debt limits set pursuant
to section 45(1) of this Law shall be an offence.

PART XII
Transparency and Accountability
The State Government shall ensure that its fiscal and financial
aﬂ‘lusmeondmedmammpmlmnmnndamdmgl
ensure ﬁlll and umely dmcloxure and wide publication of all
and d lving public and

mexpendlst.nnle‘lundﬂxftxsmcimm foms finances.

ite House of ly shall ensure transparency during
the preparation and discussion of the Medium-Term i
Framework, Annual Budget and the Appropriation Bill.

The State Government shall publish their audited accounts not
later than six months following the end of the financial year.

The State Government shall, not later than two years following
the commencement of this Law ‘and thereafter, not later than
seven months following the end of each financial year,
consolidate and publish in its website and the mass media, its
uudnedaceo\mufortbepmvmmyw

The ion of general d for the lidation of
public accounts shall be the responsibility of the oﬁoe of the
Accountant-General of the State.

The State Government through its budget office shall within
thirty-days after the end of each quarter, publish a summarised
report on budget execution in such form as maybe prescribed by

© 2025

Mhho-wCBNm
mum
Power of the
Commissioner to grant
guarantees

Enforcement

54,

Offencesand  55.(1)

Penalties

Fiscal

Government seeuritics
as collateral to
guarantee loans

Restriction on
utilization of

of sales

of public assets, etc

Nﬂiﬁmof
audited accounts

Mhumoh
budget execution

56.

57.

(&)

59.

the Fiscal Responsibility Commiission and not later than six
months after the end of the financjal year, a consolidated budget
execution report showing implementation ag hysical and
financial performance targets shall be put 1 by the
Commissioner for submission to the State House of Assembly
and dissemination to the public.

PART XIHI
Enforcement, Offences and Penalties
A person shall have legal capacity to enforce the provisions of
this Law by obtaining prerogative orders or other remedies at the
State High Court, without having to show any special or
particular interest.

Any person who lares revenues g d or coll

by any of the establishments listed in the schcdulc shall be gullty
of an offence and liable on conviction to imprisonment for a
period not less than 5 years or a fine of 10 percent the total
amount underdeclared.

Any person who authourised the spending of any money
collected or generated pursuant to section 25 of this Law without
appropriation by the State House of Assembly shall be guilty of
an offence and liable on conviction to imprisonment for a period
not less than 5 years or a fine of 10 percent of the total amount
expended.

Subject to the provisions of this Law, any person contravening or
failing to comply with the provisions of this Law shall be guilty
of an offence and if no other punishment has been provided
therefore in this Law, shall be liable on conviciion to
imprisonment for a period not less than 5 years or a e of
N500,000.00

PART X1V
Miscellaneous Provisions
Government securities, provided that, they are duly listed on the
stock exchange, may be offered as collateral to guarantee loans or
other financial transactions under the law for their economic
value as defined by the Ministry of Finance.

The proceeds derived from the sale or transfer of public
properties and rights over public assets shall not be used to
finance and debt expendif provided that such
proceeds may be used to liquidate existing liabilities directly
charged against such propertics or assets.

The State Government may provide lechmcnl and financial
to Local Gi in the of this
for the mod of their respective tax, financial
andassetadministration.

The Govemor shall, in addition to any other power conferred on
him under this Law, make regulations generally for the purpose
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Compliance Reports

Table 13 - Comparison of 2024 Published Budget of The 36 States of The Federation With The
Templates of IPSAS Compliance Budget of The FAAC Sub Committee

CONSOLIDATED BUDGET SUMMARY (MASTER BUDGET)
BASED ON FUNCTION COMPUTATION OF SUMMARY OF TABLE OF CONTENT
SN STATE BASED-ON PROGRAM (COFOG) BASED ON SECTORS | BASED ON GEO-LOCATION TRANSFERS FROM CRF TO CDF INCLUDED
1 |Abia No No No Yes No No
2 |Adamawa No No No Yes No Yes
3 |Akwa lbom No No No Yes No No
4 |Anambra No No No Yes No No
5 |Bauchi No No No Yes No No
6 |Bayelsa No No No Yes No No
7 |Benue No No No Yes No No
8 |Borno No No No Yes No No
9 |Crossriver No No No Yes No No
10 |Delta No No No Yes No No
11 |Ebonyi No No No Yes No Yes
12 |[Edo No No No Yes No Yes
13 [Ekiti No No No Yes No No
14 |Enugu No No No Yes No No
15 |Gombe No No No Yes No No
16 |Imo No No No Yes No Yes
17 |Jigawa No No No Yes No Yes
18 |Kaduna No No No Yes No No
19 |[Kano No No No Yes No Yes
20 |Katsina No No No Yes No Yes
21 |[Kebbi No No No Yes No Yes
22 [Kogi No No No Yes No Yes
23 |[Kwara No No No Yes No Yes
24 |Lagos No No Yes Yes No No
25 [Nasarawa No No No Yes No No
26 |Niger No No No Yes No No
27 |Ogun No No No Yes No No
28 |Ondo No No No Yes No No
29 |Osun No No No Yes No Yes
30 (Oyo No No No Yes No No
31 |Plateau No No No Yes No No
32 |Rivers No No No Yes No No
33 [Sokoto No No No Yes No No
34 |Taraba No No No Yes No No
35 |Yobe No No No Yes No No
36 |Zamfara No No No Yes No Yes

It is a requirement to provide summarized budget data for both revenue and expenditure items
according to the six segments of the National Chart of Accounts for both the current and previous
year. The absence of summarized budget data for both revenue and expenditure presents an
ongoing challenge for public financial management. Analysis from Table 13 shows that 35 out of 36
states failed to present budget summaries by program, function and sector. Without these
classification summaries, it becomes difficult to analyze budgets in terms of strategic intent or

policy priorities, limiting their usefulness as tools for governance, planning, and accountability.
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Table 14 - Comparison of 2024 Published Budget of The 36 States of The Federation With The
Templates of IPSAS Compliance Budget of The FAAC Sub Committee

PEFA PI-6 COMPREHENSIVENESS OF INFORMATION INCLUDED IN BUDGET DOCUMENTATION IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH IPSAS
Macro- Fiscal Anticipated Prior Yr Current Yr Explanation
Economic Deficit - Composition Of Deficit Debt Financial Budget Budget Summarized Budget

State Assumptions Definition Financing Stock Assets Column Column Budget Data Implication
Abia No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Adamawa Yes No No No No Yes Yes No Yes
Akwa Ibom No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Anambra No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Bauchi No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Bayelsa No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Benue Yes Yes Yes No No Yes Yes No Yes
Borno No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Cross River No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Delta No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Ebonyi No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Edo No No Yes No No Yes Yes No No
Ekiti No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Enugu Yes No No No No Yes Yes No Yes
Gombe No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Imo No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Jigawa No No No No No Yes Yes No Yes
Kaduna No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Kano No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Katsina No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Kebbi No No No No No Yes Yes No Yes
Kogi No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Kwara No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Lagos Yes Yes Yes No No Yes Yes Yes No
Nasarawa No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Niger No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Ogun No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Ondo No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Osun No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Oyo No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Plateau Yes No No No No Yes Yes No Yes
Rivers No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Sokoto No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Taraba No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Yobe No No No No No Yes Yes No No
Zamfara No No No No No Yes Yes No Yes

Analysis of the 2024 state budgets highlights significant gaps in public accounting practices, largely
linked to non-compliance with the PEFA PI-6 indicator on budget comprehensiveness. 31 out of 36
states did not disclose the macroeconomic assumptions made in their budgets, making revenue
and expenditure projections difficult to verify. Similarly, 33 states omitted details on the expected
composition of deficit financing, leaving budget shortfalls insufficiently explained. Most notably,
none of the states reported their total debt stock, which is essential for assessing fiscal health and
solvency. In addition, 29 states did not provide explanations of the broader implications of their
budgets, reducing citizens’ and oversight bodies’ ability to fully understand fiscal policy choices
and their potential impact. Collectively, these omissions constrain transparency and

accountability, underscoring the need for greater adherence to established reporting standards.
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Table 15 - Comparison of 2024 Published Audited Accounts of the 36 States of the Federation
with the Templates of IPSAS Cash and Accrual Basis of the FAAC Sub Committee

Accrual Basis Cash Basis Accrual & Cash Basis
Compliance with
Annual Responsibility  |C li with Fi ial
Accounts Statement In 2024 Reporting Council
Financial Financial [Changes in Net| Assets & ICash of all |Accounting|Perfor atistical] Compli with | Appropriation Act Section 57,
State Performance Position Assets/ Equity | Liabilities CRF CDF [Flow [Notes | Funds Policies Reports | Reports | Public Finance Law Law 59(1) & 77"

Abia [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No
[Adamawa |Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No No
(Akwa Ibom Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes No No No No No
[Anambra |Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No
Bauchi [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes No No No No No
|Bayelsa Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes No No
|Benue [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No
Borno [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes No No Yes No No
(Cross River] Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No No No No No No No
Delta Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes No No Yes No No
[Ebonyi Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes No No No No No
|Edo Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No No No No
|Ekiti Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes No No Yes No No
Enugu [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No
(Gombe [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No
Imo [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No No
[Jigawa Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | No No Yes No No No No No
Kaduna Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | No No No No No No No No
[Kano Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No No No No
Katsina Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No
Kebbi [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No
Kogi Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No
Kwara Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No
Lagos Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No
[Nasarawa |Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No
Niger Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No
Ogun Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes No No No No No
Ondo Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No
Osun Yes Yes Yes [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicable| Yes | Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No No
Oyo [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No
Plateau [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No
Rivers - - - - - - = - > = o - - - -
Sokoto [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No
Taraba [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No
Yobe [Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No
Zamfara |Not Applicable [Not Applicable|Not Applicabl Yes Yes Yes Yes | Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes No No

Key Meaning

Yellow 2024 Published Audited Financial Statement Not Available Online

Not Applicable State Implemented Alternative Accounting Basis

STATISTICAL REPORTS

S/N DESCRIPTION INCLUDED IN GPFS
1 Statement of Total Government Expenditure by Main Function of the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA) Yes/No
2 Statement of Capital Expenditure by 21 Programme of the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA) Yes/No
3 Statement of Capital Expenditure by Programme Objectives of the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA) NO*
4 Statement of Capital Expenditure Projects by Geo Location of the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA) Yes/No

Note* - Statement of Capital Expenditure by Programme Objectives of the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA):

Statement of Capital Expenditure by Programme Objectives of the National Chart of Accounts (NCOA): None of the

States that scored 5 or lower in the Fiscal Transparency ranking disaggregated capital expenditure by Programme
Objectives in their 2020 — 2024 Published Audited Accounts. Between 2020 and 2024, total revenue amounted to §37.1
trillion, while capital expenditure totaled &#19.4 trillion, representing 52.3% of total revenue. Notably, #7.6 trillion of this

was spent in 2024 alone. The failure to disclose capital expenditure by programme objectives for this entire period

constitutes a material omission under IPSAS 3, a violation of the applicable provisions of the Fiscal Responsibility
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Act/Laws, Public Finance Act/Laws and the prescribed format for the publication of General-Purpose Financial
Statements (GPFS) in Nigeria.

Notex* - Compliance with Section 19, 23 and 24 Financial (Control and Management) Act and Equivalent State
Provisions; Section 125(5) of the 1999 Constitution as amended; Section 48 and 49 of the Fiscal Responsibility
Act 2007 and corresponding Fiscal Responsibility Laws; and Financial Reporting Council Act Section 59(1) (h-j):
The authority for Accountants-General to prepare and sign Annual Accounts and Financial Statements derived from the
provisions of the Public Finance (Control and Management) Act/Laws, Fiscal Responsibility Act/Laws, Audit Act/Laws,
Appropriation Act/Laws and Section 125(5) of the 1999 Constitution as amended. All States that prepared Accrual
Financial Statements breached sections 19, 23, and 24 of the Finance (Control and Management ) Act 1958, Section
125(5) of the 1999 Constitution and Appropriation Laws by not preparing and publishing annual accounts of all funds.
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Table 16 - 2024 Capital Expenditure By Programme, Geolocation And Function Segments of The National Chart of Accounts

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Programme Segment Geo Location Seg F Seg t
% CAPEX By Geo
SN State CAPEX By Programme Actual Budget Achieved |Location Actual Budget CAPEX By Function Actual Budget
[Economic Empowerment Through
1 Abia |Agriculture 2,008,101,043)  7,033,175,700] 28.6% |Arochukwu 14,588,348,111 16,812,932,093|701 - General Public Services 36,221,430,455] 61,319,549,785
1 Abia Societal Re-Orientation 278,725,815 1,212,497.840| 23.0% |Bende 12,414,800,021 14,505,344,168|702 - Defense - -
1 Abia Poverty Alleviation 1,620,596,094]  2,915,447,400| 55.6% |Isiukwuato 2,435,209,299] 67,822,664,834(703 - Public Order and Safety 4,431,586,160[  5,691,484,098
1 Abia Improvement to Human Health 10,413,197,906] 47,531,710,145] 21.9% |Umunneochi 1,691,160,708]  2,281,679,812|704 - Economic Affairs 118,631,665,854| 157,140,098,100
705 - Environmental
1 Abia [Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 9.453,318,545] 99.,716,792,718] 9.5% |Ohafia 4,955,780,000]  5,464,938,503[Protection 4.241,965,197|  6,639,808.873
706 - Housing and Community
1 Abia Housing and Urban Development 15,352,685,271] 50,253,812,021| 30.6% |lIkwuano 624,922,932 1,549,200,400|Amenities 22,339,199.473] 63,594,420,594
1 Abia Gender 5,069,967,173]  5,792,359,000] 87.5% |Isiala Ngwa North 4,536,962,883] 10,241,149,000{707 - Health 14,152,750.413] 51,562,678,039
708 - Recreation, Culture and
1 Abia Youth 931,802,034 12,456,745,600[ 7.5% |Isiala Ngwa South 2,313,732,546]  5,760,202,109[Religion 5,724,219,623]  9,925,569,583
1 Abia [Environmental Improvement 4,244,176,861 6,651,368,873] 63.8% [Osisioma 6,818,338,879] 11,361,346,875[709 - Education 9,422,812,209] 100,180,864,307
(Water Resources and Rural
1 Abia Development 1,036.408,331 1,886,600,747| 54.9% |Umuahia North 116,534,526,788| 255,377,563,027|710 - Social Protection 289,878,584]  8,593,141,000
Information Communication and
1 Abia Technolog 48,019,404 1,301,986,647| 3.7% |Umuahia South 1,080,532,600]  5,829,553,400
1 Abia Growing the Private Sector 47,776,175| 4,514,442,900] 1.1% |Aba North 13,192,520,372 22,721,751,389
Reform of Government and
1 Abia Governance 49,375,684,321) 78,111,150,009] 63.2% |Aba South 34,058,914,853| 42,505,364,010)
1 Abia Power 4,481,230,776]  5,147,381,610] 87.1% |Obingwa 129,763,383 1,120,375,0006)
1 Abia Road 111,093,818,219] 140,032,143,169] 79.3% |Ugwunagbo - 117,200,000
1 Abia JAirways - 90,000,000, 0.0% [Ukwa South 3,256,000 585,800,000
1 Abia Sea Ports - 70,000,000] 0.0% [Ukwa West 76,738,593 590,549,753
1 Abia Oil and Gas Infrastructure - -
1 Abia Total 215,455,507,968| 464,717,614,379 Total 215,455,507,968| 464,647,614,379|Total 215,455,507,968| 464,647,614,379
[Economic Empowerment Through
2 [Adamawa [Agriculture 5,715,165,968]  5,754,605.760| 99.3% [Madagali 5,356,304,499|  5,396,354,000]701 - General Public Services 9,780,282,530] 10,376,453,581
2 Adamawa__[Societal Re-Orientation 477,000,000 643,125,850[ 74.2% |Maiha - -[702 - Defense - -
2 |Adamawa |Poverty Alleviation 5,737,441,101 5,844,138,850] 98.2% [Michika 2,323,012,783]  2,883,682,700[703 - Public Order and Safety 1,720,160,176| 1,809,260,880
2 |Adamawa |Improvement to Human Health 2,872,758,483]  3.654,780.,560| 78.6% [Mubi North 20,534,756 50,235,680[704 - Economic Affairs 71,418,641,616] 72,904,621,255
705 - Environmental
2 [Adamawa [Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 12,847,908,613] 14,270,111,900] 90.0% |Mubi South 1,121,572,124 1,134,061,500|Protection 1,315,615,495 1,331,888,500,
706 - Housing and Community
2 |Adamawa |Housing and Urban Development 4,419,132,873[  4,792,476,194| 92.2% [Demsa 289,485,390 426,640,700|Amenities 7,364,006,040,  8,210,828,430
2 |Adamawa |Gender 15,950,500 21,176,700] 75.3% |Ganye 405,128,032 459,179,400[707 - Health 2,783.411,457)  3,562,851,459
708 - Recreation, Culture and
2 |Adamawa |Youth 4,192,553,484  4,194,479,100] 100.0% |Guyuk 121,398,363 192,000,000{Religion 6,070,074,252]  6,468,068,975
2 |Adamawa |Environmental Improvement 220,825,282 236,888,500 93.2% |Jada 16,725,905 52,000,000[709 - Education 12,847,908.613] 14,174,761,900
(Water Resources and Rual
2 |Adamawa |Development 978,575,054 1,017,505,000] 96.2% |Lamurde 2,566,695 28,844,400[710 - Social Protection 6,302,162,301 6,580,775,400
Information Communication and
2 [Adamawa [Technolog 3,631,131,776]  3.864,332,900| 94.0% [Mayo-Belwa - -
2 Adamawa__|Growing the Private Sector - - Numan 83,178,490 99,814,500
Reform of Government and
2 |Adamawa [Governance 20,467,953,436] 21,634,297,666| 94.6% |Shelleng 137,903,519 207,000,000}
2 |Adamawa |Power 1,466.,883.421 2,012,202,360] 72.9% [Toungo 297,805,889 357,460,000
2 |Adamawa [Rail - - Fufore 1,260,000 96,739,200
2 [Adamawa [Water Ways - - Girei 10,992,228,923| 11,001,695,700)
2 |Adamawa |Road 56,551,198,787| 57.471,595,230[ 98.4% |Gombi - 77,452,200
2 [Adamawa [Airways - - Hong 470818741.8 795262300
2 |Adamawa |Oil and Gas Infrastructure 7,793,700 7,793,810| 100.0% [Song 67887514.96, 225000000
2 [Adamawa Yola North 42700746669 43631075619
2 [Adamawa Yola South 7617713187, 8232588635
2 [Adamawa State Wide 47552901070) 50072423846
2 |[Adamawa [Total 119,602,272,480| 125,419,510,380 Total 119,579,172,550| 125,419,510,380|Total 119,602,262,480| 125,419,510,380
[Economic Empowerment Through
3 Anambra __|Agriculture 1,357,364,660]  2,725,050,000{ 49.8% |Anambra East 60,225,000 996,000,000{701 - General Public Services 10,934,447,521| 22,247,153,528
3 Anambra _ |Societal Re-Orientation - 193,000,000, [Anambra West - -|702 - Defense - -
3 Anambra__ |Poverty Alleviation - 100,000,000 Ayamelum - 1,515,000,000703 - Public Order and Safety 2,801,081,329|  7,636,484,000
3 Anambra__|Improvement to Human Health 10,649,114,830] 17,178,573,554| 62.0% |Ogbaru - 400,956,515|704 - Economic Affairs 179,665,789,142| 227,826,736,805
705 - Environmental
3 Anambra__|Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 6,214,501,639] 15,682,828,600| 39.6% |Onitsha North 40,580,778] 160,000,000[Protection 415,356,814  2,114,880,000
706 - Housing and Community
3 Anambra__ |Housing and Urban Development 11,263,577,119] 20,499,725,463| 54.9% |Onitsha South - -|Amenities 10,984,221,977) 18,977,771,463
3 Anambra__|Gender 70,415,100]  2,262,000,000] 3.1% |Oyi 22,194,000, 140,000,000{707 - Health 10,538,614.,830] 17,068,573,554
708 - Recreation, Culture and
3 Anambra__|Youth 930,512,200]  4.366,396,000( 21.3% |Anaocha - 24,000,000|Religion 1,792,556,775|  6,305,610,576
3 Anambra__|[Environmental Improvement 8,679,972,113| 11,683,712,352] 74.3% |Awka North 8,044,534,534| 12,516,108,600|709 - Education 950,381,194|  8,592,578,600|
(Water Resources and Rual
3 Anambra __|Development 7,424,399,024]  9,110,000,000] 81.5% |Awka South 207,765,058,112| 294,494,223,411|710 - Social Protection 172,947,612]  3,160,500,000
Information Communication and
3 Anambra__|Technolog: 2,388,137,623]  6,022,592,576| 39.7% [Idemili North 265,355,785 999,000,000}
3 Anambra _ [Growing the Private Sector 14,603,600 599,000,000 2.4% |Idemili South - |
Reform of Government and
3 Anambra___|Governance 25,854,096,614) 70,981,980,591] 36.4% [Njikoka - 270,000,000}
3 Anambra___|Power 875,175,862 1,258,482.875| 69.5% [Aguata 2,057,448,986|  2,285,000,000
3 Anambra _ |Rail - 200,000,000 Ekwusigo - |
3 Anambra___|Water Ways - 1,500,000,000 Ihiala - 130,000,000
3 Anambra___|Road 140,533,526,812( 147,165,990,000] 95.5% [Nnewi North - -
3 Anambra__|Airways 2,000,000,000]  2,000,000,000] 100.0% [Nnewi South - -
3 Anambra _ |Oil and Gas Infrastructure - 400,956,515 Orumba North - |
3 |Anambra [Total 218,255,397,196| 313,930,288,526 Total 218,255,397,195| 313,930,288,526|Total 218,255,397,194| 313,930,288,526
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Table 16 - 2024 Capital Expenditure By Programme, Geolocation And Function Segments of The National Chart of Accounts

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Programme Seg t Geo Location Segment Function Seg
% CAPEX By Geo
SN State CAPEX By Programme Actual Budget Achieved |Location Actual Budget CAPEX By Function Actual Budget
Economic Empowerment Through
4 [Bayelsa Agriculture 13,127,225,765] 16,969,528,770 77.4% 701 - General Public Services 224,362,234 424,362,234,
4 Bayelsa Societal Re-Orientation 11,484,996,651| 14,846,623,696| 77.4% 702 - Defense -
4 [Bayelsa Poverty Alleviation 6,562,219,009]  8.482,962,529 77.4% 703 - Public Order and Safety 149,574,823 534,000,000
4 [Bayelsa Improvement to Human Health 39.874,275,842| 67,860,072,981) 58.8% 704 - Economic Affairs 32,350,247,700| 138,270,215,614
705 - Environmental
4 |Bayelsa Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 59.801,159,054| 63,452,599,737) 94.2% Protection 67,240,451 59,189,589
706 - Housing and Community
4 [Bayelsa Housing and Urban Development 32,723,619.432| 42,301,733,158] 77.4% Amenities 2,925,476,672, 3.959.476,677
4 [Bayelsa Gender 3,272,361,943]  4,230,173,316] 77.4% 707 - Health 1,831,644,156]  2,931,644,156]
708 - Recreation, Culture and
4 [Bayelsa Youth 13,089,447,773] 16,920,693,263 77.4% Religion 2,508,767,720, 3,500,767,720
4 [Bayelsa Environmental Improvement 11,453,266,801] 14,805,606,605 77.4% 709 - Education 9,812,379,407) 10,734,379,407
Water Resources and Rual
4 [Bayelsa Development 9,817,085,830] 12,690,519,947 77.4% 710 - Social Protection 55,821,536 70,000,000
Information Communication and
4 |Bayelsa Technolog 3,272,361,943|  4,230,173,316 77.4%
4 |Bayelsa Growing the Private Sector 3,272,361,943]|  4,230,173,316] 77.4%
Reform of Government and
4 |Bayelsa Governance 13,089,447,773] 16,920,693,263 77.4%
4 |Bayelsa Power 42,540,705,261) 54,992,253,105 77.4%
4 |Bayelsa Rail 35,995,981,375| 46,531,906,473| 77.4%
4 Bayelsa Water Ways - -
4 |Bayelsa Road 94,920,542,154| 33,841,386,526| 280.5%
4 Bayelsa Airways - -
4 Bayelsa Oil and Gas Infrastructure - -
4 [Bayelsa Total 394,297,058,548| 423,307,100,000 Total Total 49,925,514,699| 160,484,035,397,
Economic Empowerment Through
5 |Benue Agriculture 6,150,662,300] 16,383,949,656] 37.5% |Katsina - Ala 66,561,718 581,092,000{701 - General Public Services 15,005,292,108|
5 Benue Societal Re-Orientation Konshasha 26,400,000 31,400,000{702 - Defense
5 |Benue Poverty Alleviation 995,000,000 1,802,302,203| 55.2% [Kwande 448,383,231 1,477,220,000(703 - Public Order and Safety 5,336,917,960
5 |Benue Improvement to Human Health 11,307,937,719] 15,650,158,070[ 72.3% |Logo 29,960,000 44,800,000{704 - Economic Affairs 98,722,727,833
705 - Environmental
5 [Benue Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 545,948,614|  5,670,428,001] 9.6% |Ukum 18,680,000 310,880,000[Protection 1,779,191,268,
706 - Housing and Community
5 Benue Housing and Urban Development 4,261,844,881| 10,034,572,575| 42.5% |Ushongo 18,680,000 21,680,000/ Amenities 4,261,844,881
5 [Benue Gender Vandeikya 9,737,492,353| 12,078,272,000{707 - Health 11,857,937,720]
708 - Recreation, Culture and
5 |Benue Youth 80,000,000 139,394,600| 57.4% |Buruku 845,466,174 1,038,964,000[Religion 3,370,786,685
5 |Benue Environmental Improvement 270,365,068 1,196,121,930] 22.6% |Gboko 74,551,000  2,677,242,445(709 - Education 1,245,948,614]
Water Resources and Rual
5 |Benue Development 8,826,200 359,634,000] 2.5% [Guma 29,671,620 48,688,000[710 - Social Protection 675,000,000
Information Communication and
5 [Benue Technolog 10,991,368,895] 12,738,145,039| 86.3% |Gwer East 174,992,659 244,727,200
S Benue Growing the Private Sector Gwer West 45,706,355 70,800,000
Reform of Government and
5 |Benue Governance 24,057,704,645) 49.865.434,064] 48.2% [Makurdi 128,651,597,125| 195,022,198,653
5 |Benue Power 154,629,808 1,886,199,255| 8.2% |[Tarka 76,400,000 426,400,000}
5 [Benue Rail [Ado 29,088,000 29,088,000
5 [Benue Water Ways Agatu 40,982,031 124,800,000
5 |Benue Road 83,731,358,938| 102,809,432,455| 81.4% |Apa 27,744,000 27,744,000]
5 [Benue Airways Obi 26,400,000 26,400,000
S Benue Oil and Gas Infrastructure Ogbadibo 328,075,476 677,061,870
5 [Benue Oju 50,702,000 363,743,680)
5 [Benue Ohmn 26,400,000 26,400,000
5 [Benue Okpokwu 470,172,022 1,115,591,000)
5 [Benue Otukpo 1,311,541,304[  2,070,576,000)
5 [Benue Total 142,555,647,068| 218,535,771,848 Total 142,555,647,068| 218,535,768,848|Total 142,255,647,068| -|
Economic Empowerment Through
6 |Delta Agriculture 802,445,583 805,000,000] 99.7% [Ethiope East 3,338,147,362]  3,338,200,000[701 - General Public Services 42,708,249,463)  42,790,492,000
6 |Delta Societal Re-Orientation 718,369,598 718,400,000] 100.0% [Ethiope West 2,726,065,324[  2,726,070,000|702 - Defense 154,766,088,503
6 |Delta Poverty Alleviation 2,808,589,984]  2,808,600,000[ 100.0% |Okpe 41,074,220,863 41,074,300,000703 - Public Order and Safety 1,452,530,000)
6 |Delta Improvement to Human Health 7,743,370,254]  7,743,400,000{ 100.0% |Sapele 7,550,421,176]  7,550,500,000({704 - Economic Affairs 169.266,321,271
705 - Environmental
6 [Delta Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 28,438,534,214) 28,439,000,000{ 100.0% [Udu 1,223,020,855 1,223,100,000[Protection 261,731,098, 262,032,000,
706 - Housing and Community
6 |Delta Housing and Urban Development 12,264,257,350] 12,265,000,000[ 100.0% |Ughelli North 6,463,680,124)|  6,463,700,000{Amenities 78,058,080,226| 78,067,926,000
6 [Delta Gender - - Ughelli South 6,947,788.499|  6,947,800,000{707 - Health 8,920,960,379, 8,921,862,000,
708 - Recreation, Culture and
6 |Delta Youth 2,371,946,319]  2,371,950,000{ 100.0% |UVWIE 6,001,197,258]  6,601,200,000[Religion 3.450,568,914 3.451,520,000
6 |Delta Environmental Improvement 399,067,430 400,000,000] 99.8% |Aniocha North 2,214,155,409(  2,214,200,000{709 - Education 40,482,578,972) 40,520,020,000
Water Resources and Rual
6 |Delta Development 3,780,800,199]  3.780.900,000[ 100.0% |Aniocha South 2,865,999,395[  2,866,000,000]710 - Social Protection 871,205,186 871,256,000
Information Communication and
6 [Delta Technolog 9,716,725,401 9,716,730,000] 100.0% |lka North East 15,497,748,823] 15,499,000,000
6 [Delta Growing the Private Sector - - Ika South 12,091,956,806| 12,092,000,000
Reform of Government and
6 Delta Governance - - [Ndokwa East 1,227,284,924 1,227,300,000]
6 |Delta Power 6,848,920,293|  6,849,000,000( 100.0% [Ndokwa West 4,509,483,292(  4,510,000,000)
6 |Delta Rail 821,462,288| 206,347,569,271] 0.4% |Oshimilli North 6,802,126,601 6,802,200,000)
6 |Delta Water Ways 1,467,570,837| 821,500,000 178.6% [Oshimilli South 15,538,573,371] 15,538,600,000
6 |Delta Road 191,719,851,361 1,467,590,000] 13063.6% |Ukwuani 2,033,047,567  2,033,100,000)
6 |Delta Airways 5,000,000 5,000,000] 100.0% |Bomadi 5,156,177,829]  5,156,200,000)
6 |Delta Shipping 46,627,714 46,630,000 100.0% |Burutu 8,364,887,903 8,364,900,000
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Table 16 - 2024 Capital Expenditure By Programme, Geolocation And Function Segments of The National Chart of Accounts

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Programme Segment Geo Location Seg Function Seg
% CAPEX By Geo
SN State CAPEX By Programme Actual Budget Achieved |Location Actual Budget CAPEX By Function Actual Budget
6 |Delta Oil and Gas Infrastructure 32,142,681,407| 32,142,690,000) 100.0% |Isoko North 11,132,347,956] 11,132,400,000
6 |Delta General Administration 28,874,169,037) 28,875,000,000{ 100.0% |Isoko South 6,300,652,959]  6,300,700,000
6 [Delta Patani 1,210,644,141 1,210,700,000
6 [Delta Warri South West 4,282,218,546]  4,282,300,000
6 [Delta Warri North 9.344,816,708|  9,344,900,000
6 [Delta Warri South 11,025,380,405] 11,025,400,000)
6 [Delta State Wide 135,031,462,828| 149,662,289,271
6 [Delta [Abuja Division 416,882,343 416,900,000
6 [Delta Total 330,970,389,268| 345,603,959,271 Total 330,970,389,268| 345,603,959,271|Total 329,519,462,740| 345,603,959,271
Economic Empowerment Through
7 |Enugu Agriculture 327,149,171 2,411,917,672| 13.6% [Enugu East 46,458,875,062) 50,063,181,129|701 - General Public Services 50,948,436,169| 58,350,626,634]
7 |Enugu Societal Re-Orientation 194,293,742 1,534,963.800[ 12.7% |Enugu North 251,132,226,428| 278,284,309,527(702 - Defense - -
7 [Enugu Poverty Alleviation - 171,000,000 Enugu South 1,485,006,725|  3,062,154,250(703 - Public Order and Safety 14,076,000 407,889,200
7 |Enugu Improvement to Human Health 1,815,942.433]  3.425,074,356] 53.0% |Isi Uzo 15,991,617,462 16,045,346,575|704 - Economic Affairs 133,147,775,151{ 155,176,378,786
705 - Environmental
7 [Enugu Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 5,544,872,662]  8,131,077,311] 68.2% |Nkanu East 4,256,891,841 5,443.,926,080|Protection 178,902,744 1,843,679,200,
706 - Housing and Community
7 |Enugu Housing and Urban Development 104,158,961,322( 105,890,090,093| 98.4% [Nkanu West 3.493.884,530]  4.295,417,000{Amenities 97,385,855,160] 99,732,968,043
7 |Enugu Gender 400,000,000 567,000,100 70.5% |Igbo Etiti - 400,200,000]707 - Health 3,986,382,796]  5,929,992,969
708 - Recreation, Culture and
7 |Enugu Youth 23,719,930 760,707,000[ 3.1% |Igbo Eze North - 119,000,000|Religion 33,719,930 1,722,807,000)
7 |Enugu Environmental Improvement 178,902,744]  2,769,480,200| 6.5% |Igbo Eze South - 438,762,519|709 - Education 45,410,198,555] 48,855,655,868
Water Resources and Rual
7 |Enugu Development 3.917,754,329]  5,862,471,000[ 66.8% |Nsukka 384,483,597 1,665.,485,596|710 - Social Protection 400,000,000} 480,000,100;
Information Communication and
7 [Enugu Technolog 3,753,322,873]  6,447,032,032[ 58.2% |Udenu 2,611,667,707)  3.,620,016,962
7 |Enugu Growing the Private Sector 818,537,859 1,539,103.416[ 53.2% |Uzo Uwani 58,577,762 761,283,762
Reform of Government and
7 |Enugu Governance 132,817,149.,419| 142,488,058,030] 93.2% |Awgu 19,448,400 505,546,400
7 |Enugu Power 2,792,476,351 3,566,649,271| 78.3% [Aninri 500,000 39,688,600
7 [Enugu Water Ways - 23,000,000 Ezeagu 12,159,500 1,125,664,500,
7 |Enugu Road 73,787,613,670| 85,823,983,986] 86.0% |Oji River - 283,900,000
7 |Enugu Airways 974,650,000 1,088,389,533| 89.5% |Udi 5,600,007,490|  6,346,114,900
7 [Enugu Total 331,505,346,505| 372,499,997,800 Total 331,505,346,504| 372,499,997,800|Total 331,505,346,504| 372,499,997,800
Economic Empowerment Through
8  |Gombe Agriculture 2,880,983,700]  3,545,500,000[ 81.3% [Dukku 2,910,394,962)  3,119,300,000|701 - General Public Services 12,362,460,993| 14,656,731,000
8 Gombe Societal Re-Orientation 18,955,800 124,000,000] 15.3% [Funakaye - 449,100,000|702 - Defense | -
8  |Gombe Poverty Alleviation 1,241,657,985 1,451,730,000[ 85.5% |Gombe 186,796,254,101| 238,678,796,855|703 - Public Order and Safety 87,819,333|  2,223,000,000|
8  |Gombe Improvement to Human Health 2,551,443,356]  4,308,300,000[ 59.2% |Kwami 127,084,261 747,500,000{704 - Economic Affairs 79,664,187,717|  85,061,810,000)
705 - Environmental
8  |Gombe Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 5,885,166,058] 10,006,500,000{ 58.8% |Nafada 1,143,017,574 1,376.,900,000|Protection 18,447,833,299| 21,878,400,000)
706 - Housing and Community
8  |Gombe Housing and Urban Development 6,438,951,239] 12,025,297.852[ 53.5% [Akko 4,078,838,724]  5,787,500,000|Amenities 80,390,295,696| 116,049,955,855
8  |Gombe Gender - 189,500,000 Yamaltu Deba 7.882,574,803]  9,974,600,000{707 - Health 4.820,602,477|  8,413,600,000
708 - Recreation, Culture and
8  |Gombe Youth 192,825,000 453,500,000] 42.5% [Balanga - 279,700,000|Religion - 141,500,000
8  |Gombe Environmental Improvement 17,484,431,923] 20,882,900,000[ 83.7% |Billiri 1,182,517,196) 1,613.200,000]709 - Education 6,525,609,240] 11,825,500,000
Water Resources and Rual
8  |Gombe Development 4,872,834,269  5,728,100,000] 85.1% |Kaltungo 2,241,749,246]  2,659,900,000[710 - Social Protection 4,078,671,012)  4,620,000,000|
Information Communication and
8  |Gombe Technolog 192,721,931 451,200,000] 42.7% [Shongom 15,048,900 184,000,000
8  |Gombe Growing the Private Sector 4,730,494,081 5,055,500,000] 93.6%
Reform of Government and
8  |Gombe Governance 113,370,763,590] 129,092,600,000] 87.8%
8 |Gombe Power 837,229,853 1,423,700,000[ 58.8%
8  |Gombe Road 45,566,093,781) 69,988,169,003| 65.1%
8  |Gombe Airways 112,927,201 114,000,000[ 99.1%
8  |Gombe Shipping - 30,000,000
8 [Gombe Total 206,377,479,767| 264,870,496,855| Total 206,377,479,767| 264,870,496,855| Total 206,377,479,767| 264,870,496,855
Economic Empowerment Through
9 Imo Agriculture 350,000,000{ 10,141,732,612) 3.5% |Imo East Zone 127,371,365,106] 210,675,302,632(701 - General Public Services 10,283.,012,591 60,300,526,824
9 Imo Societal Re-Orientation -] 158,903,926,824] 0.0% |Imo North Zone 988,979,156 18,436,000,000{702 - Defense
9 Imo Poverty Alleviation 280,978,746| 10,656,338.498| 2.6% |Imo West Zone 81,297,592,353| 158,704,319,681(703 - Public Order and Safety 4,259,600,000;
9 Imo Improvement to Human Health 2,010,935,850] 11,215,076,900[ 17.9% |Others (State) 30,716,991,793| 86.746,249,408(704 - Economic Affairs 201,705,109,901| 338,226.434.601
705 - Environmental
9 Imo Enhancing Skills and Knowledge 10,549,583.977] 23,208,000,000[ 45.5% Protection 350,000,000]  8,738,900,000
706 - Housing and Community
9 Imo Housing and Urban Development 21,968,997,342)  7,669,000,000{ 286.5% Amenities 21,968,997,342| 16,580,539,500
9 Imo Gender -l 2,458,583,896] 0.0% 707 - Health 2,010,935,850, 11,039,076,900|
708 - Recreation, Culture and
9 Imo Youth -l 22,213,010,000] 0.0% Religion 1,558,000,000)
9 Imo Environmental Improvement 350,000,000{  8,948,900,000] 3.9% 709 - Education 3,775,883,977| 23,998,000,000
Water Resources and Rual
9 Imo Development 301,528,500 1,380,000,000[ 21.8% 710 - Social Protection 280,978,746]  9.860,793,896
Information Communication and
9 Imo Technolog -l 2,553,000,000] 0.0%
9 Imo Growing the Private Sector 905,795,580, 6,731,900,000[ 13.5%
Reform of Government and
9 Imo Governance 10,563,991,337]  4,840,400,000 218.2%
9 Imo Power 5,430,407,525] 10,749,644.500[ 50.5%
9 Imo Road 187,662,699,550| 189,452,358,491] 99.1%
9 Imo Airways - |
9 Imo Shipping - |
9 Imo Oil and Gas Infrastructure - 3,440,000,000{  0.0%
9 [Imo Total 240,374,918,407| 474,561,871,721 Total 240,374,928,407| 474,561,871,721|Total 240,374,918,407| 474,561,871,721
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Table 16 - 2024 Capital Expenditure By Programme, Geolocation And Function Segments of The National Chart of Accounts

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Programme Segment Geo Location Seg Function Seg
% CAPEX By Geo
SN State CAPEX By Programme Actual Budget Achieved |Location Actual Budget CAPEX By Function Actual Budget
Economic Empowerment Through
10 [Kwara Agriculture 701 - General Public Services 31,439,666,979| 59,274,178,943
10 |Kwara Societal Re-Orientation 702 - Defense
10 [Kwara Poverty Alleviation 703 - Public Order and Safety 888,109,000 1,224,250,888
10 [Kwara Improvement to Human Health 704 - Economic Affairs 117,866,766,216| 175,515,423,744
705 - Environmental
10 [Kwara Enhancing Skills and Knowledge Protection 3,221,759,871 1,915,813,993
706 - Housing and Community
10 [Kwara Housing and Urban Development [ Amenities 13,288,990,552( 24,950,634,567
10 [Kwara Gender 707 - Health 23,696,635,922| 38,899,728,175
708 - Recreation, Culture and
10 [Kwara Youth Religion 1,852,430,542|  5,016,915,106)
10 [Kwara Environmental Improvement 709 - Education 19,687,752,971| 34,156,629,325
Water Resources and Rual
10 [Kwara Development 710 - Social Protection 146,385,178 1,131,267,929
Information Communication and
10 |Kwara Technolog
101 [Kwara Growing the Private Sector
Reform of Government and
10 |Kwara Governance
10 |Kwara Power
10 |Kwara Road
10 [Kwara Airways
10 [Kwara Shipping
10 |[Kwara Oil and Gas Infrastructure
10 |Kwara Total 212,088,497,229| 342,084,842,670
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Section 6: Findings and The Way Forward
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Comparative State Performance and Noteworthy Cases

Top-Performing States (Fiscal Prudence & Development Focus)

Several states demonstrated commendable fiscal management in 2024, effectively translating
their revenue growth into tangible improvements in their financial health and development
capacity. Abia, Borno, Delta, Nasarawa, Ondo, Osun, and Yobe stand out in this regard. These
states managed to increase capital expenditure and/or reduce accumulated debt, often while
maintaining a disciplined approach to personnel costs. For instance, Abia State not only achieved
a remarkable 161.20% revenue growth but also significantly increased capital expenditure by
246.58% and reduced accumulated debt by 5.28%. This pattern suggests effective resource
allocation and a strategic focus on long-term development. Similarly, Yobe State, with a 116.07%
revenue increase, achieved a 200.53% increase in capital expenditure and a 25.77% reduction in
accumulated debt, alongside a decrease in new loan acquisition. These states exemplify best
practices in fiscal management, demonstrating that even with external revenue shocks or
constraints, internal fiscal discipline can lead to positive outcomes. Their approaches could serve
as models for other states, providing actionable strategies for improving overall sub-national fiscal

health.

States Facing Significant Fiscal Challenges

Conversely, some states, despite experiencing high revenue growth, continued to face significant
fiscal challenges, primarily manifested in rapidly increasing accumulated debt and/or
disproportionately high recurrent expenditures. Ekiti and Lagos, while demonstrating robust
revenue growth and substantial capital investment, also saw significant increases in both new
loans and accumulated debt. For example, Ekiti's 159.18% revenue growth was accompanied by a
64.06% increase in accumulated debt and a 90.31% rise in personnel costs. This indicates that the
new revenue was insufficient to cover both ambitious capital projects and growing recurrent
expenditures, leading to continued reliance on borrowing. This creates a potential "debt trap"
where states borrow to cover current spending or new projects, increasing future debt servicing
obligations, which then consume an even larger share of subsequent revenues, perpetuating the
borrowing cycle. High personnel costs, being a fixed recurrent expense, exacerbate this pressure.
These states require urgent fiscal reforms focusing on revenue diversification, expenditure
rationalization (especially personnel costs), and prudent debt management to avoid long-term

insolvency and ensure sustainable development.
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Unique Fiscal Situations

Gombe State, with its significant 172.72% increase in Total Revenue, now falls into the category of
states with strong positive revenue growth. Its fiscal situation in 2024 shows a complex picture:
while capital expenditure increased substantially by 132.40% and loan repayments decreased by
51.26%, new loans surged by 219.86%, and accumulated debt also rose by 13.20%. Personnel
Costs also increased by 65.00%. This indicates that despite a robust revenue increase, the state is
aggressively pursuing new borrowings, which contributes to both capital investment and a growing
debt stock. This case highlights the importance of scrutinizing the composition of revenue and the
allocation of funds, as high revenue growth does not automatically translate to a reduction in

overall debt burden if new borrowing is also significantly increasing.
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KEY FINDINGS and

Multi-layered Understaindings ‘




The analysis of Nigerian states' financial data for 2024 reveals several critical patterns and
underlying dynamics. There is a clear correlation between the significantincrease in Total Revenue
experienced by many states and their ability to undertake higher Capital Expenditure. States with
substantial revenue growth often directed a considerable portion of these funds towards
development projects, indicating a general prioritization of infrastructure and capital formation.
However, this positive correlation with capital spending does not uniformly extend to debt
reduction. While some states, like Abia and Yobe, managed to reduce their accumulated debt
alongside increased capital expenditure, others, such as Ekiti and Lagos, saw their accumulated
debt continue to climb despite robust revenue growth and increased capital spending. This
suggests that for these states, new borrowing continued to outpace debt repayment or that existing

debt burdens were already substantial.

This leads to a broader understanding of the "paradox of plenty" in public finance. While many
states experienced significant revenue increases in 2024, the impact on their overall fiscal health,
particularly concerning accumulated debt and new loans, was not uniformly positive. Some states
demonstrated fiscal discipline by controlling recurrent costs and strategically allocating resources
towards sustainable development and debt reduction. These states effectively translated their
revenue growth into improved fiscal positions. However, others, despite revenue surges, saw their
accumulated debt continue to climb, often alongside increases in personnel costs and new
borrowing. This indicates that a revenue windfall alone does not guarantee fiscal sustainability. The
crucial factor is how states manage and allocate these increased revenues. States with robust
fiscal governance and strategic planning are better positioned to translate revenue growth into
sustainable development and debt reduction, while others might find increased revenue merely

fuels increased spending and borrowing without fundamentally improving long-term fiscal health.

The drivers of states' fiscal behavior appear to be multi-faceted. Political priorities, such as the
visible impact of infrastructure projects, often influence the allocation of increased capital
expenditure. Simultaneously, recurrent expenditure pressures, particularly rising personnel costs
due to wage demands or administrative overheads, continue to absorb a significant portion of state
revenues, sometimes crowding out capital investments. The ease of access to credit markets also
plays a role, with states potentially leveraging their perceived creditworthiness to acquire new

loans, even if it means increasing their overall debt burden.
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From a regional perspective, there isn't a clear, uniform pattern of fiscal performance within geo-
political zones. While some states within the same zone might exhibit similar trends, the overall
fiscal health and response to revenue changes appear to be largely state-specific, driven by
individual governance priorities, economic structures, and expenditure management practices.

This underscores the need for tailored fiscal interventions rather than blanket policies.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

A PATH FORWARD




Based onthe analysis of the 2024 financial data for Nigerian states, the following recommendations

are put forth to foster greater fiscal sustainability and development:

For States with Strong Fiscal Management
States that demonstrated strong fiscal management, characterized by disciplined recurrent
expenditure, strategic capital investment, and effective debt management (e.g., Abia, Borno, Delta,

Nasarawa, Ondo, Osun, Yobe), are commended for their efforts. These states are encouraged to:

e Sustain Fiscal Discipline: Continue to prioritize prudent financial management, ensuring
that revenue growth translates into tangible improvements in long-term fiscal health.

« Diversify Internally Generated Revenue (IGR): Intensify efforts to broaden and deepen
IGR sources to reduce over-reliance on volatile federal allocations, thereby enhancing fiscal
autonomy and resilience.

¢ Invest in Productive Capital Projects: Maintain focus on capital expenditure that yields
long-term economic returns, generates employment, and improves public service delivery,

ensuring that investments are strategic and impactful.

For States Facing Fiscal Challenges

States that, despite revenue growth, continued to accumulate debt or experienced
disproportionate increases in recurrent expenditures (e.g., Ekiti, Lagos, Cross River, and now
Gombe with its increased borrowing), require urgent fiscal reforms. It is recommended that these

states:

o Aggressively Pursue Revenue Diversification: Develop and implement robust strategies
to expand their IGR base, exploring untapped sectors and improving tax administration
efficiency. Thisis crucialto reduce dependence on federal transfers and build a more stable
revenue foundation.

¢ Rationalize Expenditure: Conduct a critical review of all recurrent expenditures, with a
particular focus on personnel costs. Implement measures to control wage bills, streamline
administrative overheads, and eliminate wasteful spending to free up resources for capital
investments and debt servicing.

e Adopt Prudent Debt Management: Establish stricter borrowing policies, ensuring that
new loans are primarily tied to self-liquidating projects with clear revenue streams. States
should prioritize debt restructuring where feasible and develop comprehensive debt

sustainability frameworks to prevent future debt crises.
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¢ Enhance Fiscal Transparency and Accountability: Implement robust financial reporting
systems that ensure timely, accurate, and comprehensive public disclosure of financial
data. This will build public trust, enable effective oversight by citizens and civil society, and

attract investment.

For the Federal Government and Oversight Bodies
The systemic data gaps observed for several states in 2024 underscore a broader challenge in
Nigeria's public finance data ecosystem. To address this and support sub-national fiscal health, it

is recommended that the federal government and relevant oversight bodies:

e Support IGR Capacity Building: Provide technical assistance, training, and policy
guidance to states to enhance their capacity for IGR generation and efficient tax
administration.

e Enforce Data Standardization and Timely Reporting: Implement and enforce a
standardized financial reporting framework for all tiers of government. This includes
ensuring timely submission of comprehensive and accurate financial data to facilitate
robust analysis, policy formulation, and public accountability.

¢ Facilitate Peer Learning and Best Practices: Create platforms for states to share
experiences and learn from those demonstrating strong fiscal management, thereby

promoting the adoption of best practices across the federation.
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Conclusion

The 2024 financial year presented a unique fiscal opportunity for many Nigerian states, marked by
significant increases in total revenue. This revenue boost, largely driven by federal allocations,
offered a critical window for states to rebalance their finances and invest in economic
development. However, the analysis demonstrates that the impact of this revenue growth on key
financial metrics such as Internally Generated Revenue, Personnel Costs, Loan Repayment,
Acquisition of New Loans, Accumulated Debt, and Capital Expenditure varied considerably across

the states.

While some states exhibited commendable fiscal discipline, effectively channeling new revenues
towards productive capital expenditure and debt reduction, others continued to grapple with rising
debt burdens and recurrent expenditure pressures. This highlights a crucial understanding, a mere
increase in revenue does not automatically guarantee fiscal sustainability. The ultimate
determinant of a state's financial health lies in its ability to prudently manage and strategically
allocate these resources. To ensure this opportunity translates into lasting public value and avoids
exacerbating long-term fiscal risks, a fundamental reorientation of public financial management is
not merely recommended; it is imperative. The path forward requires a decisive shift from a culture

of expenditure to one of strategic, transparent, and accountable investment.

The cornerstone of this transformation is the mandatory adoption of Programme and Objective-
Based Reporting. The current crisis of transparency, where vast sums are spent without being tied
to measurable outcomes, must end. States must transition to a framework where every capital
projectis explicitly linked to specific, time-bound (SMART) objectives. This is the only way to create
a performance contract with the public, shifting the measure of success from inputs (money spent)

to outcomes (problems solved) and establishing a true basis for accountability.

This new standard of transparency must be underpinned by technological discipline. Full
compliance with the Government Integrated Financial Management Information System
(GIFMIS) and the Treasury Single Account (TSA) is non-negotiable. Technology offers a powerful
tool to enforce fiscal prudence, prevent leakages, and provide real-time tracking of public funds.
By institutionalizing these controls, states can mitigate the "paradox of plenty," ensuring that

increased revenue strengthens, rather than weakens, their long-term fiscal health.
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Furthermore, adherence to the rule of law must be absolute. The widespread non-compliance with
the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria (FRCN) Act is a systemic failure that undermines the
national oversight framework. State governments must move beyond superficial adherence to
accounting standards and embrace full compliance with all public sector laws and regulations. A
strong national framework is essential to elevate the standard of public financial management

across the federation and ensure that government objectives are clearly communicated to citizens.

Finally, the state's most valuable asset, which is its human capital must be protected. The
catastrophic erosion of public sector wages cannot continue. A motivated, fairly compensated,
and professionalcivil service is the engine of effective service delivery and a critical defense against
systemic corruption. Ignoring the welfare of the public workforce undermines the very capacity
required to manage new infrastructure and govern effectively. State governments must therefore

develop sustainable wage policies that protect the real purchasing power of their employees.

With most states now publishing their audited financial reports on time, persistent data gaps have
been significantly reduced, improving the completeness and accuracy of Nigeria’s sub-national
fiscal landscape. FRAN acknowledges the efforts of the Nigerian Governors’ Forum, The Federal
Ministry of Finance and the World Bank Funded States Fiscal Transparency, Accountability, and
Sustainability (SFTAS) program in ensuring the timely preparation and publication of states audited
financial statements. Sustained compliance with appropriation laws, financial acts, regulations,
and rules, alongside adherence to international public sector accounting standards and
improvements in systematic data collection and reporting, will significantly strengthen

transparency and accountability.

In conclusion, 2024 served as a pivotal year, offering many Nigerian states a chance to strengthen
their fiscal foundations. Achieving this requires the implementation of fundamental reforms. By
aligning expenditure with measurable results, leveraging technology to enforce financial discipline,
upholding national laws, and investing in their workforce, they can convert a temporary revenue

surge into a permanent legacy of sustainable development and public trust.
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Notes and Disclosures

Signed Acknowledgment By the Accountant Generals of Each State

FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY ADVOCACY NETWORK

E-mail: fiscalresponsibilityadvocacyne@gmail.com

15th September, 2025

2024 STATES SUBSIDY UTILIZATION REPORT — FAAC DISTRIBUTION LIST
1 SN Description State &Ec of Accountant General ‘WhatsApp No. E-Mail Address I Signature Date

1__[The Accountant General _|Abia State p Ures ‘Q“‘F‘“m‘ 12=F 29
2 |The Accountant General |Adamawa State | Q&\LE:AS/ ?;Z@‘PVQ:L Z 42,[ 9/&

5 |The Accountant General _|Akwa Ibom State | \A* S+ k-:c\?‘e—‘)'ﬁ&\ 17! 1 lak~
4 |The Accountant General _|Anambra State Adm\f Joacl\l’f) dﬂﬂd\l 4 3 / f/ﬁf/ﬁ

5 |The Accountant General _[Bauchi State S C:Aj VWAL é S‘\BL | [’,;_4' ¢ 28

6 |The Accountant General _|Bayelsa State ‘EM ﬁ(—r "((., 19) 75" / 7/ 2

7 __|The Accountant General _|Benue State N _11 "; <_ a ! 7{ ‘c’ b& i

8 |The Accountant General [Borno State @\ANM R\M W

9 |The Accountant General _|Cross River State M/fl G’[ﬁ\"{ fae “‘b ﬂ, &l

10 [The Accountant General |Delta State o KL‘& bdl ”//‘))“7\7657‘/ ‘r ! ?ﬁf/“’ o

11 _|The Accountant General _|Ebonyi State %’“@"A C MyoAny 0P \m

12_[The Accountant General _|Edo State Mys Pﬁ’ﬂﬂ ) g h_] 257
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14 _[The Accountant General _[Enugu State W B OAT Tanty -J?ﬁ? g ES
15 [The Accountant General _|Gombe State A Y > S ) bl \

16_|The Acs I *lmo State ) < L il
17_|The Accountant General _|Jigawa State LA NN .6 Dadod 0 o)

18 _[The Accountant General _|Kaduna State W - "2 \7\ T \

19 [The Accountant General _[Kano State ool . d = oAl
20 |The Acc General ’Kazsina State en W 5 i [ QU

1
\SINS Description l State Name of Accountant General WhatsApp No. E-Mail Address Signatu:

21 _|The Accountant General \Kebbi State m UV ﬁ , =

22 |The Accountant General _|Kogi State Holo bk @Az | [ For 2SN
23 |The Acc General _[Kwara State NS &“‘M&M‘\/‘\ 5 l ! M /.

24 [The Accountant General _|Lagos State A"D\ OD W\” M-A» ‘("’L'\ 4

25 [TheA General _[Nasarawa State b?f" MM&"M NLSD 5
26 _[The Accountant General _|Niger State uﬂv\ A’Wﬂﬂ / e
27 |The Accountant General _|Ogun State T“""M A‘O’R_SQUD e\ 7

28 |The Accountant General _|Ondo State Norumo  Meckare L =7 =
29 [The Accountant General _|Osun State . zW\M E H{(ﬂ -
30 |The Accountant General _|Oyo State )l mleloro - A AAQQB& d ! 7 kﬁ ba -
31_|The Accountant General _|Plateau State | N olonn—e k- W\»«SX = l=a ks
32_[The Accountant General _|Rivers State Janes £ NGECHADO V118 12!

33 |[The Accountant General _|Sokoto State WYMV{M W < I ﬂcl( 28

34 [The Accountant General |Taraba State \ ¥ \7("1 hﬁ

35 |The Accountant General [Yobe State Alss A Y Ak YG 18-5-25

36 _[The Accountant General [Zamfara State A:u % 4\0\11}.( 4—'?767 /‘>
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Cecil Chinedum Onyekwere, ACA, PhD
Country Chief Executive
Note:
1. The WhatsApp Nos. and E-mail addresses are required to enable us send soft copies of the report;
2. Comments on the report should be sent to our E-mail address: fiscalresponsibilityadvocacyne@gmail.com

Note: Hard copies were delivered to the Offices of the Accountants General of Edo, Bayelsa,
Katsina, and Yobe States through their respective liaison offices in Abuja.
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Feedback from Accountants General on the Draft Report

Delta State Accountant General Office

Fwd: STATISTICAL REPORT FOR YEAR 2024 AUDITED FS  inbox x X & B

@ Thy, Sep 18, 6:53AM (12daysago) ¢ @ €«

Sir, kindly see attached files relating to all the statistical reports in the audited financial statements for the year ended 31st december 2024. They are shown as notes to the AFS.

Thank You

Ogbaudu A.Blessing (FCA)
Dir. FR/SAP

7 Attachments + Scanned by Gmail ®
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[ SCHEDULE OF PE... y

y [ SCHEDULE OF CA... y [ SCHEDULE OF O... y

Imo State Accountant General Office

23/09/25
The Country Chief Executive,
Fiscal Responsibility Advocacy Network

RE: 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UTILIZATION REPORT

Imo state financial performance analysis (2020-2024) refers:

The draft report on the 2024 states subsidy utilization as it affects Imo State has been
reviewed, and the following observations highlighted. Your conclusions on page 93 would
have been different if your organization incorporated all the relevant personnel cost data
in your calculations. The personnel cost used for ratio computation was not complete.

It is my considered opinion that if all the relevant personnel cost data is recognized, your
conclusions will fairly represent the real purchasing power of the affected citizens of Imo
State for the relevant periods. See attached Please, effect the corrections.

On the other hand, efforts are made to enhance the capital expenditure reporting by
objectives and geolocation in the state’ annual financial reports.

Linus C. Okafor, FCA, FCIB, Ph.D

Accountant General, Imo State

© 2025 [T

Issues from the report:

Personnel Costs: According to the report in pages 36 and 93, Imo state faced a severe
fiscal squeeze in 2023, where a 12% nominal statutory allocation increase resulted in a
staggering 70.61% loss of real purchasing power. This trend of significant real loss
continued in2024, as even a 166.66% nominal increase led to a 50.70% decline in real
purchasing power against an inflation rate of 30.55%.

Observation:

The report did not recognize the entire Personnel costs of the State. For emphasis, the
State total Personnel costs for 2023 and 2024 are: 34,745,759180.75 and
N45,605,394,887.83 respectively.

Details: 2023 2024

Civil service 12,630,165,739.93 10,085,020,705.07
Other Agencies 11,990,688,186.36 13,429,400,542.27
Pensions 10,108,124,556.79 10,474,824,860.23
Gratuities 16,780,697.67 11,616,148,780.26
Total N34,745,759,180.75 N45,605,394,887.83

Therefore, Table 12 on page 36: Comparative Analysis of Revenue Growth vs.
Real Change in purchasing power for Imo State should read:

Column 3: Personnel cost% increase: +31%

Column 4: Disparity Ratio: +5

Column 7: Average Real change in purchasing power: - 2

Column 8: State level Real change in purchasing power: +0.45

In addition, the total Personnel costs for 2022 should read:

Ministries: 9,977,249,025.87

Departments & Agencies: 11,880,096,998.63

Pensions: 15,148,281,385.91
Total: N37,005,627,410.41

Therefore:
Personnel cost% increase: -6%
Disparity Ratio: -2

Average Real change in purchasing power: -35.24%

State level Real change in purchasing power: -32.55%

(Note: the inflation figures remain unchanged)
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Kaduna State Accountant General Office

9/30/25,5:20 PM Gmail - PUBLICATION OF KADUNA STATE AUDITOR GENERAL'S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st December, 2025.

M G ma || Fiscal Responsibility Advocacy Network <fiscalresponsibilityadvocacyne@gmail.com>

PUBLICATION OF KADUNA STATE AUDITOR GENERAL'S REPORT FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 31st December, 2025.

2 messages

Dear all,

| learnt that a draft assessment was made and Kaduna State was rated 0 for non-publication of

State Auditor General's report.

The report was published in the newly created official website of the Office of the State Auditor

General.

You may please visit the link below:
https://osag.kdsg.gov.ng/documents/
Thank you, now and always.

Kwara State Accountant General Office

The Country Chief Executive
Fiscal Responsibility Advocacy Network (FRAN)

Abuja, Nigeria.|

RE: OBSERVATIONS ON THE 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UTILIZATION REPORT
AS IT RELATES TO KWARA STATE

We acknowledge receipt of the 2024 States Subsidy Utilization Report issued by your
organization and commend vyour efforts in promoting fiscal responsibility and
accountability across the federation. However, certain observations in respect of Kwara
State require clarification in order to properly reflect our financial disclosures and
practices.

INDEX A — FISCAL TRANSPARENCY
Parameter 2-Non-inclusion of Bank Reconciliation Statement

It is important to note that the inclusion of bank reconciliation statements is not a
prescribed requirement under IPSAS and FAAC-approved templates. What is required,
and which Kwara State has complied with, is the Cashflow Reconciliation Statement
provided on page 35 of the Financial Statements. In addition, the bank balances after
reconciliation are clearly disclosed on pages 084-087 of the same statements.

Parameters 4 & 6-Capital Expenditure by Function and Programme

A functional breakdown of capital expenditure is provided on page 22 of the Accountant
General's Report uploaded on the state website.

A programme-based breakdown is provided on pages 180-191 of the same report.
Parameters 5 & 7-CAPEX by Geolocation and programme objectives

Geolocation and programme objectives are comprehensively addressed in the Citizen’s
Budget, a separate publication of the State Ministry of Planning and Economic
Development, specifically designed to communicate allocations and project objectives in
a citizen-friendly format.

INDEX E — DEBT SUSTAINABILITY (LOAN REPAYMENTS)

The report indicated that no loan repayments were made in 2023 and 2024. This is not
accurate. As evidenced in the State’s Financial Statements uploaded, Kwara recorded loan
repayments of #¥13,158,963,646.38 in 2023 (page 70) and #13,104,682,746.07 in 2024

(page 48), effected as deductions at source in respect of loan repayment. Kwara State
remains committed to prudent debt management.

In light of the above, we respectfully submit that Kwara State has substantially complied
with IPSAS standards and FAAC guidelines in its financial reporting. Certain conclusions
in the Report may not have fully taken into account the relevant disclosures already
contained in the Financial Statements and supplementary documents.

We therefore urge FRAN to reflect these clarifications in future reviews to ensure accuracy
and fairness in the assessment of Kwara State’s fiscal performance.

Accountant General

Kwara State Government

Dated:28/09/2025
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Further Correspondence Between Kwara State Government and FRAN

The Accountant General
Kwara State Government
Ilorin, Kwara State

INDEX A - FISCAL TRANSPARENCY

Bank Reconciliation Statement

We acknowledge your clarification regarding the presentation of reconciliation information
in the State’s Financial Statements. However, it is important to note that the inclusion of
periodic bank reconciliation statements is a prescribed requirement under the 2012 FAAC-
approved templates of IPSAS (Cash and Accrual). Specifically, the format for periodic bank
reconciliation is provided as the fourth report under “Performance Reports” in the 2012
templates. For reference, extracts of this template are included on page 164 of the soft copy
of the 2024 States Subsidy Utilization Rleport previously shared.

P 4 - Capital Expendit by F

Following our review of the Kwara State 2024 Accountant General’s Report, we confirm that
Capital Expenditure by Function is disclosed on page 22. Nonetheless, the presentation
does not fully align with the format prescribed under the 2012 FAAC-approved templates of
IPSAS Cash and Accrual (see pages 47-48 of the GPFS template).

F 6 - Capital Expendi by P

Upon careful re-examination, we were unable to locate a programme-based presentation of
capital expenditure on pages 180-191 of the Report. The disclosures on these pages are
capital expenditure by economic line items such as Purchase of Fixed Assets,
Construction/Provision of Fixed Assets, Rehabilitation and Repairs of Fixed Assets,
Preservation of the Environment, and Acquisition of Intangible Assets.

Parameters 5 & 7 - Capital Exp e by Geol ionand P Obj

It is also a requirement under the 2012 FAAC-approved GPFS templates of IPSAS Accrual,
the 2010 Revised Chart of Accounts, IPSAS 3, and the Financial Reporting Council of Nigeria
(FRCoN) Act (Sections 7(2)(f), 57, 59(1) & 77) that capital expenditure by Geolocation and
Programme Objectives be incorporated in the Accountant General’s Report. In addition, the
citizens report issued by the Ministry of Planning and Economic Development is not an
audited financial statement and it also does not form part of our methodology in assessing
the transparency and accuracy of Accountant General Report.

INDEX E - DEBT SUSTAINABILITY (Loan Repayments)
We appreciate your clarification on this matter. Upon further review, we confirm that loan
repayments of N13,158,963,646.38 for 2023 and §13,104,682,746.07 for 2024, effected

through deductions at source, are disclosed in pages 48 to 49 of the Accountant General’s
Report. However, we observed that these repayments are not reflected in any of the four
principal statements, particularly the Cash Flow Statement which serves as the primary source
of information on loan inflows and repayments.

Specifically, the section on “Cash Flows from Financing Activities” in the Cash Flow Statement
does not record any entries for proceeds from borrowings or repayment of borrowings in 2024.
In addition, the movement in long-term borrowings between 2023 and 2024 in the Statement of
Financial Position does not capture the repayment of 813,104,682,746.07.

Al figures disclosed in the notes derive their authority from, and must reconcile with, the
amounts presented in the principal financial statements. In line with IPSAS 1, Presentation of
Financial Statements (paragraphs 21-25), the notes are intended to explain, disaggregate, or
provide additional information about items already recognized in the primary financial
statements, but they cannot replace or serve as a substitute for disclosures required within
those statements. Accordingly, our previous and continued position is that no loan repayments
by the Kwara State Government are evidenced within the primary financial statements.

To address this gap, we advise that the gross amount of ¥159,537,499,684.71 received as
Government Share of FAAC (Statutory Revenue) be presented in the Cash Flow Statement rather
than the net amount of 8146,432,816,938.64. This adjustment will ensure that loan repayments
are properly reflected under “Cash Flows from Financing Activities” in line with IPSAS
requirements and sound reporting practice.

Conclusion

We sincerely appreciate your timely and comprehensive feedback, which has enabled us to
improve the accuracy and fairness of our review. The reanalysis will incorporate these
clarifications, and the updated findings will be reflected in the final version of our report. Where
necessary, Kwara State’s Transparency Scores, Fiscal Performance Index Scores, and related
visuals will also be revised. A draft of the updated report will be shared with your office for review
before the final publication. Furthermore, we stand ready to provide any technical support that
may assist the Kwara State Government in fully aligning its disclosures with the applicable FAAC-
approved templates, IPSAS standards, and relevant provisions of Nigerian Financial Reporting
Council laws.

Yours sincerely,

Country Chief Executive

Fiscal Responsibility Advocacy Network (FRAN)
Dated:28/09/2025

The Country Chief Executive

Fiscal Resion ﬁAdvocaci Network iFRANi

Abuja, Nigeria.

RE: OBSERVATIONS ON THE 2024 STATES SUBSIDY UTILIZATION REPORT AS IT
RELATES TO KWARA STATE

We acknowledge receipt of your letter on our response to your 2024 State Subsidy
Utilization Report and wish to respond as follows:

INDEX A - FISCAL TRANSPARENCY

On the issue of Bank Reconciliation Statements, our position remains that the latest
FAAC-approved templates (2021) do not prescribe the inclusion of periodic bank
reconciliation statements in the General-Purpose Financial Statements. This position is
further reinforced by the Federal Republic of Nigeria Accrual Accounting Manual (Revised
Edition, July 2024), which serves as the unified reporting framework for all public sector
entities in Nigeria (Federal, State, and Local Governments). The Manual, duly signed by
the Honourable Minister of Finance and Coordinating Minister of the Economy, Mr. Wale
Edun, does not require the presentation of periodic bank reconciliation statements
within the GPFS. We therefore stand by our earlier response on this matter.

With respect to Parameters 4, 5, 6 and 7, we wish to state that our disclosures are in line
with the requirements as outlined in the most recent FAAC-approved reporting format
and the 2024 Accrual Accounting Manual referenced above. However, these parameters
are further highlighted in our sister publications, the Kwara State Budget Implementation
Report. A copy of this report can be made available to you on request.

INDEX E - DEBT SUSTAINABILITY (LOAN REPAYMENTS)

The total FAAC receipts are duly disclosed in the Statement of Performance, while public
debt charges are also captured accordingly. Repayments effected through deductions at
source are disclosed in the Notes to the Accounts, since such deductions do not involve
cash movements from our end. In line with the 2024 Accrual Accounting Manual, the
Cash Flow Statement only accommodates actual inflows into our Treasury Single
Account (TSA), and as such, deductions at source cannot be reflected therein.

We appreciate your observations and remain committed to transparency and continuous
improvement in our financial reporting processes.

Accountant General
Kwara State Government

Dated:02/10/2025
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The Accountant General
Kwara State Government
Ilorin, Kwara State

RE: REQUEST FOR SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS AND CLARIFICATIONS ON 2024 STATES
SUBSIDY UTILIZATION REPORT

We acknowledge with thanks your continued clarifications regarding the inclusion of bank
reconciliation statements, the presentation of loan repayments, and the treatment of Parameters 4,
5, 6, and 7 in the 2024 States Subsidy Utilization Report.

INDEX A - FISCAL TRANSPARENCY

To facilitate further discussion and evaluation of the 2024 Kwara State Accountant General’s Report,
particularly with respect to the inclusion of bank reconciliation statements and Parameters 4, 5, 6,
and 7, we kindly request that your office provide us, via WhatsApp or email, with the following
documents:

1. FAAC approved templates (2021)

2. Federal Republic of Nigeria Accrual Accounting Manual (Revised Edition, July 2024), duly
signed by the Honorable Minister of Finance and Coordinating Minister of the Economy, Mr.
Wale Edun

3. Kwara State Budget Implementation Report

It is our understanding that the 2024 Accounting Manual primarily addresses Part A (Principal
Statements) of the General-Purpose Financial Statements. While manuals are important in
illustrating how the latest International Public Sector Accounting Standards should be applied in the
preparation of principal statements, they do not override statutory requirements. Consequently, the
Manual cannot be interpreted as a replacement for the law, nor does it provide grounds for excluding
Part B (Performance Reports) and Part C (Statistical Reports) from the Accountant General’s annual
report.

Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, no national treasury circular has been issued to repeal
the 2013 Treasury Circular which expressly states that, in line with the adoption and application of
IPSAS across all three tiers of government, the Office of the Accountant General of the Federation,
State Accountants General, and Directors of Finance and Accounts or Treasury at Local Government
Councils are required to implement IPSAS provisions and prepare their books of accounts in
accordance with the approved Chart of Accounts and Format of General Purpose Financial
Statements (IPSAS Cash and Accrual, 2012). As such, the inclusion of bank reconciliation remains a
requirement, and any modification to this obligation would necessitate a formal circular issued by
the Federal Government.

INDEX E - DEBT SUSTAINABILITY (LOAN REPAYMENTS)

With respect to the Gross Statutory Allocation of #159,537,499,746.07, we observed that this figure
was reported in the Statement of Financial Performance. However, the loan repayment of
N13,104,682,746.07 was not reflected under public debt charges in the same statement. Instead,
what was reported as public debt charges with NCOA Code 2206 amounted to §8,566,632,445.28.
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Allwe want to see is how the debt repayment of 813,104,682,746.07 affected the total debt position
of Kwara state government in 2024 via the statement of financial position. For ease of reference,
please find attached an explanation using T accounts, illustrating the treatment of the Gross
Statutory Allocation of ¥159,537,499,684.71 and the Loan Repayment of ¥13,104,682,746.07 within
both the Statement of Financial Performance and the Statement of Financial Position.

BANK ACCOUT FOR STATUTORY ALLOCATION
Date | Item Descripti I DR CR [ Balance
2024 | Net Statutory Allocation 146,432,816,938.64 | | 146.432,816,938.64
STATUTORY ALLOCATION ACCOUNT
Date | item Descripti DR CR Balance
Bank Account - Net Statutory
2024 | Allocation 146,432,816,938.64 146,432,816,938.64
Journal Entry: Loan Deduction -
2024 | FAAC Schedule 13,104,682,746.07 159,537,499,684.71
Year Journal: Closure of Account
2024 | to Statement of Performance 159,537,499,684.71
SHORT- AND LONG-TERM DEBTS
Date | Item Descripti | DR CR [ Balance
Journal Entry- Loan Deduction via |
2024 | FAAC Schedule 13,104,682,746.07 - 13,104,682,746.07
STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE
Date |_item Descripti DR CR Balance
2024 | Gross Statutory Allocation 159,537,499,684.71
Transfer to Net Surplus or Deficit
2024 | Account 159,537,499,684.71
NET SURPLUS OR DEFICIT ACCOUNT
Date | ItemD | [ Balance
2024 | Gross Statutory Allocati I [ 150,537,499,684.71 |
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Date |_item Descripti DR CR Balance
2024 | Net Surplus or Deficit Account 159,537,499,684.71
2024 | Liquid Asset 146,432,816,938.64
Short and Long-Term Debt -13,104,682,746.07
Bank balance 146,432,816,938.64

We remain committed to ensuring accuracy, fairness, and compliance with national standards in
our assessment and look forward to receiving the requested documents to support our ongoing
review.

Please accept the assurances of our highest regard.
Sincerely,
Country Chief Executive

Fiscal Responsibility Advocacy Network (FRAN)
Dated: 03/10/2025
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